Assessing the *N*-Nitrosamine Formation Potential of Selected Ionic Liquids, 1-Ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Bromide and 1-Ethyl-1-Methylpyrrolidinium Bromide, Treated With the Drinking Water Disinfectant Monochloramine

by

Ian Vander Meulen

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Analytical and Environmental Toxicology

Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology

University of Alberta

© Ian Vander Meulen, 2018

Abstract

Ionic liquids (ILs) are increasingly used in industrial processes as "green chemicals" because of unique properties of low volatility and customizability. ILs can be used to enable novel processes and/or replace conventional organic solvents in a wide variety of applications. Widespread use may increase the risk of accidental release of IL-containing industrial wastes into environmental waters. Most ILs are highly water soluble, and have estimated environmental half-lives of several days to a month. IL cations often consist of aromatic or alkyl quaternary amines that resemble previously confirmed N-nitrosamine (NAs) precursors. NAs are confirmed animal carcinogens and classified as probable human carcinogens. NAs are also potent, estimated to have negative health effects at ng/L concentrations. Therefore, this study sought to evaluate two representative ILs, 1-ethyl-1methylpyrroldinium bromide (EMPyrBr) and 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr), for their nitrosamine formation potential. Each IL species was reacted with preformed monochloramine under varied reaction conditions. After 24h, samples were extracted from water by liquid-liquid extraction using dichloromethane. The extracts were analyzed to determine the produced nitrosamines using HPLC-MS/MS with multiple reaction monitoring mode. Quantification of NAs was achieved using a deuterated surrogate standard, and deuterated internal standard. Both EMImBr and EMPyrBr produced NAs during reactions with monochloramine: EMImBr acted as a precursor to Nnitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), and EMPyrBr acted as a precursor to NMEA and Nnitrosopyrrolidine. EMPyrBr was a more productive precursor under all conditions evaluated, with a yield on the same order of magnitude as polydially dimethylammonium

ii

chloride, a confirmed *N*-nitrosodimethylamine precursor. This study emphasizes the importance of prevention of environmental discharge of ILs to water bodies, but also highlights a need for further evaluation of potential lifecycle impacts of ILs prior to their wide ranging applications.

Attempts were made to quantify EMImBr by LC-UV before and after treatment with NH₂Cl to measure degradation during reactions. Results of LC-UV were indicative of alternate product formation. This initial study suggests future studies on identification of major product(s) of this reaction and to elucidate reaction mechanism(s).

These results suggest that disposal of ILs should be carefully considered so as to prevent contamination of drinking water sources. IL-based drinking water treatment technologies should also attempt to minimize IL contamination of finished drinking water.

Preface

This is an original work by Ian Vander Meulen. No part of this thesis has been previously

published

Acknowledgements

I have many people to thank for their provided me with encouragement, and opportunities to learn and grow through the course of my MSc program.

First of all, thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Xing-Fang Li, for giving me the opportunity to study in her research group. You have provided me with such fantastic opportunities, and challenged me to be better in all of my work. Thank you for challenging me, supporting me, and encouraging me to explore all opportunities that are open to me.

Thank you to Dr. Steve Hrudey for co-supervising my research, for giving insightful feedback. I would also like to thank Dr. Hongquan Zhang for providing feedback as a member of my supervisory committee, and for being such an enjoyable instructor during my coursework. I would also like to thank Dr. Chris Le and Dr. Jonathan Martin for their instruction. Thank you all for teaching me how about strategies to approach problems related to environmental chemistry, and how to make use of analytical chemistry to solve them.

Thank you to Katerina Carastathis and Cheryl Titus for their help with all things administrative. I would particularly like to thank Katerina for being an administrative angel, and always having (most of) the answers to my questions.

I would also like to particularly thank some of the researchers from the Li group. Thank you to Dr. Yanming Liu and Dr. Guang Huang for frequently helping me to troubleshoot instruments in the lab. I want to particularly thank Dr. Guang Huang for his constant cheerful attitude: you have been a ray of sunshine in the lab. Thank you to Dr. Birget Moe for being a helper to me, and to everyone in the group. Thank you to Lindsay Blackstock for bringing vibrant energy and ambition to work every day, and sharing it with everyone around you. Finally, I am indebted to Dr. Ping Jiang for your extensive help; you will go on from here to do great things!

Thank you to the funding agencies that made my program possible. I would like to thank the University of Alberta Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry and the Government of Alberta.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for all of their support and encouragement throughout my program. Through all of my struggles, you have been a stalwart source of love and provision. I would never have done this without you.

Table of Contents

1 Potential impacts of ionic liquids on drinking water as nitrosamines	precursors to <i>N</i> -1
1.1 Safa driveling success	1
1.1 Sale drinking water 1.1.1 Disinfection by-products	
1.2 N nitrocominoc	
1.2 <i>N</i> -mu osammes	
1.2.2 Sources of <i>N</i> -nitrosamine exposure	
1.2.3 <i>N</i> -nitrosamines in drinking water	
1.2.4 Guidelines and regulations to limit <i>N</i> -nitrosamine expo	sure in drinking water9
1.2.5 Factors affecting <i>N</i> -nitrosamine formation during wate	r treatment10
1.3 Ionic liquids	
1.3.1 Uses of Ionic Liquids	15
1.5.2 Environmental impacts of forme riquids	
1.4 Synthesis, hypothesis, and scope of thesis	
1.5 References	
2 N-nitrosamine formation from chloramination of two	common ionic liquids 41
2 A Introduction	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.2.1 Materials	
2.2.3 Formation of NAs from the reactions of ionic liquids wi	th monochloramine 45
2.2.4 Effect of IL and NH ₂ Cl concentrations on formation of N	As
2.2.5 Liquid-liquid extraction and LC-MS/MS quantification of	of NAs46
2.3 Results and Discussion	
2.3.1 HPLC-MS/MS analysis for formation of NAs from ionic	iquids48
2.3.2 NA yield across varied ILs concentration at constant me	plar ratio of ILs to NH_2Cl51
2.3.3 Formation of NAs as a function of the molar ratio of ILs	:NH ₂ Cl52
2.4 Conclusions	
2.5 References	
3 Evaluating the persistence of 1-ethyl-3-methlyimidazo	lum bromide during
chloramination	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Methods and Materials	
3.2.1 Detection and quantification of 1-ethyl-3-methlyimidaz	olium bromide by LC-UV66
3.2.2 NH ₂ Cl – ionic liquid reaction sample preparation	
3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.3.1 Initial assessment of EMImBr degradation under chlora	amine reaction conditions69
3.3.2 Second assessment of EMImBr breakdown under chlor	amine reaction conditions71

3.4	Conclusions
3.5	References
4 Co	nclusions and Future directions70
4.1	Introduction
4.2 4. 4. N	Advancements in knowledge
4.3	Conclusions
4.4 4. bo 4. 4. 4.	Future directions 80 4.1 Evaluation of varied reaction conditions on yields of NMEA in NH ₂ Cl FP reactions from oth ILs 4.2 Non-targeted analysis of disinfection by-products from imidazolium moieties 4.3 Non-targeted analysis of disinfection by-products of pyrrolidinium moieties 4.4 Non-targeted analysis of products from the chlorination of EMPyr 4.5 Evaluation of <i>N</i> -nitrosamine formation potential of ionic liquids after UV pre-oxidation 83
4.5	References
Appen	ndix
App chlo A.	endix A: Optimizing reaction conditions to detect N-nitrosamines generated by the ramination of selected ionic liquids
Арр В. В.	endix B: Liquid-liquid extraction and LC-MS/MS quantification of NAs1Experimental2Results and Discussion8
Арр С. С.	endix C: Pre-oxidation of ILs by free chlorine and subsequent reaction with NH2Cl 91Experimental
Арр	endix references
Biblio	graphy9'

List of Tables

Table 1.1	A selection of NAs commonly detected in drinking water.	7
Table 2.1	Properties of the two selected ionic liquids	44
Table 2.2	Optimized MRM mode detection parameters for the detection and quantification of <i>N</i> -nitrosamines	48
Table 3.1	Reaction components and respective volumes used in the first set of reactions prepared for quantification of EMImBr post chloramine treatment	68
Table 3.2	Reaction components and respective volumes used in the second set of reactions prepared for quantification of EMImBr post chloramine treatment.	69

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Structures of some <i>N</i> -nitrosamines commonly detected in drinking water	9
Figure 1.2	Example ionic liquid constituent cations and anions	14
Figure 2.1	Extracted multiple-reaction monitoring chromatograms of (a) both IL species with/without NH ₂ Cl treatment compared to an <i>N</i> - nitrosomethylethylamine standard, and (b) EMPyr with/without NH ₂ Cl treatment compared to an <i>N</i> -nitrosopyrrolidine standard	50
Figure 2.2	NMEA and NPyr yields from the reaction of NH2Cl with (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr at a constant 2:1 ratio of [IL]:[NH2Cl].	52
Figure 2.4	A proposed mechanism for the generation of NMEA from the chloramination of an EMPyr cation	54
Figure 2.4	NMEA and NPyr yields from 250 μ M of (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr with increasing dose of chloramine at μ M concentrations.	55
Figure 3.1	The calibration curve collected immediately prior to the assessment of the first EMImBr–monochloramine reaction sample set.	70
Figure 3.2	Results of the quantification of EMImBr by LC-UV after initial treatments with monochloramine.	71
Figure 3.3	The calibration curve collected immediately prior to quantification of the second EMImBr–monochloramine reaction sample set.	72
Figure 3.4	Apparent differences in concentrations of EMImBr observed in the reaction between monochloramine and EMImBr at low concentrations from $t = 0$ to $t = 24$ hours.	73
Figure A1	Concentrations of NMEA and NPyr from the reaction of varied doses of NH2Cl with 5 mM of both (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr.	88
Figure B1	Relative rates of recovery from liquid-liquid extraction (a) comparing the percent recovery of NMEA to the percent recovery of NMEA-D ₃ , and (b) comparing the percent recovery of NPyr to the percent recovery of NMEA-D ₃ .	91

Figure C1Free chlorine demand of both (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr
under consistent reaction conditions.

List of symbols, terminology, and abbreviations

$(mg/kg/d)^{-1}$	Oral dose cancer slope factor (estimated increase in population		
	lifetime rates of cancer, per dose of agent [milligram per kilogram		
	per day])		
µg/kg	Microgram per kilogram		
µg/L	Microgram per litre		
μΜ	Micromolar		
mM	Millimolar		
BASIL	Biphasic acid scavenging using ionic liquids		
BMImCl	1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride		
DBP(s)	Disinfection by-product(s)		
DOM	Dissolved organic matter		
DWTP	Drinking water treatment plant		
EC50	Median (50%) Effective concentration		
EMImBr	1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide		
EMPyrBr	1-ethyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bromide		
FP	Formation potential		
HAAs	Haloacetic acids		
IL(s)	Ionic liquid(s)		
LC	Liquid chromatography		
LC50	Median (50%) Lethal concentration		
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography tandem-mass spectrometry		
LC-UV	Liquid chromatography with UV detector		

LD ₅₀	Median (50%) Lethal dose
MAC	Maximum acceptable concentration
mg	Milligram
mg/kg	Milligram per kilogram
mg/kg/d	Milligram per kilogram per day
mM	Millimolar
NH2Cl	Monochloramine
NHCl2	Dichloramine
MRM	Multiple reaction monitoring mode
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NA(s)	N-nitrosamine(s)
NDMA	N-nitrosodimethylamine
NDMA-D ₆	Deuterated N-nitrosodimethylamine
NDEA	N-nitrosodiethylamine
NDPhA	N-nitrosodiphenylamine
ng	Nanogram
NMEA	N-nitrosomethylethylamine
NMEA-D ₃	Deuterated N-nitrosomethylethylamine
NMor	N-nitrosomorpholine
NPip	N-nitrosopiperidine
ng/L	Nanogram per litre
NMEA	N-nitrosomethylethylamine
PAHs	Polyaromatic hydrocarbons

PHG	Public health goal
polyDADMAC	Polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride
TD ₅₀	Median lifetime tumour-inducing dose
THMs	Trihalomethanes
TSNA(s)	Tobacco-specific nitrosamine(s)
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WHO	World Health Organization

1 Potential impacts of ionic liquids on drinking water as precursors to *N*-nitrosamines

1.1 Safe drinking water

There are few resources as absolutely necessary as clean drinking water. In 2010, the United Nations General Assembly affirmed this need by ratifying a document that describes and defines the importance of drinking water for all people. ¹ The General Assembly's exact phrasing was that "[the General Assembly] recognizes the right to safe and clean drinking water and sanitation as a human right that is essential for the full enjoyment of life and all human rights."¹ This strong language clearly frames the need for water as a necessity for all people and societies. In this statement, there is a strong implied imperative for societies and/or governments to provide access to clean and safe drinking water. It can be difficult to provide populations with access to "safe and clean drinking water," but this is an absolutely necessary task. Without treatment, freshwater can and will act as a medium of disease transmission.

The risks associated with consumption of unsafe water have been historically significant. Waterborne disease transmission was recognized as early as 1854, when the source of a cholera outbreak was attributed to sewage-contaminated drinking water.² Although diseases like cholera, typhoid, and dysentery are no longer common in developed societies, modern drinking water disinfection systems are critically important to preventing the spread of these same waterborne diseases.

Waterborne pathogens are dangerous, and waterborne disease outbreaks continue to happen, even in developed nations.³ An example of modern treatment system failure occurred in the town of Walkerton, Ontario, Canada in 2000.⁴ Because of incomplete

chlorination of raw water after heavy rain, a population of ~4800 were exposed to *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and *Campylobacter jejuni* through their drinking water. Around 2300 people fell ill from this exposure, of which 65 were hospitalized, 27 experienced life-threatening symptoms, and 7 people died.⁴ Therefore it is important to prevent complacency and maintain vigilance in order to prevent future outbreaks, even in industrially developed countries.⁵

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 663 million people still lack access to safe drinking water globally. This lack of access contributes to over 842,000 deaths annually from waterborne diseases.⁶ Therefore it is imperative that disinfection efforts continue and expand to make drinking water safer for all. Drinking water disinfection is now conducted, mostly within municipalities of developed countries, to prevent the spread of waterborne illnesses.⁷ Drinking water disinfection measurably contributes to significantly longer lifespans, preventing unnecessary illnesses and death.^{8,9}

As an unintended consequence of disinfection, disinfectants react with the natural organic matter (NOM) present in source water, generating disinfection by-products (DBPs)¹⁰. While it is important to be aware of the potential public health impacts of DBPs, the public health benefits of disinfection clearly outweigh the risks of consuming disinfected water.^{8,9} Disinfection of drinking water has been recognized as one of the most successful public health measures taken in the last century. Therefore the practice of drinking water disinfection should continue and expand to ensure continued safety of drinking water.

1.1.1 Disinfection by-products

In 1974 it was suggested that chemical contamination of drinking water from the Mississippi river was contributing to adverse health outcomes, as compared to those who drew their water from groundwater.¹¹ This led to a suspicion that people were being exposed to environmental contaminants through their drinking water. On December 16, 1974, the United States House of Representatives passed the "Safe Drinking Water Act," which mandated that the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) monitor for some chemical contaminants in drinking water.¹² This was followed by an investigation by the USEPA in 1975, which found that Mississippi drinking water contained some trace organic compounds that were suspected carcinogens.¹³

Around the same time in 1974, a Dutch chemist named Johannes Rook demonstrated that water disinfected with chlorine contained trihalomethanes (THMs), whereas raw water did not.¹⁴ Rook proved that these THMs were generated by the combination of chlorine with dissolved organic matter, implicating disinfection as a novel source of THMs in drinking water.¹⁴ Researchers at the USEPA replicated these results shortly after, strengthening this conclusion.¹⁵ This was a landmark discovery, inspiring an entire field of research encompassing the characterization, generation, detection, and assessment of public health relevance of disinfection by-products (DBPs).^{7,16}

Disinfection of water is absolutely necessary for the prevention of waterborne diseases. However it is also important to minimize risks associated with the consumption of DBPs. Assessments of the risks associated with consumption of DBPs and/or disinfected water have since been carried out, but it remains unclear to what degree the consumption of water containing DBPs does/does not contribute to an elevated lifetime risk of bladder

and/or other cancer(s). Epidemiological studies have assessed the association between DBP exposure and bladder cancer risk, and have found a potential association between the consumption of chlorinated water and increased risk of developing bladder cancer.^{17,18} This is also the case in case-control studies attempting to correlate lifetime bladder cancer risk with exposure to well-known regulated DBP species such as chloroform, trihalomethanes (THMs), and haloacetic acids (HAAs).^{19,20} These common DBP classes are now thought to be insufficiently potent to be the cause of significant deleterious public health effects.^{19,20} However some DBPs have demonstrated greater toxicity and/or mutagenicity than classic chlorinated DBPs like THMs and HAAs, and so may be more public health relevant.²¹

1.2 *N*-nitrosamines

Under some circumstances *N*-nitrosamines (NAs) can be formed during disinfection of drinking water, particularly during chloramination. NAs are a class of DBPs that are relevant to public health.²² NAs are notably carcinogenic,^{23,24} and so it is important to minimize/eliminate nitrosamine formation during drinking water disinfection.

Since the 1900s, NAs have been noted for their tendency to cause adverse effects. This was highlighted in 1954, when *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) was introduced as a new solvent for use in a laboratory.²⁵ Soon after the introduction of NDMA as a solvent, researchers making regular use of NDMA thereby experienced a high level of exposure, and began to experience severe adverse effects. After 10 months of NDMA use in the laboratory, one lab member passed away from pneumonia. This individual's autopsy revealed significant amounts of damage to the liver tissue.²⁵ Two cases of liver cirrhosis followed in

fellow researchers as they continued to make use of NDMA in their procedures.²⁵ Ceasing NDMA use/exposure allowed liver function to return to normal in these individuals, implicating NDMA as a common agent likely to be causing liver damage.²⁵ Therefore it is sensible to prevent large acute doses of NAs.

1.2.1 Toxicity of *N*-nitrosamines

NAs can also cause adverse effects at lower concentrations, as has been demonstrated in *in vivo* studies. NA toxicity studies have been conducted with *in vivo* animal models. NDMA toxicity has been evaluated in rats,^{25,26} minks,²⁷ mice, rabbits, guinea pigs, and dogs²⁵ to confirm and quantify NA toxicity. Animal toxicity studies have consistently highlighted acute and sub-acute toxic effects to the livers of these animals.²⁵⁻²⁸ Carcinogenesis is observed as the primary adverse health outcome of NDMA exposure across all mammalian animal models tested, primarily in the liver.²⁴ NDMA requires metabolic activation in the liver to cause toxic effects, ²⁹⁻³¹ which may intuitively help explain why the liver is a common target organ in *in vivo* studies. However the liver is not the only organ adversely affected by NDMA. NDMA toxicity studies have also noted the induction of lung, kidney, testicular, and vascular cancers in male rats, and observations of liver and vascular cancers in female rats, as well as lung, and cancers of the nervous system in mice.³² The mean reported values for 50% lifetime tumour induction (TD₅₀) in mice (106 week lifetime) from NDMA exposure for rats and mice are 95.9 μ g/kg/day and 189 μ g/kg/day respectively.³²

There is a strong consensus that NAs, and NDMA in particular, are carcinogenic. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) classifies NDMA as a "B2

(probable human) carcinogen based on the induction of tumors at multiple sites in different mammal species exposed to NDMA by various routes.³³ The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) states that NDMA is reasonably anticipated to be a human carcinogen (NTP 2014).³⁴ The American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH) has classified NDMA as a Group A3 confirmed animal carcinogen with unknown relevance to humans (HSDB 2013)."³⁵

Although NDMA is typically the most discussed/publicized NA, structurally similar NAs are estimated to be similarly toxic. These structurally similar NAs are estimated to be nearly as carcinogenic as NDMA, as the EPA's estimates of their oral cancer slope factors are on the same order of magnitude.³⁶ Estimates of oral dose cancer slope factors, as well as target organs observed from toxicity evaluations of each compound are listed in **Table 1.1**. The larger the slope factor, the more potent the estimated carcinogenicity.

Although NAs with larger alkyl substituents tend to be less toxic than less bulky NAs,²⁸ NAs with bulkier side-chain functional groups may still be health relevant. For example, *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA) has bulky substituent side-chains, and was previously understood to be one of the least toxic nitrosamines.⁴⁷ NDPhA is remarkably less carcinogenic than other NA species (as per the oral dose cancer slope factor in **Table 1.1**),³⁶ but results from *in vitro* studies have suggested that NDPhA may be more cytotoxic than other NAs. NDPhA was shown cause consistent cytotoxicity across a variety of cell lines, despite being much less mutagenic than other NAs.⁴⁸ **Table 1.1** – A selection of NAs commonly detected in drinking water. NA species are listed with associated carcinogenicity slope factors values as estimated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency. ³⁶ The higher the slope factor, the more carcinogenic the toxicant. Target organs listed correspond to sites of carcinogenic toxicity endpoints observed during *in vivo* mammal toxicity studies.

Nitrosamine	Abbreviation	Oral dose cancer slope factor ³⁶ ([mg/kg/d] ⁻¹)	Target organ(s)
N-nitrosodimethylamine	NDMA	51	Liver, bile duct, nasal mucosa ^{25,27,37}
N -nitrosodiethylamine	NDEA	150	Liver, esophagus ^{37,38}
N-nitrosomethylethylamine	NMEA	22	Liver, bile duct, nasal mucosa ³⁹
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	NPyr	2.1	Liver, lung, nasal mucosa ⁴⁰
N-nitrosomorpholine	NMor	Not available	Liver, lung ^{41,42}
N-nitrosopiperidine	NPip	Not available	Liver, larynx, trachea ^{37,43}
N-nitrosodipropylamine	NDPA	7	Liver, esophagus, stomach ⁴⁴
N-nitrosodibutylamine	NDBA	Not available	Liver, stomach, bladder ⁴⁵
N-nitrosodiphenylamine	NDPhA	0.0049	Bladder ⁴⁶

1.2.2 Sources of *N*-nitrosamine exposure

NAs can be detected in a variety of products, including processed and/or cured meats⁴⁹, liquor,⁵⁰ tobacco,^{50,51} and drinking water.⁵²⁻⁵⁵ The presence of NAs in foodstuffs are largely attributable to nitrosation reactions that occur during the processing, curing, and/or cooking of preserved foods⁵⁰. Nitrosation is responsible for generating NAs during the curing, smoking, and/or cooking of meats such as sausages and deli meats.^{49,56} NDMA content in sausages can be as high as 2 µg/kg after cooking, while total NAs can be as high

as 200 µg/kg.⁴⁹ To prevent the generation of NAs in preserved foods, the FDA now limits the use of nitrates and nitrites.⁵⁷ Manufacturers must submit applications to be allowed to use nitrates and nitrites in new products, and these applications must be accompanied by sufficient data to demonstrate that the use of these preservatives does not promote the generation of NAs.⁵⁷ However, this does not necessarily prevent NA exposure, as NAs may still be generated endogenously after consuming nitrite-containing foods by acid-catalyzed nitrosation in the gastrointestinal tract.⁵⁸

Individuals may also be exposed NAs through consumption of alcoholic beverages.⁵⁰ Beer has been found to contain 0 – 7.1 μ g/kg (0 - 7.2 μ g/L) of NDMA, depending on the brand and batch.⁵⁹ In whiskeys, NDMA content is typically 0.1 ± 0.09 μ g/kg (~ 0.09 ± 0.08 μ g/L).⁵⁹

NAs are also detectable in tobacco smoke, with a few varieties that are tobaccospecific nitrosamines (TSNAs).⁵¹ TSNAs have also been detected as drinking water contaminants.⁵⁵

1.2.3 *N*-nitrosamines in drinking water

NAs are also detectable in some drinking water sources.^{55,60,61} NDMA was first detected in drinking water in 1989 on the Ohsweken First Nations reserve in Ontario.⁵² This finding constituted a new source of exposure to these previously identified toxic agents. Other extensive surveys have since followed, demonstrating that nitrosamines are a widely occurring class of disinfection by-products (DBPs) in drinking water.^{54,55,60,62} Total NA concentrations in municipal drinking water systems are range from concentrations below detection limits, up to 100 ng/L.^{54,55,60,62}



Figure 1.1 – Structures of a few *N*-nitrosamines commonly detected in drinking water

NA exposure through drinking water is relatively minor when compared to other sources of exposure. Endogenous acid-catalyzed nitrosation of nitrite-containing foods is estimated to contribute far more to lifetime NA exposures than drinking water.^{58,63} Drinking water is estimated to contribute between 0.0002 - 0.001% of total lifetime exposure to NDMA.⁶³ Although this constitutes relatively minor NA exposure, some jurisdictions have nonetheless implemented standards (Ontario),⁶⁴ and guidelines (Canada, California, Massachusetts, and Australia)⁶⁵⁻⁶⁸ to limit NDMA to ng/L concentrations in finished drinking water to minimize risk of adverse health outcomes.

1.2.4 Guidelines and regulations to limit *N*-nitrosamine exposure in drinking water

Because NAs are widely detected, and are relevant to public health, some jurisdictions have guidelines or regulations limiting NDMA concentrations in drinking water. Guidelines for a maximum acceptable concentration (MAC) of NDMA exist in Canada (40 ng/L NDMA),⁶⁵ Ontario (9 ng/L NDMA),⁶⁴ Australia,⁶⁸ Massachusetts,⁶⁷ and California.⁶⁶ California has implemented warnings levels for NDMA, NDEA, and *N*-nitrosodipropylamine (NDPA), where notification levels of each are 10 ng/L, and the response levels are 300 ng/L, 100 ng/L, and 500 ng/L in drinking water respectively. At the notification level, water suppliers are notified, and recommendations are made to decrease contaminant levels; at the response level, the state authority recommends the drinking water source be removed from service. Both Australia and Massachusetts set guidelines for NDMA to an MAC of 100 ng/L.^{67,68} While there are no federal regulations limiting NDMA concentrations in the United States, from 2007 - 2010 the USEPA required public utility providers to report NDMA, N-nitrosodiethylamine, N-nitrosomethylethylamine, Nnitrosodipropylamine, N-nitrosodibutylamine, and N-nitrosopyrrolidine for monitoring purposes, with minimum reporting concentrations of 2 ng/L, 5 ng/L, 2 ng/L, 7 ng/L, 4 ng/L, and 2 ng/L respectively under the second unregulated contaminant monitoring rule program in order to establish a database from which it might be possible to justify regulations for NA concentrations.⁶⁹ However, no regulations resulted from the Second Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule Program, as national NA concentrations were insufficient to justify national regulation under the Safe Drinking Water Act.⁷⁰

1.2.5 Factors affecting *N*-nitrosamine formation during water treatment

Total NA concentrations depend heavily on a number of factors.⁷¹ One such factor is the choice of drinking water disinfectant. Many drinking water providers, including municipal utilities, have moved from traditional chlorine disinfection to alternative disinfectant systems, such as ozone or chloramine. This switch is often driven by the need to comply with legislated maximum concentrations of other DBPs particularly THMs and

HAAs.^{72,73} One alternative approach is to use ozone, although ozonation can also generate nitrosamines.^{74,75}. Chloramines may in some cases be an advantageous choice as an alternative disinfectant because chloramines are also effective for residual (secondary) disinfection, maintaining the safety of drinking water in distribution systems with long residence times.^{73,76} However, the use of chloramines in municipal disinfection systems has a strong association with elevated concentrations of NAs in finished water.^{23,62,77,78} Distribution systems that make use of chloramine as a residual disinfectant may also generate higher NA concentrations over time due to the accumulation of biofilm within the system, and biofilms in turn contribute DOM that may act as precursors to NAs.⁷⁹

Source water affected by wastewater effluent generally has higher NA formation potential (FP).^{78,80} NA FP is strongly associated with anthropogenic compounds such as over-the-counter pharmaceuticals.^{78,81} This indicates a general need to prevent the release of anthropogenic compounds to the environment wherever possible.

1.2.5.1 Common structural features of identified N-nitrosamine precursors

Drinking water providers must be continually aware of and seek to control for the many of the factors affecting NA concentrations in drinking water. NA precursors vary by location, season, and according to sources of anthropogenic waste outputs. Some specific precursors have been demonstrated to promote the generation of NAs in drinking water. Although this section cannot be comprehensive, here general groups of compounds that may contribute to elevated total NA concentrations of finished drinking water are discussed.

Polymers such as polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (polyDADMAC) or polyamine are often used to remove organics in source water during drinking water treatment to reduce DBP formation. However these polymers have been implicated to increase concentrations of NAs in finished water to varying degrees.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ PolyDADMAC may act as an NA precursor by two possible routes. PolyDADMAC polymers can degrade to form 3° amines that further react to form NAs,⁸⁵ but polyDADMAC also contains some 3° amine impurities that contribute to NA formation potential.⁸⁵ Polyamine polymers act more directly as precursors, as they contain 3° amine moieties by design.⁸⁵

Other precursors found in source water are present as the result of anthropogenic impact, as they include compounds such as ranitidine (an over-the-counter heartburn medication), ⁸⁶ caffeine, and other pharmaceutically active compounds such as methadone,⁸⁷ primidone, and carbamezipine⁸⁸. General classes of NA precursors can be categorized into 2° amines,⁸⁹⁻⁹¹ 3° amines,^{85,86,92,93} and 4° amines.⁸³⁻⁸⁵

As the structural components of NA precursors are relatively common, drinking water providers must continually seek to be aware of and control for precursors affecting NA formation wherever possible. Novel precursors to NAs should be identified and managed effectively to prevent their release in environmental water bodies used for drinking water to thereby minimize NA formation.⁹² Ionic liquids are one such class of compounds that resemble previously identified NA precursors and which represent an emerging class of industrial chemicals. These compounds are anticipated to become environmental water contaminants, and so warrant further study.

1.3 Ionic liquids

A recent theme in "green chemistry" research is an interest in ionic liquids (ILs) for use in commercial and industrial applications.⁹⁴ Although ILs were first described in 1914,⁹⁵ research on potential uses for ILs did not begin until 1992.⁹⁶ Since then, it has become clear that ILs are likely useful in a variety of applications, as some may be used as reaction solvents, catalysts, and/or electrolytes across a variety of industries and processes.^{94,96} ILs are low melting temperature (<100 °C) organic salts⁹⁷, composed of a bulky organic cation and a bulky organic/inorganic anion.⁹⁸

ILs generally have a reputation as "green chemicals," because they are regarded as benign when compared to conventional organic solvents.⁹⁹ This is due in large part to their general lack of volatility,^{100,101} and their relative thermal stability,⁹⁴ as these are major advantages over conventional organic solvents. These properties lead to secondary benefits, including safer working conditions from lack of airborne exposure, lower flammability^{102,103}, and lesser atmospheric impact.^{104,105}

ILs may also be referred to as "designer solvents," because it is possible to design ILs with custom ILs.⁹⁴ When designing an IL for use in a particular process, one can choose an ideal anion-cation pairing for a particular application. A few example blueprint cations and anions are displayed in **Figure 1.2**. There is a wide range of possible "blueprint" cation moieties on which to base an IL beyond what is listed in **Figure 1.2**. The choice of blueprint moieties is based on factors including the melting point, whether cations/anions are aromatic or aliphatic, or the inclusion of H-bond donors and/or acceptors. To tailor ILs to the specific needs of a particular process, it is possible to add specific functional groups to the cation/anion moieties to modify their physical properties by the addition of functional

groups^{106,107}. Custom functionalization reactions usually only require the addition of a requisite alkyl-halide to a blueprint molecule.¹⁰⁸ This allows for versatile customization by many possible functional groups, which effectively tunes physicochemical parameters including viscosity, miscibility, melting point, conductivity, and intermolecular interactions.^{97,109,110} An example of this is apparent in the comparison of 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium cation moieties, where the latter is capable of much greater non-polar interactions than the former. It has been estimated that there are up to 10¹⁴ possible combinations of cation and anion,⁹⁷ providing ample possibilities for solvent system customization. These advantages have encouraged the development of uses for ionic liquids in a variety of applications and processes.



Figure 1.2 – Example ionic liquid constituent cations (left) and anions (right). All "R" groups denote specific points available for functionalization for process optimization.

1.3.1 Uses of Ionic Liquids

Research into uses for ILs has expanded dramatically over the last two decades. In the year 2000, a few hundred publications on uses of ILs were published, whereas in 2015 over 5000 papers on uses of ILs were published.¹¹¹ Comprehensive summaries of uses for ILs have been explored elsewhere,^{94,106} so this section serves only to highlight a few major categories of potential and current uses of ILs.

The largest-scale current application of ionic liquids is a technique referred to as biphasic acid scavenging utilising ionic liquids (BASIL), which was developed by BASF.¹¹⁷ During synthesis processes, it is common for acids to be precipitated as by-products of reactions. This can be an obstacle for ensuring product stability and purity, as acids (such as HCl) can react further generating unwanted by-products, or act as impurities in the final sample; therefore, it is imperative to remove the acid by-products^{117,118}. In the BASIL process, this is done by the addition of N-methylimidazole to the reaction mixture, which protonates to N-methylimidazolium and can coordinate with the conjugate base of the acid^{117,118}. IL phases formed after acid-scavenging are then separated by mechanical methods, such as decanting or draining^{117,118}. Once separated, the methylimidazole can be regenerated by the addition of a strong base, such as sodium hydroxide, allowing for the recycling of imidazole.

Some applications where ILs have shown promise or have been established for use include the use of ILs as process solvents,^{99,113,118-122} as tools for analytical techniques,^{114-^{116,123-127} as solvents for biopolymer dissolution,^{94,128-135} as carbon capture solvents,¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ for desalination,¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴⁴ waste water treatment,¹⁴⁵ for removal of heavy metal ions from water,¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ and as injection solvents in drilling and pumping for hydrocarbon}

extraction.^{149,150} Research is also ongoing to investigate the use of IL-water mixtures for analytical separations, as mixing an IL with water greatly modifies the system's properties.¹¹³ This may lead to water content as another important parameter for tuning an IL phase.¹¹³

Current small-scale uses of ILs include analytical applications, such as novel separation and sample extraction techniques.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁶ One such example makes use of ILs as separation agents in a biphasic extraction system.¹¹² By adding strongly ionic salts to aqueous systems, ILs can be forcibly separated out of solution as a separated liquid phase, allowing for unique polar-ionic liquid-liquid extraction techniques.¹¹² 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (BMImCl) has been demonstrated as an effective extraction solvent, but ILs with longer alkyl chain functionalization are more capable of forming aqueous biphasic systems.¹¹²

Another technique under development is to add ILs to aqueous mobile phases during liquid chromatography. Adding ILs to aqueous phases can modify the separation process, as it allows the user to add intermolecular interactions in a unique mode of solvent gradient elution, depending on the IL selected.¹¹⁴ By doing so, it is possible to induce the formation of a secondary ionic layer adsorbed to a non-polar stationary phase, changing elution conditions.¹¹⁴ In addition, one may make use of aqueous ILs for enhanced separation by spiking ILs to a critical micelle concentration, enhancing liquid chromatographic separations by encasing analytes within IL micelles.¹¹⁵

ILs are anticipated to be used on a large scale for biopolymer dissolution. As economic and social pressures build to move away from petroleum products to satisfy consumer needs, demand for some alternately sourced polymer products could be fulfilled

by the use of abundant biopolymers such as chitin or cellulose. The ability of ILs to act as solvents for stable polymers is thought to be due to their ability to interfere with some intermolecular interactions such as hydrogen bonding and dipole forces.^{98,128,151} There has been abundant research detailing how ILs can be and have been applied to the dissolution of chitin, ^{98,129,130,135} keratin, ⁹⁸ and cellulose.^{98,128,131,132,152}

The economics of chitin extraction and reconstitution by ILs is currently being tested; a large-scale chitin extraction plant is currently running in the United States.¹⁵³ Chitin is an abundant biopolymer that can be sourced from shellfish, insects, and fungi,⁹⁸ As a longchain polymer of N-acetylglucosamine, chitin is soluble in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate, which has significant advantages over previous dilute-acid based chitin solvation systems.^{134,154} Typically, mixtures capable of dissolving chitin also require complex organic and/or strongly acidic compounds, leading to concerns over worker safety and product purity, as harsh reactants can affect the integrity of the final products. ¹⁵⁴ Chitin dissolved in this process could be reclaimed from the IL-chitin mixture by rinsing formed gel intermediates in water or methanol.¹⁵⁴ Chitin biopolymers are anticipated to be useful as textiles to be subsequently used to weave garments,¹³³ used in wound care dressings,¹⁵⁴ or used to synthesize biodegradable micro-beads for cosmetics and personal care products.¹⁵⁵ One limitation is that chitin regenerated from dissolution by ILs may in some cases have unpredictable properties, though work is ongoing to address this challenge.¹³⁵

ILs are also being developed for use in water treatment processes including desalination,¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴⁴ wastewater treatment,¹⁴⁵ and removal of heavy metal content.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ The need for fresh drinking water continues to grow, and desalination may help to supply for this need.⁷ Forward-osmosis (FO) techniques are being developed as novel approaches to

desalination^{156,157} and water treatment,^{145-148,156,157} because distillation and reverseosmosis (RO) based desalination techniques require large amounts of energy.⁷ FO operates on principles of forward osmotic pressure; rather than pumping to overcome a high osmotic pressure differential (as is done in RO), FO works by circulating contaminated water on one side of a membrane and circulating a concentrated draw solution along the other side, generating an osmotic pressure gradient from the dilute solution of water to the draw solvent. ^{156,157} It is necessary to subsequently separate fresh water from the dilute drawing agent, which may be achieved by techniques such as reverse osmosis, membrane distillation, or nanofiltration. ^{156,157}

Some FO schemes make use of ILs as draw solvents.^{140,141,158} In IL-based upper critical solution temperature (UCST) FO systems, ILs may allow for separation based on melting point.¹⁴⁰ In a UCST FO system, draw solvent is heated to 60-70°C, then collected and allowed to return to ambient temperature, precipitating the ILs as the solution chills. However, in IL-based forward osmosis draw solvent desalination techniques, ILs can be detected in the finished freshwater product.^{140,143} Therefore IL-based FO water treatments may need to be paired with techniques such as RO, nanofiltration, or membrane distillation.^{156,157} However, these techniques may only partially remove ILs from water.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶² If desalination systems built on an IL-based forward-osmosis draw-forward technique are implemented, they may unintentionally add ILs directly to the dissolved organic content of a drinking water supply immediately prior to disinfection. This would be a distinctly negative outcome.

Given the breadth of the current and/or potential applications of ILs, there is potential for ILs to be released to the environment and/or to impact drinking water. Given

that potential there is a need to investigate the impacts of ILs may have should they be discharged to the environment and detected in sources of drinking water.

1.3.2 Environmental impacts of ionic liquids

It remains unclear whether ionic liquids are as environmentally benign as their "green" reputation implies. There are compelling reasons to avoid calling ILs completely "green chemicals" despite some clear advantages over conventional organic solvents.¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ One reason that ILs may not be entirely "green" is that IL manufacturing is not environmentally benign. IL synthesis pathways may require numerous reactions,¹⁶⁶ and a need for harsh reagents at various stages of synthesis.¹⁰⁵ Some of these impactful reagents include hazardous materials such as bromoalkanes and toluene, which have been previously established as hazardous materials.^{105,166} Procedures to synthesize ILs also have relatively low yields, further preventing efficient synthesis.¹⁰⁵

ILs are distinctly advantageous over conventional solvents because they are nonvolatile,¹⁰² but ILs are also considerably water-soluble. There is some concern that that ILs may have environmental impacts when released through aqueous waste streams. ^{98,167-169} It is also difficult to remove ILs from water. Classic approaches to water treatment such as reverse osmosis,¹⁵⁹ nanofiltration,^{160,162} membrane distillation¹⁶¹ biological breakdown,^{170-¹⁷² cannot completely remove ILs from water. Complete removal of ILs from water requires energy-intensive, impractical processes such as vacuum distillation and electrolysis.¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵ As a consequence, no efficient system has yet been proposed to completely recover ILs from aqueous waste streams.¹⁷⁶ This combination of expectations has prompted toxicity evaluations in aquatic species,^{110,167,168} evaluations of environmental fate and}

behaviour,^{126,177-183} as well as reviews summarizing the potential ecological impacts of ILs.^{98,105,110,168,184,185}

There are concerns about the toxicity of ILs released to the environment. Toxic effects from IL exposure have been observed in a wide variety of organisms, including *in vitro* evaluations of bacteria,¹⁸⁶ and *in vivo* evaluations wheat and cress,¹⁸⁷ duckweed,¹⁸⁸ algae,^{189,190} mussels, fairy shrimp, brine shrimp, rotifers,¹⁹⁰ zebrafish,¹⁹¹ and frogs.¹⁹² For example, *in vivo* studies of *Rana nigromaculata* (Dark spotted frog) have been conducted to evaluate 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide toxicity.¹⁹² In early tadpole development, the acute median mortality concentration (LC₅₀) of 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide was 85.1 mg/L (79.9 – 90.6).¹⁹² Noted exposure effects included developmental issues such as edema, and lack of spinal strength.¹⁹²

In an *in vivo* evaluation of *Daphnia magnia* (Zebrafish), the LC₅₀ of 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium (BMIm), paired with either bromide, chloride, hexafluorophosophate, or tetrafluoroborate ranged from 8 – 19 mg/L.¹⁹¹ In comparison to sodium salts paired with the same anions, the LC₅₀ of BMIm salts were at least 2 orders of magnitude more toxic, suggesting that toxic effects were more strongly influenced by the IL cation than the anion.¹⁹¹ In all chronic exposure scenarios (ranging from 0 – 3.2 mg L⁻¹), exposure of *D. magnia* to BMIm salts moderately decreased brood size.¹⁹¹

There are some observed structural determinants of IL toxicity. Long alkyl chain,¹⁰⁷ and aromatically functionalized^{107,186} ILs tend to be more toxic, suggesting a relationship between greater hydrophobicity of side-chain functionalization and higher acute IL toxicity. For example, in *Scenedesmus quadricauda*, a freshwater algae species, median effective concentration (EC₅₀) values (using growth inhibition as a toxic endpoint) assessed

for 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium, hexyl-3-methylimidazolium, and octyl-3methylimidazolium exposures corresponded to the length of side-chains, with respective EC₅₀ values of 4.76, 0.078, and 0.005 mg/L, respectively, in fresh water.¹⁸⁹

Although ILs are toxic to freshwater algae, they are much less toxic to oceanic algae, as high salinity effectively lessens IL toxicity.¹⁹³ This suggests that primary impacts of ILs released to the environment will happen to freshwater ecosystems rather than oceanic aquatic ecosystems.

ILs are relatively non-toxic in terrestrial animal models. Lethal endpoints in mice models have been assessed for 3-hexyloxymethyl-1-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate.¹⁶⁷ The median lethal dose (LD₅₀), of 3-hexyloxymethyl-1methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate in mice was near ~1000 mg/kg oral doses,¹⁶⁷ For reference, this dose is a similar order of magnitude to the oral LD₅₀ of sodium chloride in mice, which is ~4000 mg/kg.¹⁹⁴ However, teratogenic effects have also been observed in mice dosed with BMImCl. At doses of 169-225mg/kg/day in mice, litters had significantly lower birth weights. These teratogenic effects had an associated no-observed-adverseeffect-level of 113mg/kg/d.¹⁹⁵ The acute oral median lethal dose (LD₅₀) in rats dosed with BMImCl was ~1400 mg/kg,¹⁶⁷ as compared to mice at ~1000 mg/kg. The relative safety of ILs was further demonstrated by finding dermal exposure causes few effects, even at high concentrations, even when dissolved in water.¹⁶⁷

One of the concerns about potential environmental impacts ILs may have is that they may increase DOM in source water.¹⁷⁷ Because ILs exploit both ionic and non-polar interactions in order to be advantageous over other solvent types, they may act as

surfactants in the environment.¹⁷⁷ ILs in surface water can re-dissolve previously soilbound humic content, increasing DOM.¹⁷⁹

Imidazolium-based ILs are estimated to have aqueous environmental half-lives anywhere from several days to a month¹⁷⁵, to 107±45 days¹⁹⁶ dependent on sunlight and water depth.¹⁷⁵ Aliphatic cations such as pyrrolidinium may be even more persistent, with an estimated environmental half-life of 135 ± 25 days.¹⁹⁶ Therefore, these compounds may be sufficiently persistent to cause downstream impacts.

Despite the amount of work done to evaluate the potential environmental impacts of ILs, a gap remains between the volume of work that exists characterizing the utility of ILs, and work characterizing potential risks of IL release. ¹¹¹ Significant work remains to be done to characterize the potential environmental impacts of ILs may have as environmental water contaminants.

1.4 Synthesis, hypothesis, and scope of thesis

ILs have been predicted as environmental contaminants in water. ^{109,167-169} However, little has been done to assess the impacts of ILs as contaminants in water used as sources for disinfected drinking water. My research therefore aims to address a small part of this gap based on two premises:

> a) Some IL cation moieties also share structural similarities to previously confirmed NA precursors; this similarity apparent between a cation moiety such as pyrrolidinium, and the previously confirmed NDMA precursor polyDADMAC.⁸⁵
b) ILs are anticipated to be persistent environmental water contaminants, if they are released to a fresh water sources.

Therefore

c) It is conceivable that ILs may act as precursors to generate *N*-nitrosamines under disinfection conditions, particularly if chloramine is used for disinfection.

To test this hypothesis, I proposed my thesis research focusing on two objectives:

- a) Examine nitrosamine formation potential when representative ILs react with chloramine under varying conditions. I will use an established liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method capable of simultaneously detecting 14 NAs⁵⁵ to survey, detect, identify, and quantify nitrosamines generated from ILs.
- b) To explore the NA formation mechanisms during chloramination of the selected ILs

Finally, I will evaluate the results and present the conclusions of this research, as well as suggest directions for future research examining the impacts ionic liquids may have on drinking water.

1.5 References

- 1. The United Nations General Assembly Resolution 64/292. The human right to water and sanitation. <u>http://www.un.org/es/comun/docs/?symbol=A/RES/64/292&lang=E</u> (accessed January 17, 2017).
- 2. Koch, T. John Snow, hero of cholera: RIP. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* **2008**, *178*, 1736-1736.
- 3. Yang, K.; Le Jeune, J.; Alsdorf, D.; Lu, B.; Shum, C. K.; Liang, S. Global distribution of outbreaks of water-associated infectious diseases. *PLOS Neglect. Trop. D.* **2012**, *6*, 1-9.
- 4. O'Connor, D. R. *Report of the Walkerton Inquiry Part 1;* Queen's Printer for Ontario: Toronto, Ontario, 2002; pp 506.
- 5. Hrudey, S. E.; Huck, P. M.; Payment, P.; Gillham, R. W.; Hrudey, E. J. Walkerton: Lessons learned in comparison with waterborne outbreaks in the developed world. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2002**, *1*, 397-407.
- 6. World Health Organization Water Sanitation Health: Burden of disease and costeffectiveness estimates. <u>http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/diseases/burden/en/</u> (accessed June 22, 2016).
- 7. Sedlak, D. L. *Water 4.0;* Yale University Press: New Haven, Connecticut, United States of America, 2014; pp 332.
- Havelaar, A.; De Hollander, A.; Teunis, P.; Evers, E.; Van Kranen, H.; Versteegh, J.; Van Koten, J.; Slob, W. Balancing the risks and benefits of drinking water disinfection: disability adjusted life-years on the scale. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2000, 108, 315-321.
- 9. Grellier, J.; Rushton, L.; Briggs, D. J.; Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. Assessing the human health impacts of exposure to disinfection by-products A critical review of concepts and methods. *Environ. Int.* **2015**, *78*, 61-81.
- 10. Hrudey, S. E.; Fawell, J. 40 years on: what do we know about drinking water disinfection by-products (DBPs) and human health? *Water Sci. Technol. Water Supply* **2015**, *15*, 667-674.
- 11. Harris, R.; Page, T. *The implications of cancer-causing substances in the Mississippi River waters;* Environmental Defense Fund: Washington, D.C., 1974; .
- 12. USEPA Summary of the Safe Drinking Water Act. <u>https://www.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-safe-drinking-water-act</u> (accessed January 18, 2017).

- 13. USEPA (Lower Mississippi River Facility, Slidell, Louisiana) *New Orleans area water supply study;* United States Environmental Protection Agency: 1975; , pp 97.
- 14. Rook, J. J. Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters. *Water Treat. and Examinat.* **1974**, *23*, 234-243.
- 15. Bellar, T. A.; Lichtenberg, J. J.; Kroner, R. C. Occurrence of organohalides in chlorinated drinking waters. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1974**, *66*, 703-706.
- 16. Rook, J. J. Haloforms in drinking water. *Journal (American Water Works Association)* **1975**, *68*, 168-172.
- 17. Hrudey, S. E.; Backer, L. C.; Humpage, A. R.; Krasner, S. W.; Michaud, D. S.; Moore, L. E.; Singer, P. C.; Stanford, B. D. Evaluating evidence for association of human bladder cancer with drinking-water chlorination disinfection by-products. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health B Crit. Rev.* **2015**, 1-29.
- Villanueva, C. M.; Cordier, S.; Font-Ribera, L.; Salas, L. A.; Levallois, P. Overview of disinfection by-products and associated health effects. *Current Environmental Health Reports* 2015, *2*, 107-115.
- 19. Bull, R. J.; Krasner, S. W.; Daniel, P. A.; Bull, R. D. *Health effects and occurrence of disinfection by-products;* AWWA Research Foundation: Denver, CO, 2001; Vol. 448, pp 397.
- 20. Hrudey, S. E. Chlorination disinfection by-products, public health risk tradeoffs and me. *Water Res.* **2009**, *43*, 2057-2092.
- 21. Plewa, M. J.; Simmons, J. E.; Richardson, S. D.; Wagner, E. D. Mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of the haloacetic acids, a major class of drinking water disinfection by-products. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **2010**, *51*, 871-878.
- 22. Hebert, A.; Forestier, D.; Lenes, D.; Benanou, D.; Jacob, S.; Arfi, C.; Lambolez, L.; Levi, Y. Innovative method for prioritizing emerging disinfection by-products (DBPs) in drinking water on the basis of their potential impact on public health. *Water Res.* 2010, 44, 3147-3165.
- 23. Mitch, W. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Trussell, R. R.; Valentine, R. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Sedlak, D. L. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: a review. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2003**, *20*, 389-404.
- 24. United States Environmental Protection Agency technical fact sheet *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>https://www.epa.gov/fedfac/technical-fact-sheet-n-</u> <u>nitroso-dimethylamine-ndma</u> (accessed April 5, 2016).

- 25. Barnes, J. M.; Magee, P. N. Some toxic properties of dimethylnitrosamine. *Br. J. Ind. Med.* **1954**, *11*, 167-174.
- 26. Rivenson, A.; Hoffmann, D.; Prokopczyk, B.; Amin, S.; Hecht, S. Induction of lung and exocrine pancreas tumors in F344 rats by tobacco-specific and *areca*-derived *N*-nitrosamines. *Cancer Res.* **1988**, *48*, 6912-6917.
- 27. Carter, R. L.; Percival, W. H.; Roe, F. J. C. Exceptional sensitivity of mink to the hepatotoxic effects of dimethylnitrosamine. *J. Pathol.* **1969**, *97*, 79-88.
- 28. Wagner, E. D.; Hsu, K.; Lagunas, A.; Mitch, W. A.; Plewa, M. J. Comparative genotoxicity of nitrosamine drinking water disinfection byproducts in Salmonella and mammalian cells. *Mutat. Res./Gen. Tox. En.* **2012**, *741*, 109-115.
- 29. Souliotis, V. L.; Chhabra, S.; Anderson, L. M.; Kyrtopoulos, S. A. Dosimetry of O6methylguanine in rat DNA after low-dose, chronic exposure to *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). Implications for the mechanism of NDMA hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* **1995**, *16*, 2381-2387.
- 30. Pinto, L. F. R. Differences between isoamyl alcohol and ethanol on the metabolism and DNA ethylation of *N*-nitrosodiethylamine in the rat. *Toxicol.* **2000**, *151*, 73-79.
- 31. Aiub, C. A. F.; Gadermaier, G.; Oliveira, I.; Felzenszwalb, I.; Ferreira, F.; Pinto, L. F. R.; Eckl, P. *N*-Nitrosodiethylamine genotoxicity in primary rat hepatocytes: Effects of cytochrome P450 induction by phenobarbital. *Toxicol. Lett.* **2011**, *206*, 139-143.
- 32. University of California Berkeley *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine: The Carcinogenic Potency Project. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cpdb/chempages/N-NITROSODIMETHYLAMINE.html</u> (accessed April 4, 2016).
- 33. United States National Library of Medicine: Toxicology Data Network Integrated Risk Information System: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgibin/sis/search2/r?dbs+iris:@term+@D0CN0+0045</u> (accessed August 10, 2018).
- 34. NTP (National Toxicology Program) *report on carcinogens, 14th edition;* United States department of health and human services: Research Triangle Park, NC, USA, 2016.
- 35. United States national library of medicine: toxicology data network hazardous substances databank (hsdb): *N*-nitrosodimethylamine. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search2/r?dbs+hsdb:@term+@D0CN0+1667</u> (accessed August 10, 2018).
- 36. United States Environmental Protection Agency integrated risk information system. <u>https://www.epa.gov/iris</u> (accessed April 17, 2016).

- 37. Peto, R.; Gray, R.; Brantom, P.; Grasso, P. Effects on 4080 rats of chronic ingestion of Nnitrosodiethylamine or *N*-nitrosodimethylamine - a detailed dose-response study. *Cancer Res.* **1991**, *51*, 6415-6451.
- 38. Verna, L.; Whysner, J.; Williams, G. M. *N*-nitrosodiethylamine mechanistic data and risk assessment: bioactivation, dna-adduct formation, mutagenicity, and tumor initiation. *Pharmacol. and Therapeut.* **1996**, *71*, 57-81.
- 39. Lijinsky, W.; Kovatch, R. M.; Riggs, C. W. Carcinogenesis by nitrosodialkylamines and Azoxyalkanes Given by Gavage to Rats and Hamsters. *Cancer Res.* **1987**, *47*, 3968-3972.
- 40. Hellman, B.; Tjälve, H. Effects of *N*-Nitrosopyrrolidine and *N*-Nitrosoproline on the Incorporation of "3H-Thymidine into the DNA of Various Organs of the Mouse: Tissue Specificity and Effects of Ethanol Consumption. *Acta Pharmacol. et Toxicol.* **1986**, *59*, 279-284.
- 41. Oberemm, A.; Ahr, H. -.; Bannasch, P.; Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H.; Glückmann, M.; Hellmann, J.; Ittrich, C.; Kopp-Schneider, A.; Kramer, P. -.; Krause, E.; Kröger, M.; Kiss, E.; Richter-Reichhelm, H.; Scholz, G.; Seemann, K.; Weimer, M.; Gundert-Remy, U. Toxicogenomic analysis of *N*-nitrosomorpholine induced changes in rat liver: Comparison of genomic and proteomic responses and anchoring to histopathological parameters. *Toxicol. & Appl. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *241*, 230-245.
- 42. Hecht, S. S.; Lijinsky, W.; Kovatch, R. M.; Chung, F. -.; Saavedra, J. E. Comparative tumorigenicity of *N*-nitroso-2-hydroxymorpholine, *N*-nitrosodiethanolamine and *N*-nitrosomorpholine in A/J mice and F344 rats. *Carcinogenesis* **1989**, *10*, 1475-1477.
- 43. Ketkar, M. B.; Fuhst, R.; Preussmann, R.; Mohr, U. The carcinogenic effect of nitrosopiperidine administered in the drinking water of Syrian golden hamsters. *Cancer Lett.* **1983**, *21*, 219-224.
- 44. Lijinsky, W.; Reuber, M. D. Comparative carcinogenesis by some aliphatic nitrosamines in Fischer rats. *Cancer Lett.* **1981**, *14*, 297-302.
- 45. Tsuda, H.; Mera, Y.; Seki, K.; Toyohiko, A.; Fukushima, S.; Ito, N. Induction of tumors in the liver, urinary bladder, esophagus and forestomach by short-term treatment with different doses of *N*,*N*'-dibutylnitrosamine in rats. *Jap. J. Cancer Res.* **1987**, *78*, 227-234.
- 46. Dodd, D. E.; Pluta, L. J.; Sochaski, M. A.; Funk, K. A.; Thomas, R. S. Subchronic urinary bladder toxicity evaluation of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine in Fischer 344 rats. *J. Appl. Toxicol.* **2013**, *33*, 383-389.
- 47. McGregor, D. The genetic toxicology of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine. *Mutat. Res. -Rev. Genet.* **1994**, *317*, 195-211.

- 48. Boyd, J. M.; Huang, L.; Xie, L.; Moe, B.; Gabos, S.; Li, X. A cell-microelectronic sensing technique for profiling cytotoxicity of chemicals. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2008**, *615*, 80-87.
- 49. Herrmann, S. S.; Granby, K.; Duedahl-Olesen, L. Formation and mitigation of *N*nitrosamines in nitrite preserved cooked sausages. *Food Chem.* **2015**, *174*, 516-526.
- 50. Crews, C. Processing Contaminants: *N*-Nitrosamines. In *Encyclopedia of Food Safety*; Motarjemi, Y., Ed.; Academic Press: Waltham, 2014; pp 409-415.
- 51. Wu, D.; Lu, Y.; Lin, H.; Zhou, W.; Gu, W. Selective determination of tobacco-specific nitrosamines in mainstream cigarette smoke by GC coupled to positive chemical ionization triple quadrupole MS. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2013**, *36*, 2615-2620.
- 52. Jobb, B.; Hunsinger, R.; Mersez, O.; Taguchi, V. Removal of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine from the Ohsweken (Six Nations) Water Supply Final Report. **1994**.
- 53. Zhao, Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 7636-7641.
- 54. Zhao, Y.; Boyd, J. M.; Woodbeck, M.; Andrews, R. C.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Formation of *N*-nitrosamines from eleven disinfection treatments of seven different surface waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 4857-4862.
- 55. Qian, Y.; Wu, M.; Wang, W.; Chen, B.; Zheng, H.; Krasner, S. W.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Determination of 14 nitrosamines at nanogram per liter levels in drinking water. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 1330-1336.
- 56. Williams, D. L. H. Chapter 2 Nitrosation at nitrogen centres. In *Nitrosation Reactions and the Chemistry of Nitric Oxide*; Williams, D. L. H., Ed.; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, 2004; pp 35-56.
- 57. Food and Drug Administration Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 Food and Drugs: CHAPTER I--FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION: SUBCHAPTER B--FOOD FOR HUMAN CONSUMPTION: Sec. 170.60 Nitrites and/or nitrates in curing premixes. **2017**.
- 58. Krul, C. A. M.; Zeilmaker, M. J.; Schothorst, R. C.; Havenaar, R. Intragastric formation and modulation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine in a dynamic in vitro gastrointestinal model under human physiological conditions. *Food and Chem. Toxicol.* **2004**, *42*, 51-63.
- 59. Pérez, D. M.; Alatorre, G. G.; Álvarez, E. B.; Silva, E. E.; Alvarado, J. Solid-phase microextraction of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine in beer. *Food Chem.* **2008**, *107*, 1348-1352.

- 60. Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *n*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 4835-4841.
- 61. Charrois, J.; Boyd, J.; Froese, K.; Hrudey, S. Occurrence of *N*-nitrosamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2007**, *6*, 103-114.
- 62. Nawrocki, J.; Andrzejewski, P. Nitrosamines and water. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2011**, *189*, 1-18.
- 63. Hrudey, S. E.; Bull, R. J.; Cotruvo, J. A.; Paoli, G.; Wilson, M. Drinking water as a proportion of total human exposure to volatile *N*-nitrosamines. *Risk Anal.* **2013**, *33*, 2179-2208.
- 64. Government of Ontario technical support document for Ontario drinking water standards objectives and guidelines. <u>https://www.ontario.ca/document/technical-support-document-ontario-drinking-water-standards-objectives-and-guidelines</u> (accessed April 5, 2016).
- 65. Government of Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/healthy-living-vie-saine/water-</u> <u>nitrosodimethylamine-eau/index-eng.php?page=2#a1</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).
- 66. California Environmental Protection Agency State water uses Control Board NDMA and Other nitrosamines - drinking water issues. <u>http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/certlic/drinkingwater/NDMA.shtml</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).
- 67. Government of Massachussets drinking water standards and guidelines. <u>https://www.mass.gov/guides/drinking-water-standards-and-guidelines</u> (accessed June 8, 2018).
- 68. National Health and Medical Research Council, National Resource Management Ministerial Council: Australian drinking water guidelines. Canberra, Australia. 2009.
- 69. United States Environmental Protection Agency monitoring unregulated drinking water contaminants: second unregulated contaminant monitoring rule. <u>https://www.epa.gov/dwucmr/second-unregulated-contaminant-monitoring-rule</u> (accessed June 8, 2018).
- 70. Woods, G. C.; Dickenson, E. R. V. Evaluation of the final UCMR2 database: nationwide trends in NDMA. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **2015**, *107*, E58-E68.

- 71. Leavey-Roback, S. L.; Sugar, C. A.; Krasner, S. W.; Suffet, I. H. NDMA formation during drinking water treatment: A multivariate analysis of factors influencing formation. *Water Res.* **2016**, *95*, 300-309.
- 72. Brodtmann, N.; Russo, P. The Use of Chloramine for Reduction of Trihalomethanes and Disinfection of Drinking Water. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1979**, *71*, 40-42.
- 73. Hoff, J.; Geldreich, E. Comparison of the biocidal efficiency of alternative disinfectants. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1981**, *73*, 40-44.
- 74. Lee, C.; Schmidt, C.; Yoon, J.; von Gunten, U. Oxidation of *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) Precursors with ozone and chlorine dioxide: kinetics and effect on NDMA formation potential. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 2056-2063.
- 75. Zeng, T.; Plewa, M. J.; Mitch, W. A. *N*-nitrosamines and halogenated disinfection byproducts in U.S. full advanced treatment trains for potable reuse. *Water Res.* **2016**, *101*, 176-186.
- 76. Government of Canada Guidelines for Canadian Drinking Water Quality: Guideline Technical Document – Chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-</u> <u>quality-guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html</u> (accessed February 15, 2018).
- 77. Mitch, W. A.; Oelker, G. L.; Hawley, E. L.; Deeb, R. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Minimization of NDMA formation during chlorine disinfection of municipal wastewater by application of preformed chloramines. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2005**, *22*, 882-890.
- 78. Krasner, S. W.; Mitch, W. A.; McCurry, D. L.; Hanigan, D.; Westerhoff, P. Formation, precursors, control, and occurrence of nitrosamines in drinking water: A review. *Water Res.* **2013**, *47*, 4433-4450.
- 79. Zeng, T.; Mitch, W. A. Impact of nitrification on the formation of *N*-nitrosamines and halogenated disinfection byproducts within distribution system storage facilities. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 2964-2973.
- Bond, T.; Huang, J.; Templeton, M. R.; Graham, N. Occurrence and control of nitrogenous disinfection by-products in drinking water – A review. *Water Res.* 2011, 45, 4341-4354.
- 81. Schreiber, I. M.; Mitch, W. A. Occurrence and Fate of Nitrosamines and Nitrosamine Precursors in Wastewater-Impacted Surface Waters Using Boron As a Conservative Tracer. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 3203-3210.
- Park, S.; Wei, S.; Mizaikoff, B.; Taylor, A. E.; Favero, C.; Huang, C. Degradation of Amine-Based Water Treatment Polymers during Chloramination as *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) Precursors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1360-1366.

- Park, S. H.; Padhye, L. P.; Wang, P.; Cho, M.; Kim, J.; Huang, C. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation potential of amine-based water treatment polymers: Effects of in situ chloramination, breakpoint chlorination, and pre-oxidation. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2015, 282, 133-140.
- 84. Kemper, J. M.; Walse, S. S.; Mitch, W. A. Quaternary amines as nitrosamine precursors: a role for consumer products? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 1224-1231.
- 85. Zeng, T.; Li, R. J.; Mitch, W. A. Structural modifications to quaternary ammonium polymer coagulants to inhibit *N*-nitrosamine formation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 4778-4787.
- 86. Le Roux, J.; Gallard, H.; Croué, J.; Papot, S.; Deborde, M. NDMA formation by chloramination of ranitidine: kinetics and mechanism. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 11095-11103.
- 87. Hanigan, D.; Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Zhao, Y.; Andrews, S.; Zhang, J.; Herckes, P.; Westerhoff, P. Methadone contributes to *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine formation in surface waters and wastewaters during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* **2015**, *2*, 151-157.
- 88. Guo, Y. C.; Krasner, S. W. Occurrence of primidone, carbamazepine, caffeine, and precursors for *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water sources impacted by wastewater. *J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc.* **2009**, *45*, 58-67.
- 89. Wang, W.; Ren, S.; Zhang, H.; Yu, J.; An, W.; Hu, J.; Yang, M. Occurrence of nine nitrosamines and secondary amines in source water and drinking water: Potential of secondary amines as nitrosamine precursors. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 4930-4938.
- 90. Mitch, W. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from dimethylamine during chlorination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36*, 588-595.
- 91. Choi, J.; Valentine, R. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from reaction of monochloramine: a new disinfection by-product. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 817-824.
- 92. Kosaka, K.; Asami, M.; Konno, Y.; Oya, M.; Kunikane, S. Identification of antiyellowing agents as precursors of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine production on ozonation from sewage treatment plant influent. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 5236-5241.
- 93. Kosaka, K.; Asami, M.; Ohkubo, K.; Iwamoto, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Koshino, H.; Echigo, S.; Akiba, M. Identification of a New *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine Precursor in Sewage Containing Industrial Effluents. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2014**, *48*, 11243-11250.
- 94. Rogers, R. D.; Seddon, K. R., Eds.; In *Ionic Liquids: Industrial Applications for Green Chemistry;* American Chemical Society: USA, 2002; pp 488.

- 95. Walden, P. Ueber die Molekulargrösse und elektrische Leitfähigkeit einiger geschmolzenensalze. *Bull. Acad. Imper. Sci.* **1914**, *8*, 405-422.
- 96. Wilkes, J. S.; Zaworotko, M. J. Air and water stable 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium based ionic liquids. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1992**, 965-967.
- 97. Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D. Ionic liquids: solvent properties and organic reactivity. *J. Phys. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *18*, 275-297.
- 98. Cevasco, G.; Chiappe, C. Are ionic liquids a proper solution to current environmental challenges? *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16*, 2375-2385.
- 99. Pilli, S. R.; Banerjee, T.; Mohanty, K. 1-Butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate as a green solvent for the extraction of endosulfan from aqueous solution using supported liquid membrane. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *257*, 56-65.
- 100. Wang, C.; Luo, H.; Li, H.; Dai, S. Direct UV-spectroscopic measurement of selected ionicliquid vapors. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 7246-7250.
- 101. Earle, M. J.; Esperança, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Widegren, J. A. The distillation and volatility of ionic liquids. *Nature* **2006**, *439*, 831-834.
- 102. Lévêque, J.–M.; Cravotto, G. Microwaves, Power Ultrasound, and Ionic Liquids. A New Synergy in Green Organic Synthesis. *Chimia* **2006**, *60*, 313-320.
- 103. Zhao, H.; Baker, G.; Song, Z.; Olubajo, O.; Zanders, L.; Campbell, S. M. Effect of ionic liquid properties on lipase stabilization under microwave irradiation. *J. Mol. Catal. B-Enzym.* **2009**, *57*, 149-157.
- 104. Ropel, L.; Belvèze, L. S.; Aki, S. N. V. K.; Stadtherr, M. A.; Brennecke, J. F. Octanol-water partition coefficients of imidazolium-based ionic liquids. *Green Chem.* **2005**, *7*, 83-90.
- 105. Mehrkesh, A.; Karunanithi, A. Life cycle perspectives on aquatic ecotoxicity of common ionic liquids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 6814-6821.
- 106. Sim, H.; Mun, J. *Handbook of ionic liquids : properties, applications, and hazards;* Nova Science Publishers, Inc: New York, 2012; .
- 107. Ventura, S.; Gonçalves, A.; Sintra, T.; Pereira, J.; Gonçalves, F.; Coutinho, J. Designing ionic liquids: the chemical structure role in the toxicity. *Ecotoxicology* **2013**, *22*, 1-12.
- 108. Horikoshi, S.; Hamamura, T.; Kajitani, M.; Yoshizawa-Fujita, M.; Serpone, N. Green chemistry with a novel 5.8-ghz microwave apparatus. prompt one-pot solvent-free synthesis of a major ionic liquid: the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate system. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* **2008**, *12*, 1089-1093.

- 109. Richardson, S. D.; Kimura, S. Y. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *88(1)*, 546-582.
- 110. Egorova, K. S.; Ananikov, V. P. Toxicity of ionic liquids: eco(cyto)activity as complicated, but unavoidable parameter for task-specific optimization. *ChemSusChem* 2014, 7, 336-360.
- 111. Heckenbach, M. E.; Romero, F. N.; Green, M. D.; Halden, R. U. Meta-analysis of ionic liquid literature and toxicology. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *150*, 266-274.
- 112. Gutowski, K. E.; Broker, G. A.; Willauer, H. D.; Huddleston, J. G.; Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Controlling the aqueous miscibility of ionic liquids: aqueous biphasic systems of water-miscible ionic liquids and water-structuring salts for recycle, metathesis, and separations. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 6632-6633.
- 113. Kohno, Y.; Ohno, H. Ionic liquid/water mixtures: from hostility to conciliation. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 7119-7130.
- 114. García-Alvarez-Coque, M. C.; Ruiz-Angel, M. J.; Berthod, A.; Carda-Broch, S. On the use of ionic liquids as mobile phase additives in high-performance liquid chromatography. A review. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2015**, *883*, 1-21.
- 115. Pino, V.; Yao, C.; Anderson, J. L. Micellization and interfacial behavior of imidazoliumbased ionic liquids in organic solvent–water mixtures. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *333*, 548-556.
- 116. Ge, D.; Lee, H. K. Ionic liquid based hollow fiber supported liquid phase microextraction of ultraviolet filters. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2012**, *1229*, 1-5.
- 117. Maase, M.; Massonne, K.; Vagt, U. BASIL[™]—BASF's Processes Based on Ionic Liquids. <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/technical-documents/articles/chemfiles/basil-basf-s-</u> <u>processes.html</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).
- 118. Maase, M.; Massonne, K. Biphasic acid scavenging utilizing ionic liquids: the first commercial process with ionic liquids. In American Chemical Society: 2005; Vol. 902, pp 126-132.
- 119. Weng, J.; Wang, C.; Li, H.; Wang, Y. Novel quaternary ammonium ionic liquids and their use as dual solvent-catalysts in the hydrolytic reaction. *Green Chem.* **2006**, *8*, 96-99.
- 120. Sun, X.; Fang, Y.; Jiang, X.; Yoshii, K.; Tsuda, T.; Dai, S. Polymer gel electrolytes for application in aluminum deposition and rechargeable aluminum ion batteries. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 292-295.

- 121. Liu, Q. X.; El Abedin, S. Z.; Endres, F. Electroplating of mild steel by aluminium in a first generation ionic liquid: A green alternative to commercial Al-plating in organic solvents. *Surface and Coatings Technology* **2006**, *201*, 1352-1356.
- 122. Abbott, A. P.; McKenzie, K. J. Application of ionic liquids to the electrodeposition of metals. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *8*, 4265-4279.
- 123. Young, J. A.; Zhang, C.; Devasurendra, A. M.; Tillekeratne, L. M. V.; Anderson, J. L.; Kirchhoff, J. R. Conductive polymeric ionic liquids for electroanalysis and solid-phase microextraction. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2016**, *910*, 45-52.
- 124. Rezaee, M.; Assadi, Y.; Milani Hosseini, M.; Aghaee, E.; Ahmadi, F.; Berijani, S. Determination of organic compounds in water using dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2006**, *1116*, 1-9.
- 125. Padró, J. M.; Pellegrino Vidal, R. B.; Echevarria, R. N.; Califano, A. N.; Reta, M. R. Development of an ionic-liquid-based dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction method for the determination of antichagasic drugs in human breast milk: Optimization by central composite design. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2015**, *38*, 1591-1600.
- 126. Markiewicz, M.; Jungnickel, C.; Arp, H. P. H. Ionic liquid assisted dissolution of dissolved organic matter and PAHs from soil below the critical micelle concentration. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 6951-6958.
- 127. Gao, X.; Fan, J.; Zhu, G. F.; Wang, X. L.; Wang, J. J. Molecularly imprinted SPE coupled with HPLC for the selective separation and enrichment of alkyl imidazolium ionic liquids in environmental water samples. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2013**, *36*, 3277-3284.
- 128. Swatloski, R. P.; Spear, S. K.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 4974-4975.
- 129. Wu, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Irie, S.; Sakurai, K. A novel biomass-ionic liquid platform for the utilization of native chitin. *Polymer* **2008**, *49*, 2321-2327.
- 130. Yang, X.; Qiao, C.; Li, Y.; Li, T. Dissolution and resourcfulization of biopolymers in ionic liquids. *React. Funct. Polym.* **2016**, *100*, 181-190.
- 131. Zhu, S.; Wu, Y.; Chen, Q.; Yu, Z.; Wang, C.; Jin, S.; Ding, Y.; Wu, G. Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids and its application: a mini-review. *Green Chem.* **2006**, *8*, 325-327.
- 132. Montalbo-Lomboy, M.; Grewell, D. Rapid dissolution of switchgrass in 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride by ultrasonication. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* **2015**, *22*, 588-599.

- 133. Michud, A.; Tanttu, M.; Asaadi, S.; Ma, Y.; Netti, E.; Kääriainen, P.; Persson, A.; Berntsson, A.; Hummel, M.; Sixta, H. Ioncell-F: ionic liquid-based cellulosic textile fibers as an alternative to viscose and Lyocell. *Text. Res. J.* **2016**, *86*, 543-552.
- 134. Ma, B.; Hou, X.; He, C. Preparation of chitosan fibers using aqueous ionic liquid as the solvent. *Fiber Polym.* **2015**, *16*, 2704-2708.
- 135. Jaworska, M. M.; Gorak, A. Modification of chitin particles with chloride ionic liquids. *Mater. Lett.* **2016**, *164*, 341-343.
- 136. Brennecke, J. F.; Gurkan, B. E. Ionic liquids for CO2 capture and emission reduction. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *1*, 3459-3464.
- 137. Janiczek, P.; Kalb, R. S.; Thonhauser, G.; Gamse, T. Carbon dioxide absorption in a technical-scale-plant utilizing an imidazolium based ionic liquid. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *97*, 20-25.
- 138. Kumar, S.; Cho, J. H.; Moon, I. Ionic liquid-amine blends and CO2BOLs: Prospective solvents for natural gas sweetening and CO2 capture technology—A review. *Int. J. Greenh. Gas Con.* **2014**, *20*, 87-116.
- 139. United States Environmental Protection Agency carbon dioxide capture and sequestration. *https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/ccs/* (accessed April 23, 2016).
- 140. Zhong, Y.; Feng, X.; Wang, X.; Huang, K.; Gnanou, Y.; Lai, Z. Using UCST ionic liquid as a draw solute in forward osmosis to treat high-salinity water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 1039-1045.
- 141. Fan, X.; Liu, H.; Gao, Y.; Zou, Z.; Craig, V. S.; Zhang, G.; Liu, G. Forward-osmosis desalination with poly(ionic liquid) hydrogels as smart draw agents. *Adv. Mat.* **2016**, *28*, 4156-4161.
- 142. Zeweldi, H. G.; Limjuco, L. A.; Bendoy, A. P.; Kim, H.; Park, M. J.; Shon, H. K.; Johnson, E. M.; Lee, H.; Chung, W.; Nisola, G. M. The potential of monocationic imidazolium-, phosphonium-, and ammonium-based hydrophilic ionic liquids as draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* 2018, 444, 94-106.
- 143. Park, J.; Joo, H.; Noh, M.; Namkoong, Y.; Lee, S.; Jung, K. H.; Ahn, H. R.; Kim, S.; Lee, J.; Yoon, J. H.; Lee, Y. Systematic structure control of ammonium iodide salts as feasible UCST-type forward osmosis draw solutes for the treatment of wastewater. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2018**, *6*, 1255-1265.
- 144. Rabiee, H.; Jin, B.; Yun, S.; Dai, S. Gas-responsive cationic microgels for forward osmosis desalination. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *347*, 424-431.

- 145. Mahto, A.; Mondal, D.; Polisetti, V.; Bhatt, J.; R, N. M.; Prasad, K.; Nataraj, S. K. Sustainable water reclamation from different feed streams by forward osmosis process using deep eutectic solvents as reusable draw solution. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2017, 56, 14623-14632.
- 146. Malefetse, T. J.; Mamba, B. B.; Krause, R. W.; Mahlambi, M. M. Cyclodextrin-ionic liquid polyurethanes for application in drinking water treatment. *Water SA* **2009**, *35*, 729-734.
- 147. Hussin, N. H.; Yusoff, I.; Alias, Y.; Mohamad, S.; Rahim, N. Y.; Ashraf, M. A. Ionic liquid as a medium to remove iron and other metal ions: a case study of the North Kelantan Aquifer, Malaysia. *Environmental Earth Sciences* **2014**, *71*, 2105-2113.
- 148. Chen, Q.; Xu, W.; Ge, Q. Novel multicharge hydroacid complexes that effectively remove heavy metal ions from water in forward osmosis processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *52*, 4464-4471.
- 149. Mohammed, M.; Babadagli, T. Bitumen recovery from carbonates by a modified sos-fr (steam-over-solvent injection in fractured reservoir) method using wettability alteration chemicals. *Energy Fuels* **2016**, *30*, 3849-3859.
- 150. Sui, H.; Zhang, J.; Yuan, Y.; He, L.; Bai, Y.; Li, X. Role of binary solvent and ionic liquid in bitumen recovery from oil sands. *Can. J. of Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *94*, 1191-1196.
- 151. Hardacre, C.; Holbrey, J. D.; Mullan, C. L.; Youngs, T. G. A.; Bowron, D. T. Small angle neutron scattering from 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate ionic liquids ([C(n)mim][PF(6)], n=4, 6, and 8). *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *133*, 074510.
- 152. Righi, S.; Morfino, A.; Galletti, P.; Samorì, C.; Tugnoli, A.; Stramigioli, C. Comparative cradle-to-gate life cycle assessments of cellulose dissolution with 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride and N-methyl-morpholine-N-oxide. *Green Chem.* 2011, 13, 367-375.
- 153. Barton Hinkle, A. A. Barton Hinkle column: chitin company in chesterfield moves one small step beyond plastic. <u>https://www.richmond.com/opinion/our-opinion/barthinkle/a-barton-hinkle-column-chitin-company-in-chesterfield-movesone/article_ea5ed0cc-d20c-5b27-865e-57f72a9382d8.html (accessed July 11, 2018).</u>
- 154. Shamshina, J. L.; Gurau, G.; Block, L. E.; Hansen, L. K.; Dingee, C.; Walters, A.; Rogers, R. D. Chitin-calcium alginate composite fibers for wound care dressings spun from ionic liquid solution. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2014**, *2*, 3924-3936.
- 155. King, C. A.; Shamshina, J. L.; Zavgorodnya, O.; Cutfield, T.; Block, L. E.; Rogers, R. D. Porous chitin microbeads for more sustainable cosmetics. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 11660-11667.

- 156. Cai, Y.; Hu, X. A critical review on draw solutes development for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2016**, *391*, 16-29.
- 157. Johnson, D. J.; Suwaileh, W. A.; Mohammed, A. W.; Hilal, N. Osmotic's potential: An overview of draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2018**, *434*, 100-120.
- 158. Fortuny, A.; Coll, M. T.; Sastre, A. M. Ionic liquids as a carrier for chloride reduction from brackish water using hollow fiber renewal liquid membrane. *Desal.* **2014**, *343*, 54-59.
- 159. Haerens, K.; Van Deuren, S.; Matthijs, E.; Van der Bruggen, B. Challenges for recycling ionic liquids by using pressure driven membrane processes. *Green Chem.* **2010**, *12*, 2182-2188.
- 160. Wu, B.; Zhang, Y. M.; Wang, H. P. Non-equilibrium thermodynamic analysis of transport properties in the nanofiltration of ionic liquid-water solutions. *Molecules* **2009**, *14*, 1781-1788.
- 161. Lynam, J. G.; Chow, G. I.; Coronella, C. J.; Hiibel, S. R. Ionic liquid and water separation by membrane distillation. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *288*, 557-561.
- 162. Nakari, O.; Pihlajamäki, A.; Mänttäri, M. Permeability of dilute ionic liquid solutions through a nanofiltration membrane Effect of ionic liquid concentration, filtration pressure and temperature. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2016**, *163*, 267-274.
- 163. Jessop, P. G. Searching for green solvents. *Green Chem.* **2011**, *13*, 1391-1398.
- 164. Fegade, S. L.; Trembly, J. P. Dispute over designating an ionic liquid as a green solvent. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2015**, *273*, 668.
- 165. Jessop, P. G. Fundamental properties and practical applications of ionic liquids: concluding remarks. *Faraday Discuss.* **2018**, *206*, 587-601.
- 166. Zhang, Y.; Bakshi, B. R.; Demessie, E. S. Life cycle assessment of an ionic liquid versus molecular solvents and their applications. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 1724-2730.
- 167. Thuy Pham, T. P.; Cho, C.; Yun, Y. Review: environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: a review. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, 352-372.
- 168. Cvjetko Bubalo, M.; Radošević, K.; Radojčić Redovniković, I.; Halambek, J.; Gaurina Srček, V. Review: A brief overview of the potential environmental hazards of ionic liquids. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2014**, *99*, 1-12.
- 169. Richardson, S. D.; Ternes, T. A. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 398-428.

- 170. Abrusci, C.; Palomar, J.; Pablos, J. L.; Rodriguez, F.; Catalina, F. Efficient biodegradation of common ionic liquids by *Sphingomonas paucimobilis* bacterium. *Green Chem.* **2011**, *13*, 709-717.
- 171. Liwarska-Bizukojc, E.; Maton, C.; Stevens, C. V. Biodegradation of imidazolium ionic liquids by activated sludge microorganisms. *Biodegradation* **2015**, *26*, 453-463.
- 172. Docherty, K. M.; Aiello, S. W.; Buehler, B. K.; Jones, S. E.; Szymczyna, B. R.; Walker, K. A. Ionic liquid biodegradability depends on specific wastewater microbial consortia. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *136*, 160-166.
- 173. Islam, M. M.; Okajima, T.; Kojima, S.; Ohsaka, T. Water electrolysis: an excellent approach for the removal of water from ionic liquids. *Chem Commun (Camb)* **2008**, 5330-5332.
- 174. Neves, C. M. S. S.; Freire, M. G.; Coutinho, J. A. P. Improved recovery of ionic liquids from contaminated aqueous streams using aluminium-based salts. *RSC Adv.* **2012**, *2*, 10882-10890.
- 175. Calza, P.; Vione, D.; Fabbri, D.; Aigotti, R.; Medana, C. Imidazolium-based ionic liquids in water: assessment of photocatalytic and photochemical transformation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 10951-10958.
- 176. Mai, N. L.; Ahn, K.; Koo, Y. Methods for recovery of ionic liquids—A review. *Process Biochem.* **2014**, *49*, 872-881.
- 177. Zhang, Z.; Liu, J.; Cai, X.; Jiang, W.; Luo, W.; Jiang, G. Sorption to dissolved humic acid and its impacts on the toxicity of imidazolium based ionic liquids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 1688-1694.
- 178. Ishiguro, M.; Tan, W.; Koopal, L. K. Binding of cationic surfactants to humic substances. *Colloids Surf. Physicochem. Eng. Aspects* **2007**, *306*, 29-39.
- 179. Koopal, L. K.; Goloub, T. P.; Davis, T. A. Binding of ionic surfactants to purified humic acid. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2004**, *275*, 360-367.
- 180. Matzke, M.; Thiele, K.; Müller, A.; Filser, J. Sorption and desorption of imidazolium based ionic liquids in different soil types. *Chemosphere* **2009**, *74*, 568-574.
- 181. Mrozik, W.; Kotłowska, A.; Kamysz, W.; Stepnowski, P. Sorption of ionic liquids onto soils: Experimental and chemometric studies. *Chemosphere* **2012**, *88*, 1202-1207.
- 182. Stepnowski, P.; Mrozik, W.; Nichthauser, J. Adsorption of Alkylimidazolium and Alkylpyridinium Ionic Liquids onto Natural Soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 511-516.

- 183. Lv, G.; Li, Z.; Jiang, W.; Chang, P.; Liao, L. Interlayer configuration of ionic liquids in a Ca-montmorillonite as evidenced by FTIR, TG-DTG, and XRD analyses. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *162*, 417-424.
- 184. Amde, M.; Liu, J.; Pang, L. Environmental application, fate, effects, and concerns of ionic liquids: a review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 12611-12627.
- 185. Frade, R. F. M.; Afonso, C. A. M. Impact of ionic liquids in environment and humans: An overview. *Hum. Exp. Toxicol.* **2010**, *29*, 1038-1054.
- 186. Costa, S. P. F.; Pinto, P. C. A. G.; Lapa, R. A. S.; Saraiva, M. L. M. F. S. Toxicity assessment of ionic liquids with Vibrio fischeri: An alternative fully automated methodology. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2015**, *284*, 136-142.
- 187. Matzke, M.; Stolte, S.; Arning, J.; Uebers, U.; Filser, J. Imidazolium based ionic liquids in soils: effects of the side chain length on wheat (Triticum aestivum) and cress (Lepidium sativum) as affected by different clays and organic matter. *Green Chem.* 2008, 10, 584-591.
- 188. Larson, J. H.; Frost, P. C.; Lamberti, G. A. Variable Toxicity of Ionic Liquid--Forming Chemicals to Lemna Minor and the Influence of Dissolved Organic Matter. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2008**, *27*, 676-681.
- 189. Kulacki, K. J.; Lambert, G. A. Toxicity of imidazolium ionic liquids to freshwater algae. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 104-110.
- 190. Tsarpali, V.; Dailianis, S. Toxicity of two imidazolium ionic liquids, [bmim][BF4] and [omim][BF4], to standard aquatic test organisms: role of acetone in the induced toxicity. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2015**, *117*, 62-71.
- 191. Bernot, R. J.; Brueseke, M. A.; Evans-White, M.; Lamberti, G. A. Acute and chronic toxicity of imidazolium-based ionic liquids on *Daphnia magna*. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2005**, *24*, 87-92.
- 192. Li, X.; Zhou, J.; Yu, M.; Wang, J.; Pei, Y. C. Toxic effects of 1-methyl-3-octylimidazolium bromide on the early embryonic development of the frog Rana nigromaculata. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2009**, *72*, 552-556.
- 193. Latała, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Nędzi, M.; Mrozik, W. Marine toxicity assessment of imidazolium ionic liquids: Acute effects on the baltic algae *Oocystis submarina* and *Cyclotella meneghiniana*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* **2005**, *73*, 91-98.
- 194. Lewis, R. J. S., Ed.; In *Sax's Dangerous Properties of Industrial Materials. 11th Edition;* Wiley-Interscience, Wiley & Sons Inc.: Hoboken, NJ., 2004; , pp 3238.

- 195. Bailey, M. M.; Townsend, M. B.; Jernigan, P. L.; Sturdivant, J.; Hough-Troutman, W.; Rasco, J. F.; Swatloski, R. P.; Rogers, R. D.; Hood, R. D. Developmental toxicity assessment of the ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride in CD-1 mice. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 1213-1217.
- 196. Pati, S. G.; Arnold, W. A. Photochemical transformation of four ionic liquid cation structures in aqueous solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 11780-11787.

2 *N*-nitrosamine formation from chloramination of two common ionic liquids

2.1 Introduction

Ionic liquids (ILs) are a broad category of polyatomic organic salts composed of bulky unsymmetrical cation-anion pairs. The steric bulk of IL anion-cation pairs contributes to melting temperatures below 100 °C.^{1,2} ILs are considered "green" alternatives to conventional solvents.^{1,3} Because of their negligible vapour pressure (minimal occupational hazards) ^{1,4} and minimal flammability (minimal explosive risk),² various ILs have been studied for use in a variety of applications.⁵⁻⁹ Although ILs are minimally released to the atmosphere because of their low volatility, they may contaminate the aqueous environment because they are considerably water-soluble. As the ILs are increasingly adopted, accidental releases or discharge of ILs to the aqueous environment through wastewater is anticipated.^{2,10-12}

There are a few reasons that the release of ILs to the environment is a concern. ILs exhibit toxicity comparable to that of conventional organic solvents, as has been demonstrated in various toxicity evaluations of cell cultures, bacteria, ¹³ algae, ^{14,15} invertebrates, ¹⁵ and other aquatic freshwater organisms.^{10,15-18} Common IL cation moieties (e.g., imidazolium and pyridinium) are also relatively resistant to biodegradation ^{19,20} and photodegradation.²¹⁻²³ This makes ILs somewhat persistent in surface water, with estimated half-lives of several days to several months.^{21,25} Such long half-lives may result in downstream impacts from ILs, including impacts they may have on drinking water quality. ILs may also plausibly leach to drinking water if they are used in drinking water treatment processes, such as desalination,^{8,24-27} wastewater treatment,²⁸ and to remove heavy

metals.²⁹⁻³¹ If IL-contaminated water is used as a source for drinking water, ILs may act as precursors to disinfection by-products (DBPs).

Disinfection of drinking water is essential for deactivating pathogens to ensure safe drinking water. However, DBPs unintentionally form from reactions between natural organic matter and disinfectants like chlorine and/or chloramine. The final concentrations and proportions of DBPs in drinking water are strongly influenced by amounts of precursor contaminants in source water.

N-nitrosamines (NAs) are a group of DBPs that have been classified as probable human carcinogens.³²⁻³⁴ Major classes of NA precursors are amines, including secondary,^{35-³⁷ tertiary,³⁸⁻⁴² and quaternary amines.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ These amine-containing compounds are often anthropogenic in origin.^{39,41,45}}

One example of a previously identified anthropogenic NA precursor is polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (polyDADMAC), a quaternary amine polymer commonly used in water treatment as a coagulant. PolyDADMAC contains a quaternary amine core structure, and has been shown to transfer the amine group to *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) during chloramination of drinking water.^{42,44,46} Common IL cation species contain quaternary amines centres bonded in configurations similar to those of polyDADMAC. Therefore these IL cations may be capable of acting as precursors to NAs.

There is concern that ILs may contaminate environmental waters;^{2,10-12,47} however, little has been done to assess the potential downstream effects of ILs on drinking water. Therefore, we have examined ILs as potential nitrosamine precursors using a previously established liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method.⁴⁸ Two commonly used ILs 1-ethyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bromide (EMPyrBr) with a saturated

ring structure and 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr) with an unsaturated ring structure were chosen for this study. The objective of this study was to evaluate these two ILs for their ability to generate detectable NAs under bench-scale chloramination with varying reaction conditions.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Materials

1-ethyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bromide (EMPyrBr) (\leq 98.5%), 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr) (\leq 99%), and a standard mix containing nine NAs (EPA 8270 Appendix IX mix) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Some properties of the selected ionic liquids are summarized in **Table 2.1**. NAs contained in the EPA 8270 Appendix IX NA mix are summarized in **Table 2.2**. Two deuterated standards, *N*nitrosodimethylamine-d₆ (NDMA-d₆) and *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine-d₃ (NMEA-d₃), were obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, ON). Optima LC-MS grade water, methanol, and dichloromethane used were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Fairlawn, NJ, USA). Sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) solution (reagent grade, 10-15% available chlorine) was obtained from Acros Organics (Fair Lawn, NJ, USA). The concentration of free chlorine in the NaOCl solution was measured to be 100 ± 3 g/L (1.34 ± 0.05 mol/L) by a chlorine amperometric titrator (Autocat 9000, HACH). All glassware was cleaned, rinsed with LC-MS grade solvents, and baked for a minimum of 24 hours at 180°C.

Ionic liquid	Structure	Molecular formula	Molecular weight	
1-ethyl-3- methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr)	Br Br	[C ₆ H ₁₁ N ₂]+ [Br] ⁻	191.07 g/mol	
1-ethyl-1-methyl pyrrolidinium bromide (EMPyrBr)	+ N Br	[C7H16N]+ [Br]-	194.11 g/mol	

Table 2.1 Selected chemical properties of the two studied ionic liquids

2.2.2 Preparation of monochloramine

A 100 mM borate buffer was prepared by dissolving 2.47g of boric acid in 300 mL of water, adjusting pH to 8.4 by the addition of 1.00 M NaOH, followed by dilution to 400 mL. 100 mM of monochloramine (NH₂Cl) was freshly generated by mixing free-chlorine containing and ammonia-containing components. The molar ratio of Cl₂ to N was maintained at 0.7:1 to prevent formation of dichloroamine (NHCl₂). ³⁶ First, 2.84 mL NaOCl solution (1.34 M as specified in **section 2.2.1**) was diluted in 20 mL of water to 200 mmol/L. 0.3054 g of NH₄Cl were dissolved in 4 mL of water and 16 mL of pH 8.4 100 mM borate buffer to concentration of 240 mM NH₄Cl. The NH₄Cl and NaOCl components were gradually combined by adding small aliquots (5-6 mL) of the NaOCl component to the NH₄Cl solution with vigorous stirring and intermittent cooling to maintain solution temperature < 5°C. Prepared NH₂Cl was left for 1 hour prior to use.

2.2.3 Formation of NAs from the reactions of ionic liquids with monochloramine

Chloramination of ILs was performed by mixing 1 mL of 100 mM borate buffer (pH = 8.4), 500 μ L of 50 mM ionic liquid stock solution, and 250 μ L of 100 mM NH₂Cl (freshly prepared as described in **Section 2.2.2**), and diluting to 5 mL in LC-MS grade water. Millimolar concentrations used for these treatment of these ILs are similar to previous studies examining proof-of-concept evaluations of NA precursors. ^{49,50} After 24 h, reactions were quenched by the addition of an excess of ascorbic acid (20 mg), and without sample preparation and/or extraction, these samples were directly analyzed by an established LC-MS/MS method to detect known NA species.⁴⁸

2.2.4 Effect of IL and NH₂Cl concentrations on formation of NAs

To identify a molar ratio for optimized yield of NAs at high concentration of ILs (5 mM), reaction mixtures containing various concentrations of NH₂Cl (0.5 mM-20 mM) were prepared as described in **Appendix A**, then extracted and analyzed as described in **section 2.2.5**.

To explore the lower limit of the concentrations of ILs capable of producing detectable NAs, various concentrations of ILs were treated with chloramine using a 2:1 molar ratio of IL:NH₂Cl. Specifically, reaction mixtures were prepared with 1 mL of 100 mM borate buffer (pH = 8.4), varied volumes of 50 mM IL stock solutions (25, 50, 100, 150, 250, and 1000 μ L respectively), and corresponding additions of 12.5, 25, 50, 75, 125, 250, and 500 μ L of 100 mM NH2Cl solution. Then the solutions were diluted to 5.0 mL using LC-MS grade water. After 24 h, an excess of ascorbic acid (20 mg) was added to quench remaining NH2Cl.

To better evaluate NA formation nearer realistic chloramination conditions, low concentrations (250 μ M) of either IL were chloraminated with different concentrations of NH2Cl. Each reaction solutions contain 1 mL of 100 mM borate buffer (pH = 8.4), 250 μ L of 5 mM IL stock and the corresponding doses of 50 μ L, 100 μ L, 250 μ L, 500 μ L, and 750 μ L of 5 mM solution of NH2Cl. Then the solutions were diluted to a final volume of 5.0 mL. These final concentrations of reaction samples were 250 μ M of either IL, with varied doses of 50, 100, 250, 500, and 750 μ M of NH2Cl. After 24 h, ascorbic acid (10 mg) was added to quench remaining NH2Cl.

After chloramination and quenching, all IL solutions were extracted by liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) as described in **section 2.2.5** and quantified by a previously established liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method.⁴⁸

2.2.5 Liquid-liquid extraction and LC-MS/MS quantification of NAs

N-nitrosomethylethylamine-D₃ (NMEA-D3) was added to samples prior to extraction as a surrogate standard. The recovery of the surrogate standard was found to be representative of the recovery of NAs detected, as is shown in **Appendix B**. Each aqueous reaction mixture was extracted three times each by 4.5 mL of dichloromethane to samples in clean 15 mL vials with PTFE-lined lids, which were agitated vigorously to interface, and vented intermittently. A total of 12-13 mL of dichloromethane was collected from each reaction mixture and evaporated down to <0.05 mL by incubation at 35°C under gentle nitrogen flow. After evaporation, NDMA-d6 was added as an internal standard, and samples were reconstituted to 200 µL with water. Samples were stored at 4°C and analyzed within 24 hours by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry as previously reported.⁴⁸ Chromatographic separation of analytes was performed using an Agilent 1100 high performance liquid chromatograph (Agilent, Waldbronn, Germany) coupled to a Kinetex C₈ column (100 x 3mm ID, 2.6 µm particle size, Phenomenex, Torrance, California). Mobile phase A was 10 mM ammonium acetate with 0.01% acetic acid, and mobile phase B was 100% methanol. Analyte separation was achieved using a gradient elution as follows: linearly increase B from 35% to 90% from 0 to 5 minutes, hold 90% B from 5 to 8 minutes, then return the column to initial conditions of 35% B from 8.1 to 17 minutes to reequilibrate the column. Mass spectrometer analysis conditions were as follows: collision gas, 6 psi; curtain gas, 30 psi; gas 1, 60 psi; gas 2, 20 psi; ionspray voltage, 5500 V; temperature, 200 °C. This method is capable of detecting *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), *N*-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA), *N*-nitrosodyrrolidine (NPyr), *N*-nitrosomorpholine (NMor), *N*-nitrosodipropylamine (NDPA), *N*nitrosodibutylamine (NDBA), *N*-nitrosopiperidine (NPip), and *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine (NDPhA). MRM-specific detection parameters are listed below in **Table 2.3**.

Nitrosamine	Parent ion	Product ion(s)	Declustering potential	Entrance potential	Collision energy	Cell exit potential
NDMA	75	43	30	5	18	18
NMEA	89	61	23	6	15	28
NDEA	103	75	52	5	18	30
NPyr	101	55	30	7	21	21
NMor	117	87	48	6	17	36
	117	57	25	6	22	25
NDPA	131	89	37	6	17	36
	131	43	20	6	29	17
NDBA	159	103	50	5	17	23
	159	57	50	5	23	23
NPip	115	69	51	6	23	26
	115	41	46	6	23	26
NDPhA	199	169	50	6	19	23
	199	66	50	5	43	28
NMEA-d ₃	92	64	38	10	26	26
NDMA-d ₆	81	46	35	5	25	19

Table 2.2 – Optimized MRM parameters for the detection of *N*-nitrosamines

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 HPLC-MS/MS analysis for formation of NAs from ionic liquids

The initial reaction solutions of NH₂Cl with EMImBr, NH₂Cl with EMPyrBr, and IL control samples were analyzed for the nine known NAs (as in EPA appendix IX NAs/8270 mix) to examine whether ILs could act as precursors to common NAs. The LC-MS/MS analysis shows the formation of new peaks in the reaction mixtures but not in the controls (i.e. EMImBr or EMPyrBr solution without chloramination). Extracted ion chromatograms (XICs) of NMEA are shown in **Figure 2.1(a)**. NMEA was detected in chloraminated

solutions of EMImBr and EMPyrBr solution (5 mM), but not in the controls. The peak at 2.22 min detected in the reaction solutions matched with that of the NMEA standard, supporting the identification of NMEA formation from chloramination of EMImBr and EMPyrBr. In **Figure 2.1(b)**, NPyr was also detected in the chloraminated EMPyrBr reaction mixture according to the same rationale. This supports that NPyr is also produced during chloramination of EMPyrBr. EMImBr can generate NMEA, and EMPyrBr can generate both NMEA and NPyr in chloramination reactions.



Figure 2.1 – Extracted multiple-reaction monitoring (MRM) ion chromatograms of (a) both IL species with and without NH₂Cl treatment compared to an NMEA standard, and (b) EMPyr with and without NH₂Cl treatment compared to an NPyr standard

2.3.2 NA yield across varied ILs concentration at constant molar ratio of ILs to NH₂Cl

After positively identifying NAs in the chloramination of both selected ILs, we evaluated the yield of NMEA and NPyr when EMImBr and EMPyrBr concentrations ranging from 100 μ M to 20 mM reacted with a range of NH₂Cl doses (0.05 to 10 mM) at a constant molar ratio. In each sample, the molar ratio between ILs and NH₂Cl was kept at 2:1, which was chosen based on initial reactions described in the **Section 2.2.4** and **Appendix B**. **Figure 2.2** presents reaction yields in terms of (each NA)/(each IL) in (ng/mg) to facilitate the comparison to NA yields from polyDADMAC.⁴² The yield of NMEA from the reaction between EMImBr and NH₂Cl was up to 3.1 ± 0.3 ng/mg, while the reaction between EMPyrBr and NH₂Cl produced both NMEA and NPyr with yields up to 8.0 ± 0.1 ng/mg and 2.3 ± 0.1 ng/mg, respectively. NAs were still detectable when the concentrations of ILs (either EMImBr or EMPyrBr) were as low as 500 μ M.

Figure 2.2(a) also shows that the NMEA yield from EMImBr reaches the maximum at [2 mM EMImBR]:[1 mM NH₂Cl], and decreased with subsequent increases in the reactant concentrations. Similarly for the yields of NMEA and NPyr from the reaction of EMPyr reached a maximum at [3 mM EMPyr]:[1.5 mM NH₂Cl], and decreased with subsequent increases in the reactant concentrations (**Figure 2.2(b)**). This counterintuitive observation implies that reaction conditions may no longer favour the formation of NAs at higher reactant concentrations.



Figure 2.2 – NMEA and NPyr yields from the reaction of NH₂Cl with (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr at a constant 2:1 ratio of [IL]:[NH₂Cl]. Results are reported with standard deviation from n = 3 samples in each case.

2.3.3 Formation of NAs as a function of the molar ratio of ILs:NH₂Cl

We also evaluated NA formation when IL concentrations were kept at 250 μ M, with varying molar ratios (5:1, 5:2, 1:1, 1:2, and 1:3) of IL/NH₂Cl (doses at 50, 100, 250, 500, and 750 μ M NH₂Cl). The lowest concentration of NH₂Cl used (50 μ M) is close to the typical NH₂Cl dose range of 1.5-2.5 mg/L (~22.5 - 37.5 μ M/L NH₂Cl) employed during real water

treatment. ⁵¹ Yields of NMEA and NPyr from these reactions are summarized in **Figure 2.3**. The yields of NAs (NMEA or NPyr) increased with increasing doses of NH₂Cl (from 50 μ M to 750 μ M) from both IL species. The NMEA yield was as high as 1.7 ± 0.2 ng/mg of EMImBr, and as high as 5.0 ± 0.6 ng/mg from EMPyrBr This can be compared to the results presented in **Figure 2.2**, as at higher concentrations, the total NA yields of EMImBr and EMPyrBr were as high as 3.1 ± 0.3 ng/mg, and 10.2 ± 0.2 ng/mg, respectively. These yields are on the same order of magnitude as those of purified polyDADMAC (i.e., 8-10 ng/mg), an accepted precursor for *N*-nitrosamines as DBPs in drinking water.⁴²

Under all reaction conditions studied, EMPyrBr produces a higher amount of NMEA than EMImBr. Mechanisms for NA generation from compounds structurally similar to EMPyrBr (i.e. PolyDADMAC) have been previously reported.^{46,52} The pyrrolidinium cation moiety has a very similar structure to polyDADMAC, so EMPyrBr likely generates NAs following analogous reaction pathways. A proposed pathway for the generation of NMEA from the chloramination of EMPyrBr is proposed in **Figure 2.3**.



Figure 2.3 – A proposed mechanism for the generation of NMEA from the chloramination of an EMPyr cation

Imidazolium ring structures may undergo hydrolysis to open ring structures under oxidative conditions,^{21,23,53,54} and ring opening may similarly be achieved by hydrolysis under alkaline conditions.⁵⁵ However, there is a substantial energy barrier to ring opening of imidazolium moieties by hydrolysis,⁵³ which may cause lower overall NA yield of EMImBr of NAs than from EMPyrBr.



Figure 2.4 - NMEA and NPyr yields from 250 μ M of (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr with increasing dose of chloramine at μ M concentrations. Results are reported with standard deviation from n = 3 samples in each case.

2.4 Conclusions

This study confirms that the selected ionic liquids are capable of acting as precursors to NAs under laboratory conditions. Yields of NAs from ILs were similar to yields of NDMA from purified polyDADMAC. ⁴² Yields of NAs from EMImBr were consistently lower than those from EMPyrBr. This difference in NA yields may be due to the difference in relative structural stabilities of ring structures, as there is a significant energy barrier to ring opening of imidazolium cation moieties by hydrolysis.⁵³

Precursors concentrations used in these experiments were high, but guidelines for NA concentrations in drinking water range from 10-100 ng/L.⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰ The results suggest that disposal of wastes containing high concentrations of ILs should be properly managed to avoid release to water sources to help prevent increases of NAs in drinking water.

Although some IL cations share structural similarity with polyDADMAC, it is important to highlight the differences between the how ILs and polyDADMAC can contribute to increases in NA concentrations in drinking water. PolyDADMAC is deliberately added at 0.1 – 0.2 mg/L concentrations during flocculation.⁶¹ This is a consistent concentration that can increase NDMA concentrations detectable amounts during water treatment. On the other hand, ILs are anticipated as environmental contaminants, and could be released by either accidental release(s) or continuous low-level release through aqueous waste streams.¹² In either case, it is reasonable to expect that ILs released to environmental source water would become extremely dilute in the environment. Furthermore, ILs are expensive, and so in cases where ILs are continuously released through waste streams, there are substantial economic incentives to minimize loss of ILs.¹² If ILs are released to environmental fresh water sourced for drinking water, they

should be expected to exist at low concentrations, contributing minimally to final concentrations of NAs. Therefore ILs cannot possibly act as NA precursors at nearly the same scale as polyDADMAC except in special circumstances, such as through accidental releases of large volumes of ILs, or in cases where ILs might be used to desalinate or otherwise treat water.^{8,24,25,28} Therefore ILs should be expected to have minimal impact on drinking water quality in most cases.

2.5 References

- 1. Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D. Ionic liquids: solvent properties and organic reactivity. *J. Phys. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *18*, 275-297.
- 2. Cevasco, G.; Chiappe, C. Are ionic liquids a proper solution to current environmental challenges? *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16*, 2375-2385.
- 3. Pilli, S. R.; Banerjee, T.; Mohanty, K. 1-Butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate as a green solvent for the extraction of endosulfan from aqueous solution using supported liquid membrane. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *257*, 56-65.
- Earle, M. J.; Esperança, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Widegren, J. A. The distillation and volatility of ionic liquids. *Nature* 2006, 439, 831-834.
- 5. Rogers, R. D.; Seddon, K. R., Eds.; In *Ionic Liquids: Industrial Applications for Green Chemistry;* American Chemical Society: USA, 2002; pp 488.
- 6. Janiczek, P.; Kalb, R. S.; Thonhauser, G.; Gamse, T. Carbon dioxide absorption in a technical-scale-plant utilizing an imidazolium based ionic liquid. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *97*, 20-25.
- 7. Maase, M.; Massonne, K.; Vagt, U. BASIL[™]—BASF's Processes Based on Ionic Liquids. <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/technical-documents/articles/chemfiles/basil-basf-s-</u> <u>processes.html</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).
- Zhong, Y.; Feng, X.; Wang, X.; Huang, K.; Gnanou, Y.; Lai, Z. Using UCST Ionic Liquid as a Draw Solute in Forward Osmosis to Treat High-Salinity Water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 50, 1039-1045.
- 9. Zhu, S.; Wu, Y.; Chen, Q.; Yu, Z.; Wang, C.; Jin, S.; Ding, Y.; Wu, G. Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids and its application: a mini-review. *Green Chem.* **2006**, *8*, 325-327.
- 10. Amde, M.; Liu, J.; Pang, L. Environmental Application, Fate, Effects, and Concerns of Ionic Liquids: A Review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 12611-12627.
- 11. Cvjetko Bubalo, M.; Radošević, K.; Radojčić Redovniković, I.; Halambek, J.; Gaurina Srček, V. Review: A brief overview of the potential environmental hazards of ionic liquids. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2014**, *99*, 1-12.
- 12. Mehrkesh, A.; Karunanithi, A. Life Cycle Perspectives on Aquatic Ecotoxicity of Common Ionic Liquids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 6814-6821.
- 13. Costa, S. P. F.; Pinto, P. C. A. G.; Lapa, R. A. S.; Saraiva, M. L. M. F. S. Toxicity assessment of ionic liquids with Vibrio fischeri: An alternative fully automated methodology. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2015**, *284*, 136-142.
- 14. Kulacki, K. J.; Lambert, G. A. Toxicity of imidazolium ionic liquids to freshwater algae. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 104-110.
- 15. Tsarpali, V.; Dailianis, S. Toxicity of two imidazolium ionic liquids, [bmim][BF4] and [omim][BF4], to standard aquatic test organisms: Role of acetone in the induced toxicity. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2015**, *117*, 62-71.
- 16. Richardson, S. D.; Kimura, S. Y. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *88(1)*, 546-582.
- 17. Richardson, S. D.; Ternes, T. A. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 398-428.
- 18. Larson, J. H.; Frost, P. C.; Lamberti, G. A. Variable toxicity of ionic liquid--forming chemicals to *Lemna minor* and the influence of dissolved organic matter. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2008**, *27*, 676-681.
- 19. Docherty, K. M.; Aiello, S. W.; Buehler, B. K.; Jones, S. E.; Szymczyna, B. R.; Walker, K. A. Ionic liquid biodegradability depends on specific wastewater microbial consortia. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *136*, 160-166.
- 20. Markiewicz, M.; Jungnickel, C.; Cho, C.; Stolte, S. Mobility and biodegradability of an imidazolium based ionic liquid in soil and soil amended with waste sewage sludge. *Environ. Sci. Process Impacts* **2015**, *17*, 1462-1469.
- 21. Calza, P.; Vione, D.; Fabbri, D.; Aigotti, R.; Medana, C. Imidazolium-based ionic liquids in water: assessment of photocatalytic and photochemical transformation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 10951-10958.
- 22. Calza, P.; Noè, G.; Fabbri, D.; Santoro, V.; Minero, C.; Vione, D.; Medana, C. Photoinduced transformation of pyridinium-based ionic liquids, and implications for their photochemical behavior in surface waters. *Water Res.* **2017**, *122*, 194-206.
- 23. Pati, S. G.; Arnold, W. A. Photochemical transformation of four ionic liquid cation structures in aqueous solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 11780-11787.
- 24. Fan, X.; Liu, H.; Gao, Y.; Zou, Z.; Craig, V. S.; Zhang, G.; Liu, G. Forward-osmosis desalination with poly(ionic liquid) hydrogels as smart draw agents. *Advanced Materials* **2016**, *28*, 4156-4161.
- 25. Zeweldi, H. G.; Limjuco, L. A.; Bendoy, A. P.; Kim, H.; Park, M. J.; Shon, H. K.; Johnson, E. M.; Lee, H.; Chung, W.; Nisola, G. M. The potential of monocationic imidazolium-,

phosphonium-, and ammonium-based hydrophilic ionic liquids as draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2018**, 444, 94-106.

- 26. Park, J.; Joo, H.; Noh, M.; Namkoong, Y.; Lee, S.; Jung, K. H.; Ahn, H. R.; Kim, S.; Lee, J.; Yoon, J. H.; Lee, Y. Systematic structure control of ammonium iodide salts as feasible UCST-type forward osmosis draw solutes for the treatment of wastewater. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2018**, *6*, 1255-1265.
- 27. Rabiee, H.; Jin, B.; Yun, S.; Dai, S. Gas-responsive cationic microgels for forward osmosis desalination. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *347*, 424-431.
- 28. Mahto, A.; Mondal, D.; Polisetti, V.; Bhatt, J.; R, N. M.; Prasad, K.; Nataraj, S. K. Sustainable water reclamation from different feed streams by forward osmosis process using deep eutectic solvents as reusable draw solution. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *56*, 14623-14632.
- 29. Malefetse, T. J.; Mamba, B. B.; Krause, R. W.; Mahlambi, M. M. Cyclodextrin-ionic liquid polyurethanes for application in drinking water treatment. *Water SA* **2009**, *35*, 729-734.
- 30. Hussin, N. H.; Yusoff, I.; Alias, Y.; Mohamad, S.; Rahim, N. Y.; Ashraf, M. A. Ionic liquid as a medium to remove iron and other metal ions: a case study of the North Kelantan Aquifer, Malaysia. *Environ. Earth Sci.* **2014**, *71*, 2105-2113.
- 31. Chen, Q.; Xu, W.; Ge, Q. Novel multicharge hydroacid complexes that effectively remove heavy metal ions from water in forward osmosis processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *52*, 4464-4471.
- 32. United States Environmental Protection Agency integrated risk information system. <u>https://www.epa.gov/iris</u> (accessed April 17, 2016).
- 33. NTP (National Toxicology Program) *Report on Carcinogens, 14th Edition;* United States department of health and human services: Research Triangle Park, NC, USA, 2016.
- 34. United States National Library of Medicine: toxicology data network integrated risk information system: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search2/r?dbs+iris:@term+@DOCN0+0045</u> (accessed August 10, 2018).
- 35. Wang, W.; Ren, S.; Zhang, H.; Yu, J.; An, W.; Hu, J.; Yang, M. Occurrence of nine nitrosamines and secondary amines in source water and drinking water: Potential of secondary amines as nitrosamine precursors. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 4930-4938.
- 36. Mitch, W. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from dimethylamine during chlorination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36*, 588-595.

- 37. Choi, J.; Valentine, R. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from reaction of monochloramine: a new disinfection by-product. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 817-824.
- 38. Kosaka, K.; Asami, M.; Konno, Y.; Oya, M.; Kunikane, S. Identification of Antiyellowing Agents as Precursors of *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine Production on Ozonation from Sewage Treatment Plant Influent. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 5236-5241.
- 39. Le Roux, J.; Gallard, H.; Croué, J.; Papot, S.; Deborde, M. NDMA formation by chloramination of ranitidine: kinetics and mechanism. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 11095-11103.
- 40. Kosaka, K.; Asami, M.; Ohkubo, K.; Iwamoto, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Koshino, H.; Echigo, S.; Akiba, M. Identification of a new *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine precursor in sewage containing industrial effluents. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2014**, *48*, 11243-11250.
- 41. Hanigan, D.; Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Zhao, Y.; Andrews, S.; Zhang, J.; Herckes, P.; Westerhoff, P. Methadone contributes to *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine formation in surface waters and wastewaters during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* **2015**, *2*, 151-157.
- 42. Zeng, T.; Li, R. J.; Mitch, W. A. Structural modifications to quaternary ammonium polymer coagulants to inhibit *n*-nitrosamine formation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 4778-4787.
- 43. Kemper, J. M.; Walse, S. S.; Mitch, W. A. Quaternary amines as nitrosamine precursors: a role for consumer products? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 1224-1231.
- Park, S. H.; Padhye, L. P.; Wang, P.; Cho, M.; Kim, J.; Huang, C. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation potential of amine-based water treatment polymers: Effects of in situ chloramination, breakpoint chlorination, and pre-oxidation. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2015, 282, 133-140.
- 45. Shen, R.; Andrews, S. A. NDMA formation kinetics from three pharmaceuticals in four water matrices. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 5687-5694.
- 46. Park, S.; Wei, S.; Mizaikoff, B.; Taylor, A. E.; Favero, C.; Huang, C. Degradation of aminebased water treatment polymers during chloramination as *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1360-1366.
- 47. Thuy Pham, T. P.; Cho, C.; Yun, Y. Environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: A review. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, 352-372.
- 48. Qian, Y.; Wu, M.; Wang, W.; Chen, B.; Zheng, H.; Krasner, S. W.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Determination of 14 nitrosamines at nanogram per liter levels in drinking water. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 1330-1336.

- 49. Chen, B.; Qian, Y.; Wu, M.; Zhu, L.; Hu, B.; Li, X. F. Identification of precursors and mechanisms of tobacco-specific nitrosamine formation in water during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 459-456.
- 50. Zhou, W.; Boyd, J. M.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Formation of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine and two new n-containing disinfection byproducts from chloramination of water containing diphenylamine. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 8443-8448.
- 51. Health Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-</u> <u>quality-guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html#s1</u> (accessed July 6, 2018).
- 52. Dai, N.; Mitch, W. A. Relative importance of *n*-nitrosodimethylamine compared to total *n*-nitrosamines in drinking waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 3648-3656.
- 53. Dong, H.; Gu, F.; Li, M.; Lin, B.; Si, Z.; Hou, T.; Yan, F.; Lee, S.; Li, Y. Improving the alkaline stability of imidazolium cations by substitution. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* **2014**, *15*, 3006-3014.
- 54. Munoz, M.; Domínguez, Zhara M. de Pedro; Quintanilla, A.; Casas, J. A. C.; Rodriguez, J. J. Ionic liquids breakdown by Fenton oxidation. *Catalysis today* **2015**, *240*, 16-21.
- 55. Hollóczki, O.; Terleczky, P.; Szieberth, D.; Mourgas, G.; Gudat, D.; Nyulászi, L. Hydrolysis of imidazole-2-ylidenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 780-789.
- 56. Government of Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/healthy-living-vie-saine/water-nitrosodimethylamine-eau/index-eng.php?page=2#a1</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).
- 57. Government of Ontario technical support document for Ontario drinking water standards objectives and guidelines. <u>https://www.ontario.ca/document/technicalsupport-document-ontario-drinking-water-standards-objectives-and-guidelines</u> (accessed April 5, 2016).
- 58. National Health and Medical Research Council, National Resource Management Ministerial Council: Australian drinking water guidelines. Canberra, Australia. *2009*.
- 59. Government of Massachussets drinking water standards and guidelines. <u>https://www.mass.gov/guides/drinking-water-standards-and-guidelines</u> (accessed June 8, 2018).
- 60. California Environmental Protection Agency state water uses control board NDMA and other nitrosamines drinking water issues.

<u>http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/NDMA.shtml</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).

61. AWWA Staff. *Operational control of coagulation and filtration processes (M61);* American Water Works Association: Denver, 2010.

3 Evaluating the persistence of 1-ethyl-3-methlyimidazolum bromide during chloramination

3.1 Introduction

In chapter two, it was observed that both of the selected ionic liquids (ILs), 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr) and 1-ethyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium bromide (EMPyrBr), could act as precursors to previously identified *N*-nitrosamine (NA) disinfection byproducts (DBPs) when treated with monochloramine (NH₂Cl). During NH₂Cl treatment, other NA precursors such as ranitidine, can reach molar yields of *N*nitrosodimethylamine molar yields up to 60%.¹ The maximum observed molar yield of NMEA from EMPyrBr was 8.0 ± 0.1 ng NMEA/mg EMPyr, or a 0.0013% molar yield. The maximum observed molar yield of NPyr from EMPyrBr was 2.3 ± 0.1 ng NPyr/mg EMPyr, or a 0.00049% molar yield. Yields of *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA) from the chloramination of EMImBr were especially low, with the maximum observed molar yield of NMEA from EMImBr at 3.1 ± 0.3 (ng NMEA)/(mg EMImBr), or 0.00055%. The NA yields from either IL were therefore quite low.

Productive NA precursors like ranitidine contain 3° amines, which are generally more productive NA precursors than 4° amines, as are found in ILs. In the proposed reaction mechanism by which polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (polyDADMAC), an NA precursor that contains a 4° amine in a heterocyclic ring structure, the heterocyclic ring structure must be broken, generating 3° amine intermediates.² If ring breakdown does not take place, the formation of NAs during NH₂Cl treatment would also therefore be effectively prevented. If the selected cation species are resistant to oxidation by NH₂Cl, keeping the

ring structures intact, it could help explain the relatively low yields of NAs cationic heterocycles like EMPyr, EMIm, and polyDADMAC.

It was unclear how resistant EMImBr might be to oxidation by NH₂Cl. Since the NA yield from the reaction of EMImBr and NH₂Cl, it was possible that a substantial amount of EMImBr remained after 24 h of chloramination. On the other hand, imidazolium cation moieties have been previously observed to degrade under oxidative reaction conditions.³⁻⁶ Therefore it was unclear whether the EMIm cation should be expected to breakdown during NH₂Cl treatment.

One of the premises on which original hypothesis of this thesis was justified is that ILs may contaminate drinking water sources. Although ILs may act as NA precursors, it would also be relevant to understand whether or not ILs would resist breakdown during disinfection, as then consumers would directly consume ILs through contaminated drinking water. Therefore a liquid chromatography system with UV detector (LC-UV) was used to quantify EMImBr after treatment with NH₂Cl. EMImBr is amenable to detection by LC-UV, which allows for rapid quantification of the analyte.⁶ Quantifying EMImBr after NH₂Cl treatment would provide perspective on both (a) yields of *N*-nitrosamines re-framed as a percentage of degraded precursor, and (b) the stability of EMImBr in reaction with NH₂Cl, which would be indicative of whether or not ILs in contaminated source water would also be found in finished drinking water. No attempt was made to quantify EMPyrBr post-reaction, however, because it is not amenable to detection by LC-UV.

3.2 Methods and Materials

LC-MS grade acetonitrile and water were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Fairlawn, NJ, USA). HPLC grade ammonium acetate, glacial acetic acid, and 1-ethyl-3-

methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr) (≤99%) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) solution (reagent grade, 10-15% available chlorine) was obtained from Acros Organics (Fair Lawn, NJ, USA). All glassware used was either new and clean from the manufacturer, or washed as described in **section 2.2.1**.

3.2.1 Detection and quantification of 1-ethyl-3-methlyimidazolium bromide by LC-UV

Liquid chromatography with a UV detector (LC-UV) was used for detection, and quantification of EMImBr was adapted from the previously established method by Pati et al.⁶ Dr. Ping Jiang replicated and optimized this method using an Agilent 1100 series LC system with a variable wavelength UV detector (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA).

LC-UV quantification was conducted by injecting 20 μ L of sample, followed by separation using an isocratic elution of 10% mobile phase A (acetonitrile) with 90% mobile phase B (10 mM ammonium acetate with 0.1% v/v acetic acid) at a flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹ on a 100 mm x 3 mm ID mm C₈ column with 2.6 μ m particle size. Detection and quantification of EMImBr was achieved by measuring absorbance at 210 nm, as per the procedure by Pati et al.⁶

Quantification of EMImBr was achieved by use of external calibration curves. A 50.0 mM standard of EMImBr was prepared by diluting 389 mg in 40.0 mL of Optima LC-MS grade water. A 1.00 mM standard of EMImBr was prepared by diluting 200 µL of 50.0 mM EMImBr to 10.0 mL in water. From this 1.00 mM EMImBr standard, samples were prepared to 20, 50, 80, 100, and 200 µM EMImBr in triplicate, and results were collected to build a

calibration curve. Calibration samples were prepared and analyzed in duplicate. Calibration curve samples were prepared and analyzed within the 24 h prior to sample analysis.

3.2.2 NH₂Cl – ionic liquid reaction sample preparation

NH₂Cl and pH 8.4 B(OH)₃ buffer was prepared freshly as described in **section 2.2.3**. Samples of EMImBr were treated with NH₂Cl in two separate procedures. In the first sample set, EMImBr formation potential samples were prepared to a constant 2:1 molar ratio of [EMImBr]:[NH₂Cl]. Sample component volumes and final concentrations are summarized in **Table 3.1**. Samples were allowed to react for 24 h. Sample aliquots of 1.00 mL were taken from these reactions, diluted to a 100 µM target concentration of EMImBr (assuming 100% recovery of EMImBr), and analyzed by LC-UV. The dilution factor varied sample-to-sample (i.e. 0.50 mM EMImBr samples required a 5x dilution, 1.00 mM EMImBr samples required 10x dilution, etc.). These samples were prepared and analyzed in triplicate for each concentration. The remaining 5.00 mL of sample was quenched by the addition of ascorbic acid, extracted as described in **section 2.2.2**, and analyzed for NMEA content. NMEA detected from these samples was reported in the previous chapter in **Figure 2.4**. **Table 3.1** - Reaction components, respective volumes, and final reactant concentrationsused in the first set of reactions prepared for quantification of EMImBr after NH_2Cl treatment. All samples were prepared in triplicate.

		[EMImBr] : [NH ₂ Cl], mM					
		[0.50]	[1.00]	[2.00]	[3.00]	[5.00]	
		: [0.25]	: [0.50]	: [1.00]	: [1.50]	: [2.50]	
action components	100 mM NH2Cl	15 μL	30 µL	60 µL	90 µL	150 µL	
	100 mM B(OH) ₃ buffer, pH 8.4	1200 µL	1200 µL	1200 µL	1200 µL	1200 µL	
	50.0 mM [EMImBr]	60 µL	120 µL	240 µL	360 µL	600 µL	
Rea	Water (Optima)	4725 μL	4650 μL	4500 μL	4350 µL	4050 μL	

A second set of EMImBr-NH₂Cl treatment samples was prepared to assess degradation of EMImBr during NH₂Cl treatment at concentrations close to those used during disinfection at water treatment plants (~1.5-3 mg/L NH₂Cl).⁷ NH₂Cl was freshly prepared as described in **section 2.2.3**. Sample component volumes and final concentrations are summarized in **Table 3.2**. To more accurately prepare samples to low concentrations of disinfectant, 100 µL of 100 mM prepared NH₂Cl stock was diluted to 1.00 mM in LC-MS grade water to a final volume of 10.0 mL. NH₂Cl doses were varied while the concentration of EMImBr was held constant. Samples were prepared to 6.00 mL total volume. After 24 h, 1 mL aliquots were removed from each of the 6.00 mL reactions. The remaining 5.00 mL from each sample was quenched by the addition of ascorbic acid, extracted as described in **section 2.2.2**, and analyzed for NMEA content. **Table 3.2** - Reaction components, respective volumes, and final reactant concentrationsused in the second set of reactions prepared for quantification of EMImBr after NH_2Cl treatment. All samples were prepared in triplicate.

		[EMImBr] : [NH2Cl], mM					
		[10 µM] :	[50 mM] :	[100 mM] :	[150 mM] :		
		[100 mM]	[100 mM]	[100 mM]	[100 mM]		
Reaction components	1.00 mM NH ₂ Cl	60 µL	300 µL	600 µL	900 µL		
	100 mM B(OH)₃ buffer, pH 8.4	600 μL	600 µL	600 μL	600 μL		
	1 mM EMImBr	600 μL	600 μL	600 µL	600 µL		
	Water (Optima)	4740 μL	4500 μL	4200 μL	3900 μL		

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Initial assessment of EMImBr degradation under chloramine reaction

conditions

Calibration samples were prepared to a concentration range of $20 - 200 \mu$ M EMImBr. The first calibration curve was prepared and analyzed immediately prior to quantification of EMImBr in the first sample set and is plotted below in **Figure 3.1**. Linearity was acceptable, with an R² of 0.989. Calibration samples were only prepared in duplicate, and samples were to be prepared to concentrations in the middle of the calibration range, so limits of detection and quantification were not calculated.



Figure 3.1 – The calibration curve samples collected immediately prior to the assessment of the first EMImBr–monochloramine reaction sample set. Samples were prepared in duplicate at each concentration.

Each sample was diluted from mM concentration levels to a target concentration of 100 μ M EMImBr (assuming EMImBr was 100% resistant to breakdown during NH₂Cl treatment). In **Figure 3.2**, these diluted samples are compared to the 100 μ M standard prepared for use in the external calibration curve. In **Figure 3.2**, it appears that the concentration of EMImBr increased in each sample that had been treated with NH₂Cl. However, these apparent increases are questionable. From **Figure 3.2**, it was back-calculated that 100 μ M standards were determined to have an EMImBr concentration of 90 μ M, and so samples may have been either improperly prepared or quantified. There was also a possibility of sample dilution error, as each of these samples had been individually diluted from millimolar concentrations to a target concentration of 100 μ M. In addition, because sample analyses had only been conducted after 24 h, there was no way to attribute an increase in UV absorbance to the influence of the reaction, as this apparent difference in absorption at 210 nm may have been due to other sample components. It was unclear

whether other reaction components, including the buffer and/or NH₂Cl, may have been directly responsible for the relatively higher sample signal when compared to the 100 mM EMImBr standard.



Figure 3.2 - Results of the quantification of EMImBr by LC-UV after initial treatments with NH₂Cl. Samples are plotted with standard deviation from triplicate samples.

3.3.2 Second assessment of EMImBr breakdown under chloramine reaction

conditions

The first reason this sample set was prepared was to assess EMImBr as a precursor of NMEA at NH₂Cl concentrations near practical doses used by municipal drinking water providers (i.e. 1.5 - 3 mg/L). When this set of samples was extracted by liquid-liquid extraction and analyzed by LC-MS/MS as described in **section 2.2.5**, NMEA concentrations were all below the method limit of detection ($\leq 0.021 \mu g/L$). Thus, no NMEA was detected from the extraction of any of the samples in this sample set.

The second reason this second sample set was prepared was to assess whether or not EMImBr would similarly undergo an apparent increase when treated with NH₂Cl, as

was observed in **Figure 3.2**. By more carefully designing this experiment, it was possible to test whether the apparent difference in EMImBr concentrations observed in **Figure 3.2** was due to increased UV absorbance, or attributable to reaction conditions or due to the addition of other sample components. Samples were prepared to 100 μ M concentrations of EMImBr to minimize the possibility of introducing sample variability by dilution error of reaction solutions. The calibration curve used to quantify samples from this set is plotted in **Figure 3.3**. The linearity was improved from the previous calibration, with an R² value of 0.9996.



Figure 3.3 – The calibration curve collected immediately prior to quantification of the second EMImBr–monochloramine reaction sample set. Standards were prepared in duplicate at each concentration.

The results from the quantification of EMImBr in the second sample set are plotted in **Figure 3.4**. From this figure, it appears that there were significant increases in the apparent concentration of EMImBr after 24 h in most samples. Although NH₂Cl absorbs slightly at 210 nm, this t = 0 h to t = 24 h comparison allows for the exclusion of NH₂Cl as a direct influence on the UV absorbance of samples since t = 0 h samples did not differ significantly from the 100 μ M standard. Dilution errors could also be excluded as a source of difference between t = 0 h and t = 24 h, as in this case samples were not diluted prior to quantification.



Figure 3.4 – Concentrations of EMImBr observed in the reaction between NH₂Cl and EMImBr at low concentrations from t = 0 h to t = 24 h. The 100 μ M standard was not re-evaluated after 24 h. All points are plotted with standard deviation from n = 3 replicates.

Figure 3.4 shows that the UV signal detected increased after 24 h across most samples. This suggests that reactants are generating a product or products with higher UV absorbance than EMImBr.

There seems to be some relationship between increasing dose of NH₂Cl, and a somewhat proportional increase in apparent concentration of EMImBr in **Figure 3.4**. This is likely not attributable to the slightly alkaline conditions from the B(OH)₃ buffer. All samples were mixed with mM concentrations of B(OH)₃ buffer, whereas NH₂Cl concentrations in samples were prepared to only μ M levels. Thus, if increased pH influenced the UV signal of the samples, such as by induction of alkaline hydrolysis of EMImBr, as has been observed in imidazolium cations,⁸ one would expect a consistent

increase in signal across all samples after 24 h, regardless of NH₂Cl dose. However, the results in **Figure 3.4** are somewhat proportional to the concentrations of NH₂Cl. This suggests that the observed increases are more likely due to a product or products of the reaction between NH₂Cl and EMImBr, rather than a product of the hydrolysis of EMImBr.

The product(s) increasing the UV absorbance must elute at nearly the same time as EMImBr. EMImBr eluted from the column near the dead volume, and so resolution of EMImBr from the co-eluting product or products was not feasible using the same C₈ column used in the quantification procedure.

3.4 Conclusions

In this work, I made use of a simple, rapid LC-UV detection method for the quantification of EMImBr. Samples treated with NH₂Cl resulted in increases in sample signal that could not be attributed to an increase in the concentration of EMImBr. These observed changes are attributable to reaction conditions rather than dilution errors. Results suggest that a product is generated from the reaction of EMImBr and NH₂Cl that has a higher molar absorptivity at 210 nm than EMImBr. These results are inconclusive, but suggest that in future research it may be worthwhile to attempt to identify other major reaction products.

3.5 References

- 1. Le Roux, J.; Gallard, H.; Croué, J.; Papot, S.; Deborde, M. NDMA Formation by Chloramination of Ranitidine: Kinetics and Mechanism. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 11095-11103.
- Park, S. H.; Padhye, L. P.; Wang, P.; Cho, M.; Kim, J.; Huang, C. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation potential of amine-based water treatment polymers: Effects of in situ chloramination, breakpoint chlorination, and pre-oxidation. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2015, 282, 133-140.
- 3. Siedlecka, E. M.; Stolte, S.; Gołębiowski, M.; Nienstedt, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Thöming, J. Advanced oxidation process for the removal of ionic liquids from water: The influence of functionalized side chains on the electrochemical degradability of imidazolium cations. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *101*, 26-33.
- 4. Calza, P.; Vione, D.; Fabbri, D.; Aigotti, R.; Medana, C. Imidazolium-based ionic liquids in water: assessment of photocatalytic and photochemical transformation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 10951-10958.
- 5. Munoz, M.; Domínguez, Zhara M. de Pedro; Quintanilla, A.; Casas, J. A. C.; Rodriguez, J. J. Ionic liquids breakdown by Fenton oxidation. *Catalysis today* **2015**, *240*, 16-21.
- 6. Pati, S. G.; Arnold, W. A. Photochemical transformation of four ionic liquid cation structures in aqueous solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 11780-11787.
- Government of Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document – chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-</u> <u>quality-guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html</u> (accessed February 15, 2018).
- Dong, H.; Gu, F.; Li, M.; Lin, B.; Si, Z.; Hou, T.; Yan, F.; Lee, S.; Li, Y. Improving the alkaline stability of imidazolium cations by substitution. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* 2014, 15, 3006-3014.

4 Conclusions and Future directions

4.1 Introduction

Disinfection is necessary to prevent the spread of waterborne pathogens through drinking water.^{1,2} However, drinking water disinfection inevitably generates disinfection by-products (DBPs). Some classes of DBPs, including *N*-nitrosamines (NAs), have demonstrated significant carcinogenicity,³ and so legislation and guidelines are in place in some jurisdictions to minimize public exposure to NAs through drinking water. ⁴⁻⁸ To avoid the formation of NAs in finished drinking water, it is important to reduce the occurrence of NA precursors in source water. This includes a variety of compounds containing 2° amines, ⁹⁻¹¹ 3° amines,¹²⁻¹⁵ and 4° amines.¹⁵⁻¹⁷. Examples include many anthropogenic compounds, with over-the-counter medications like ranitidine,¹³ prescription drugs like carbamezapine,¹⁸ opiates like methadone,¹⁹ and water treatment polymers like polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (polyDADMAC).^{17,20} An emerging class of water contaminants that have the potential to be potent NA precursors are ionic liquids (ILs).

Research into uses for ILs is prolific, and a variety of uses for ILs had been identified.²¹ There are clear advantages to using ILs, in comparison to traditional organic solvents, because of their minimal vapour pressure.^{22,23} Widespread use of ILs is anticipated, and as ILs are used on an increasing scale, the chance that ILs will be released to the environment should also be expected to increase. Therefore ILs are anticipated as environmental contaminants,²⁴⁻²⁷ but they may also cause secondary impacts if drinking water sources are affected. Furthermore, ILs may also be introduced to drinking water intentionally if they are used in drinking water treatment strategies.^{28,29} Because some cations used in ILs contain 4° amines, a structural similarity to other previously identified NA precursors, we

hypothesized that ILs may act as NA precursors during monochloramine (NH₂Cl) treatment.

My work aimed to assess whether or not selected ILs could act as NA precursors under disinfection conditions. This chapter presents the conclusions from this work and suggests directions for future research.

4.2 Advancements in knowledge

4.2.1 Selected ionic liquids can generate *N*-nitrosamines in reaction with monochloramine

Both 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide (EMImBr) and 1-ethyl-1methylpyrrolidinium bromide (EMPyrBr) were evaluated for their ability to act as precursors to NAs under disinfection conditions. I prepared and analyzed formation potential (FP) samples, in which the selected ILs were treated with NH₂Cl. Both ILs selected were observed to act as NA precursors during NH₂Cl treatments. EMImBr was found act as a precursor to *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA), and EMPyrBr was found to act as a precursor to both NMEA and *N*-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr). Therefore, further assessments of EMImBr and EMPyrBr were prepared, where reactant concentrations were varied in order to compare the relative productivity of the two selected ILs during variable reaction conditions. Under all conditions, EMPyrBr was a more productive NA precursor than was EMImBr. The maximum observed yield of NMEA from the reaction of NH₂Cl and EMImBr was 3.15 ± 0.33 (ng NMEA/mg EMImBr). The maximum observed yields of NMEA and NPyr from the reaction of NH₂Cl and EMPyrBr were 8.0 ± 0.1 (ng NMEA/mg EMPyrBr) and 2.3 ± 0.1 (ng NPyr/mg EMPyrBr), respectively. These yields are of similar magnitude to that of

polyDADMAC, which has been previously observed to act as a precursor to *N*nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) during chloramination.¹⁵ At micromolar concentrations, both ILs could act as NA precursors with near-realistic DWTP doses of NH₂Cl.

These results suggest that the release of ILs into drinking water and/or source water should be prevented, emphasizing the need for responsible management and disposal of ILs after use. This may also discourage the use of ILs in water treatment technologies, as this could increase final NA concentrations in drinking water.

To evaluate the NA FP of the selected ILs under alternate conditions, reactions were also prepared to evaluate the effects of pre-oxidation by free chlorine (Cl₂) on the yields of NAs from EMImBr and EMPyrBr. A detailed account of this experiment and the results can be found in Appendix C. Experimental conditions were prepared to model another disinfection strategy wherein water is pre-treated with Cl₂, and subsequently treated with NH₂Cl for residual disinfection. NAs were not detected in any IL-NH₂Cl reaction mixtures if ILs were pre-oxidized by Cl₂. This disagrees with previous evaluations of NA FP from polyDADMAC, which is structurally similar to EMPyrBr. When polyDADMAC is pre-treated with Cl₂, and afterwards treated with NH₂Cl, polyDADMAC can still act as a precursor to NDMA.¹⁷ These apparently conflicting results cannot be explained by the data reported here, and so this require further experiments and characterization to explain how preoxidation of ILs by Cl₂ might prevent subsequent generation of NAs during NH₂Cl treatment.

4.2.2 Data suggestive of alternate product formation from reactions of imidazolium and NH₂Cl

It was important to assess the extent to which EMImBr and/or EMPyrBr were/were not degraded during chloramination; both cation moieties necessarily must degrade to act as NA precursors, and so proportions of cation degradation may be related to final yields of NAs. In order to quantify ILs in solution, Dr. Ping Jiang replicated an LC-UV detection method for the quantification of EMImBr. I applied the same LC-UV method to quantify EMPyrBr in water; however, EMPyrBr was not amenable to UV detection.

While quantifying EMImBr after 24 h NH₂Cl treatment, EMImBr concentrations appeared to increase. However, these results were replicated in a second, more carefully designed experiment, which demonstrated that this apparent increase was attributable to reaction conditions that generated a product with absorbance greater than that of EMIm at the same wavelength (210 nm). No attempt was made to identify this product(s). Further work will be required to characterize this unidentified product(s) that exhibited similar UV absorbance and chromatographic retention.

4.3 Conclusions

I successfully demonstrated that IL species can act as precursors to NAs under laboratory conditions. My findings imply that the release of ILs to the environment through aqueous waste streams should be avoided. Water treatment technologies that employ the use of ILs should also prevent the leaching of ILs into finished drinking water to prevent potential formation of NAs.

ILs have clear advantages over conventional solvents, but they must be prudently managed to ensure that they cause lesser impacts than their organic counterparts. This study emphasizes the importance of having a waste management strategy in place that does not include discharge of ILs to sources of fresh water.

These results also provide reason to be cautious about water treatment technologies using ILs. The benefits of using water treatment technology reliant on ILs (i.e. forward-osmosis desalination,³⁰⁻³⁴ and/or removal of heavy metals from water¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷) must be weighed against the potential ILs may have to increase final concentrations of NAs.

4.4 Future directions

4.4.1 Evaluation of varied reaction conditions on yields of NMEA in NH₂Cl FP reactions from both ILs

Mechanisms by which either of the selected ILs could act as NMEA precursors would require that the ring structures be opened. Ring opening of imidazolium cations by alkaline hydrolysis has been observed under alkaline conditions.³⁵⁻³⁸ Therefore, future studies should assess the influence of pH on NA yields from ILs under disinfection conditions, as it is likely that NA yields at high concentrations were limited by insufficient OH⁻ at high concentrations of reactants.

In this study, both IL cations were paired with bromide anions, so reaction yields may also have been influenced by the formation of bromamines during chloramine treatment.³⁹ Future studies may seek to assess the influence of cation pairing on the NA yields of ILs during reactions with NH₂Cl. It may also be informative to conduct non-targeted quantification of total NAs generated during disinfection of ILs. Detection and quantification of NAs by use of liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry allows for sensitive and specific detection of previously identified NA species,⁴⁰ but excludes as-of-yet unidentified NA species. Techniques have since been developed to use either iodic acid⁴¹ or UV radiation⁴² to indiscriminately liberate NO radicals from NAs, regardless of functional groups (i.e. dimethyl vs diphenylamine).^{41,42} Liberated NO then reacts with generated ozone to produce NO₂; by generating NO₂, some excited-state NO₂* is generated, which facilitates indirect quantitation of initial NAs by detection of proportional emission from NO₂* \rightarrow NO₂ de-excitation.^{41,42} These techniques allow for non-targeted quantification of total NAs.

If either technique mentioned above were applied to IL NA FP reactions, it may provide perspective on the productivity of ILs as NA precursors. In results reported herein, yields of NAs detected from NH₂Cl treatment of either IL were low. The low yields of the specific NAs detected in my work may be re-framed in context of total NA yields.

4.4.2 Non-targeted analysis of disinfection by-products from imidazolium moieties

In the reaction of EMImBr and NH₂Cl, NMEA was formed with a 0.0005 % molar yield at the highest observed yield. Therefore, it is probable that the remaining 99.9995 % of EMImBr may follow other reaction pathways to form other DBPs. No attempt was made during my research to characterize alternate products from the disinfection of imidazolium. Non-target analysis of products generated by the disinfection of imidazolium may also help to illustrate the reaction pathway by which imidazolium degradation products act as NA precursors, as this remains unclear.

These experiments could also be an opportunity to examine the extent to which imidazolium cations break down, or resist breakdown, during treatment with NH₂Cl. It is unclear whether EMIm degraded during NH₂Cl treatment. If EMIm does not degrade during NH₂Cl treatment, NA formation potential could be attributable to impurities.

It may also be helpful to separately analyze products from NH₂Cl treatment of ethyldeuterated imidazolium and methyl-deuterated imidazolium analogues. By identifying deuterated products (i.e. NMEA-D₃ or NMEA-D₅), it may be feasible to identify which parts of the imidazolium moiety are finally incorporated into NA products.

Non-targeted analysis of alternate products from the disinfection of EMImBr may also be indicative of degradation pathways of other imidazolium-containing heterocycles from natural waters. Such natural compounds include histidine and guanine, which have not been characterized for their ability and/or tendency to form DBPs.

4.4.3 Non-targeted analysis of disinfection by-products of pyrrolidinium moieties

Pyrrolidinium cations are similar in structure to polyDADMAC, as they share fivemembered heterocyclic ring structures that have positive charges centered on aliphatic 4° amines. Non-targeted analysis of pyrrolidinium under varied disinfection conditions could be helpful because DBPs generated by the reaction of pyrrolidinium could allow for the characterization of aliphatic 4° amine breakdown products. This would provide insight into the breakdown mechanisms of pyrrolidinium, as well as providing an opportunity to survey for alternate DBPs that may be formed from similar molecules like polyDADMAC.

Non-targeted analysis of products from the disinfection of pyrrolidinium may also indicate the reaction pathways by which EMPyrBr may act as a precursor to NPyr. The mechanism by which EMPyrBr may act as a precursor to NPyr has not been evaluated.

These experiments could also be an opportunity to evaluate the extent to which pyrrolidinium cations break down, or resist breakdown, during treatment with NH₂Cl. If EMPyr does not degrade during NH₂Cl treatment, NA formation potential could be attributable to impurities.

4.4.4 Non-targeted analysis of products from the chlorination of EMPyr

When either EMImBr or EMPyrBr were pre-oxidized by Cl₂, subsequent treatment with NH₂Cl did not yield detectable concentrations of NAs. This is unexpected, as previous evaluations of Cl₂ pre-oxidation on final yields of NDMA from polyDADMAC have generated detectable amounts of NDMA.¹⁷ Therefore, it may be worthwhile to evaluate how chlorination may structurally modify EMIm and/or EMPyr to prevent the subsequent generation of NAs in reactions with NH₂Cl.

4.4.5 Evaluation of *N*-nitrosamine formation potential of ionic liquids after UV preoxidation

An important premise for my research was that ILs are anticipated as environmental water contaminants. Therefore, ILs may also be expected to contaminate water sources used to supply drinking water. However, because ILs may also be transformed or degraded by the chemistry of their aquatic environment prior to uptake by drinking water treatment plants (DWTPs), this premise may be limited in scope.

The environmental half-lives of some ILs have been shown to persist for a few days or up to a month, and are dependent on weather, sunlight, and dissolved organic carbon concentrations.^{43,44} This indicates that ILs readily degrade in water, which could result in products that are NA precursors after uptake into a DWTP. Among the products that have been characterized after UV degradation of imidazolium, products with opened ring structures have been characterized, including products with 3° amines.⁴⁴ This is significant because tertiary amines could plausibly be more productive NA precursors than 4° aromatic amines.¹⁵

4.5 References

- 1. Rogers, R. D.; Seddon, K. R., Eds.; In *Ionic liquids: industrial applications for green chemistry;* American Chemical Society: USA, 2002; pp 488.
- 2. Wang, C.; Luo, H.; Li, H.; Dai, S. Direct UV-spectroscopic measurement of selected ionicliquid vapors. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 7246-7250.
- Earle, M. J.; Esperança, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Widegren, J. A. The distillation and volatility of ionic liquids. *Nature* 2006, 439, 831-834.
- 4. Thuy Pham, T. P.; Cho, C.; Yun, Y. Review: Environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: A review. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, 352-372.
- 5. Cvjetko Bubalo, M.; Radošević, K.; Radojčić Redovniković, I.; Halambek, J.; Gaurina Srček, V. Review: A brief overview of the potential environmental hazards of ionic liquids. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2014**, *99*, 1-12.
- 6. Cevasco, G.; Chiappe, C. Are ionic liquids a proper solution to current environmental challenges? *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16*, 2375-2385.
- 7. Richardson, S. D.; Ternes, T. A. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 398-428.
- 8. Cai, Y.; Hu, X. A critical review on draw solutes development for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2016**, *391*, 16-29.
- 9. Johnson, D. J.; Suwaileh, W. A.; Mohammed, A. W.; Hilal, N. Osmotic's potential: An overview of draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2018**, *434*, 100-120.
- 10. Zeng, T.; Li, R. J.; Mitch, W. A. Structural modifications to quaternary ammonium polymer coagulants to inhibit *N*-nitrosamine formation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 4778-4787.
- 11. Park, S.; Wei, S.; Mizaikoff, B.; Taylor, A. E.; Favero, C.; Huang, C. Degradation of aminebased water treatment polymers during chloramination as *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1360-1366.
- Chempath, S.; Einsla, B. R.; Pratt, L. R.; Macomber, C. S.; Boncella, J. M.; Rau, J. A.; Pivovar, B. S. Mechanism of tetraalkylammonium headgroup degradation in alkaline fuel cell membranes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2008**, *112*, 3179-3182.
- 13. Ye, Y.; Elabd, Y. A. Relative chemical stability of imidazolium-based alkaline anion exchange polymerized ionic liquids. *Macromolecules* **2011**, *44*, 8494-8503.

- 14. Dong, H.; Gu, F.; Li, M.; Lin, B.; Si, Z.; Hou, T.; Yan, F.; Lee, S.; Li, Y. Improving the alkaline stability of imidazolium cations by substitution. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* **2014**, *15*, 3006-3014.
- 15. Trogolo, D.; Arey, J. S. Equilibria and speciation of chloramines, bromamines, and bromochloramines in water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 128-140.
- 16. Pati, S. G.; Arnold, W. A. Photochemical transformation of four ionic liquid cation structures in aqueous solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 11780-11787.
- 17. Calza, P.; Vione, D.; Fabbri, D.; Aigotti, R.; Medana, C. Imidazolium-based ionic liquids in water: assessment of photocatalytic and photochemical transformation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 10951-10958.

Appendix

Appendix A: Optimizing reaction conditions to detect *N*-nitrosamines generated by the chloramination of selected ionic liquids

A.1 Experimental

Reaction mixtures were prepared to explore a molar ratio of ILs and NH2Cl for the maximum formation of *N*-nitrosamines. Each mixture contained 1 mL of 50.0 mM IL stock solution and 1 mL of 100 mM borate buffer (pH = 8.4). To each reaction mixture, various amounts (25, 75, 125, 250, 500,750, and 1000 μ L) of 100 mM NH2Cl were added. Each solution was then diluted to 5.00 mL with Optima water. The final reaction conditions were 20 mM buffer with 5 mM of IL and 0.50 – 20 mM NH2Cl. After 24 h, remaining monochloramine was quenched by the addition of an excess (20 mg) of ascorbic acid. Samples were extracted by the liquid-liquid extraction method reported in the materials and methods, and quantified by a previously established LC-MS/MS detection method.³⁶

A.2 Results and Discussion

The concentrations of NAs generated in these reactions are reported in **Figure A1**. For both ILs, a 2.5 mM treatment of NH₂Cl generated acceptably high concentrations of NMEA. Although this ratio was less than ideal for the combined yield of NMEA and NPyr from the chloramination of EMPyrBr, it was optimum ratio to maximize the yield of NMEA from EMImBr. Therefore this reactant ratio (i.e., [ILs]:[NH₂Cl] = 2:1) was chosen for subsequent sample preparation.



Figure A1 – Concentrations of NMEA and NPyr from the reaction of varied doses of NH₂Cl with 5 mM of both (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr. Results are reported with standard deviation from n = 3 samples.

Appendix B: Liquid-liquid extraction and LC-MS/MS quantification of NAs

B.1 Experimental

An LLE method was developed for the extraction and pre-concentration of NAs. 500 μ L of prepared 8.00 μ g/L *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine-D₃ (NMEA-D₃) was added to samples prior to extraction as a surrogate standard for the recovery of *N*-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA) and *N*-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPyr). Aqueous samples were extracted three times each by the addition of 4.5 mL of dichloromethane (DCM) to samples in 15 mL vials, which were agitated vigorously, and vented intermittently. A total of 12-13 mL of dichloromethane was collected from each sample and evaporated down to <0.05 mL by incubation at 36°C under gentle nitrogen flow. After evaporation, NDMA-d₆ was added as an internal standard, and samples were reconstituted to 200 μ L with water. Samples were stored at 4°C and analyzed within 24 hours by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry as previously reported. ¹

Analyte recovery from LLE was assessed to evaluate whether NMEA-D₃ would be an appropriate surrogate standard to calculate corrected concentrations of NMEA and NPyr. Samples were prepared in triplicate to 0.200, 0.600, and 1.00 μ g/L of EPA 8270 IX NA mix, with 0.80 μ g/L of NMEA-D₃ in 5.00 mL of LC-MS grade water. Samples were extracted according to the procedure above, and quantified by LC-MS/MS.

B.2 Results and Discussion

It was necessary to isolate NAs from reaction mixtures in order to avoid/minimize the potential ion suppression effects, and contamination, of high concentrations of ionic liquids. In order to isolate and pre-concentrate NAs generated by the reaction of the selected ILs, a LLE technique was developed.

LLE cannot achieve the very low limits of detection possible with SPE, as SPE concentrates analytes from larger initial sample volumes. However, the FP samples generated in this work were consistently prepared to only 5 mL, so it would be impossible to achieve the enrichment factors achieved by use of SPE by Qian et al. ¹ SPE would not necessarily offer superior limits of detection for small sample volumes. LLE could be favourable when compared to SPE in this case. LLE requires less labour and has lower procedural complexity as compared to SPE. Therefore, LLE was evaluated for analyte recovery and limits of detection when paired with the MS/MS MRM mode NA quantification technique reported by Qian et al.¹

The relative recoveries of NMEA and NPyr were compared to the recovery of NMEA-D₃, and are reported in **Figure B1**. As is apparent in **Figure B1(a)** percent recovery of NMEA as compared to recovery of NMEA-D₃ was relatively proportional. This recovery was not perfectly proportional, as R₂ = 0.971, but this was still acceptable. In **Figure B1(b)**, percent recovery of NPyr as compared to NMEA-D₃ could be considered proportional, as the R² was 0.995. NPyr had consistently higher percent recovery than did NMEA-D₃; this is reflected in both the slope and Y-intercept of **Figure B1(b)** as compared to **Figure B1(a)**. The slopes from **Figure B1** were used to correct apparent NMEA and NPyr analyte recoveries in all samples that followed.

This data was also used to calculate method limits of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ). The instrument LOD and LOQ for NMEA were 0.11 and 0.38 μ g/L

respectively, while the instrument LOD and LOQ for NPyr were 0.39 and 1.2 $\mu g/L$

respectively, both based on n = 9 calibration samples prepared to 0.50 μ g/L.



Figure B1 – Relative rates of recovery from liquid-liquid extraction (a) comparing the percent recovery of NMEA to the percent recovery of NMEA-D₃, and (b) comparing the percent recovery of NPyr to the percent recovery of NMEA-D₃.

The method LOD (MLOD) and method LOQ (MLOQ) improved after I gained experience performing my procedures. When relative recovery of analytes and surrogate standards were assessed (as in **Figure B1**), average recovery of NMEA-D₃ was 39.1 ± 19.0 %. In the most recent extracted samples, average recovery of NMEA-D₃ was 70 ± 19 %. This improvement in analyte recovery led to an improvement in theoretical MLOD and MLOQ of NMEA from 80 and 260 ng/L respectively, to 21 and 79 ng/L respectively. A similar improvement was made for NPyr, as MLOD and MLOQ were improved from 60 and 192 ng/L respectively to 20 and 70 ng/L respectively. The following stands as advice for future individuals attempting similar methods. When evaporating DCM, it is easy to proceed to dryness by accident, especially if it is necessary to evaporate down to small volumes to < 50 μ L. If samples were allowed to evaporate to/near total dryness, analyte recovery was typically ~ 5-15%. Although the 12-13 mL volume of DCM collected during this LLE procedure usually evaporated in ~30-35 minutes, samples did not finish evaporating down to < 0.05 mL simultaneously. As some samples finish evaporation, they may be placed to the side until other samples finish evaporating down to the necessary volume. This is a critical point where analyte loss can occur. Because DCM is volatile, aliquots of < 0.05 mL will evaporate in a short time, even when removed from N₂ flow, leading to poor analyte recovery. Therefore, I recommend preventing analytes from evaporating by adding a small volume of water (50 – 85 μ L, depending on the volume of DCM condensate remaining) to remaining DCM to effectively "cap" these samples, and prevent analyte loss. Once water has been added, danger of condensate proceeding to dryness is reduced.

Appendix C: Pre-oxidation of ILs by free chlorine and subsequent reaction with NH₂Cl

C.1 Experimental

Chloramine can be used either as a primary or secondary disinfectant.² Therefore both EMImBr and EMPyrBr were disinfected by free chlorine with subsequent chloramination in order to discern the influence of free Cl₂ on NA yields. Free Cl₂ demand was evaluated for both ILs at varied time points to allow for the evaluation of the effect of pre-oxidation using free chlorine, as has been done previous similar primary + secondary FP experiments.³ Buffer was prepared by dissolving 17.75 g of Na₂HPO4 in 700 mL of LC-MS grade water, and adjusting pH down to 7.5 by the addition of 1 M HCl, and diluting the final volume to 1.00 L. A 150 mM stock solution of free Cl₂ was prepared by diluting 2.14 mL of 10% w/v free Cl₂ solution. Fresh stock solutions of EMImBr and EMPyrBr were prepared to 50.0 mM by dissolving 285.0 mg of EMImBr and 289.5 mg of EMPyrBr into 30.0 and 29.8 mL of LC-MS grade water respectively. Reaction mixtures were prepared by adding 1 mL of 125 mM Na₂HPO₄ pH 7.5 buffer, 500 µL of either 50.0 mM EMImBr or EMPyrBr, 500 µL of 150 mM free Cl₂, and 3.00 mL of LC-MS grade water. The final reaction conditions were 25 mM Na₂HPO₄ buffer, 5.0 mM of either EMImBr or EMPyrBr, and 15 mM free Cl₂. Samples were allowed to react until time points of 5, 15, 30, 45, 60, and 120 minutes, at which points 470 µL aliquots were removed, and diluted in 199.5 mL of LC-MS grade water for the measurement of free Cl₂ by automated amperometric forward titration of free Cl₂ (Autocat 9000, HACH). Samples were prepared and measured in triplicate to determine the exact amounts of formic acid necessary to quench residual free Cl₂ at the designated time points.

Subsequent samples were prepared to 15.0 mL with identical IL and Cl₂

concentrations as in prior samples. After designated time points (10 min, 30 min, 60 min, and 120 min), 2.50 mL aliquots from these 15.0 mL samples were transferred into vials containing exact amounts of formic acid necessary to quench remaining free Cl₂ (calculated using measurements made from the prior samples). Aliquots were agitated to ensure thorough mixing of the formic acid with the chlorinated aliquot. After agitating, 1 mL of 100 mM B(OH)₃ pH 8.4 buffer, 750 µL of 5.0 mM NH₂Cl, and water were added to a final volume of 5.00 mL. Sample conditions were either 2.5 mM EMImBr or EMPyrBr, and 7.5 mM NH₂Cl, 20 mM B(OH)₃, and 12.5 mM Na₂PO₄ buffers. Samples were allowed to react in the dark at room temperature for 24 hours before being quenched by the addition of excess ascorbic acid (20 mg). Samples were then extracted by liquid-liquid extraction as described in **Appendix B** and quantified by LC-MS/MS.¹

C.2 Results and Discussion

Both EMImBr and EMPyrBr were evaluated for their respective free chlorine demand across a 2-hour period. The free chlorine demands of both EMImBr and EMPyrBr are plotted in **Figure C1**. This figure shows that both Cl₂ was consumed in both reactions with a very small difference in overall Cl₂ demand. This figure also shows that initial Cl₂ doses were not precisely 15.0 mM, as initial dose varied by up to ± 3.5% from the extrapolated slope intercepts.

Pre-oxidation effectively prevented the generation of NAs from both IL species. No NAs were detected in samples treated with Cl₂, nor samples treated with Cl₂ and subsequent chloramination. Chlorination therefore decreased the tendency of either IL species to act as NA precursors during chloramination. It is unclear how chlorination
prevents the generation of NAs, as no attempt was made to characterize alternate reaction products.



Figure C1 – Free chlorine demand of both (a) EMImBr and (b) EMPyrBr under consistent reaction conditions. For all time points measured, results are reported with standard deviation from n=3 samples in each case.

Appendix references

1. Qian Y.; Wu M.; Wang W. et al. Determination of 14 nitrosamines at nanogram per liter levels in drinking water. *Anal Chem.* **2015**, *87(2)*, 1330-1336.

2. Government of Canada. Guidelines for canadian drinking water quality: Guideline technical document – chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-quality-guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html</u>. Updated 2008. Accessed February 15, 2018.

3. Park SH; Padhye LP; Wang P; Cho M; Kim J; Huang C. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation potential of amine-based water treatment polymers: Effects of in situ chloramination, breakpoint chlorination, and pre-oxidation. *J Hazard Mater*. **2015**, *282*, 133-140.

Bibliography

Abbott, A. P.; McKenzie, K. J. Application of ionic liquids to the electrodeposition of metals. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *8*, 4265-4279.

Abrusci, C.; Palomar, J.; Pablos, J. L.; Rodriguez, F.; Catalina, F. Efficient biodegradation of common ionic liquids by *Sphingomonas paucimobilis* bacterium. *Green Chem.* **2011**, *13*, 709-717.

Aiub, C. A. F.; Gadermaier, G.; Oliveira, I.; Felzenszwalb, I.; Ferreira, F.; Pinto, L. F. R.; Eckl, P. *N*-Nitrosodiethylamine genotoxicity in primary rat hepatocytes: Effects of cytochrome P450 induction by phenobarbital. *Toxicol. Lett.* **2011**, *206*, 139-143.

Amde, M.; Liu, J.; Pang, L. Environmental application, fate, effects, and concerns of ionic liquids: a review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 12611-12627.

AWWA Staff. *Operational control of coagulation and filtration processes (M61);* American Water Works Association: Denver, 2010.

Bailey, M. M.; Townsend, M. B.; Jernigan, P. L.; Sturdivant, J.; Hough-Troutman, W.; Rasco, J. F.; Swatloski, R. P.; Rogers, R. D.; Hood, R. D. Developmental toxicity assessment of the ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride in CD-1 mice. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 1213-1217.

Barnes, J. M.; Magee, P. N. Some toxic properties of dimethylnitrosamine. *Br. J. Ind. Med.* **1954**, *11*, 167-174.

Barton Hinkle, A. A. Barton Hinkle column: chitin company in chesterfield moves one small step beyond plastic. <u>https://www.richmond.com/opinion/our-opinion/bart-hinkle/a-barton-hinkle-column-chitin-company-in-chesterfield-moves-one/article_ea5ed0cc-d20c-5b27-865e-57f72a9382d8.html</u> (accessed July 11, 2018).

Bellar, T. A.; Lichtenberg, J. J.; Kroner, R. C. Occurrence of organohalides in chlorinated drinking waters. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1974**, *66*, 703-706.

Bernot, R. J.; Brueseke, M. A.; Evans-White, M.; Lamberti, G. A. Acute and chronic toxicity of imidazolium-based ionic liquids on *Daphnia magna*. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2005**, *24*, 87-92.

Bond, T.; Huang, J.; Templeton, M. R.; Graham, N. Occurrence and control of nitrogenous disinfection by-products in drinking water – A review. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 4341-4354.

Boyd, J. M.; Huang, L.; Xie, L.; Moe, B.; Gabos, S.; Li, X. A cell-microelectronic sensing technique for profiling cytotoxicity of chemicals. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2008**, *615*, 80-87.

Brennecke, J. F.; Gurkan, B. E. Ionic liquids for CO2 capture and emission reduction. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *1*, 3459-3464.

Brodtmann, N.; Russo, P. The Use of Chloramine for Reduction of Trihalomethanes and Disinfection of Drinking Water. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1979**, *71*, 40-42.

Bull, R. J.; Krasner, S. W.; Daniel, P. A.; Bull, R. D. *Health effects and occurrence of disinfection by-products;* AWWA Research Foundation: Denver, CO, 2001; Vol. 448, pp 397.

Cai, Y.; Hu, X. A critical review on draw solutes development for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2016**, *391*, 16-29.

California Environmental Protection Agency - state water uses control board NDMA and other nitrosamines - drinking water issues. <u>http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/NDMA.shtml</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).

Calza, P.; Noè, G.; Fabbri, D.; Santoro, V.; Minero, C.; Vione, D.; Medana, C. Photoinduced transformation of pyridinium-based ionic liquids, and implications for their photochemical behavior in surface waters. *Water Res.* **2017**, *122*, 194-206.

Calza, P.; Vione, D.; Fabbri, D.; Aigotti, R.; Medana, C. Imidazolium-based ionic liquids in water: assessment of photocatalytic and photochemical transformation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 10951-10958.

Carter, R. L.; Percival, W. H.; Roe, F. J. C. Exceptional sensitivity of mink to the hepatotoxic effects of dimethylnitrosamine. *J. Pathol.* **1969**, *97*, 79-88.

Cevasco, G.; Chiappe, C. Are ionic liquids a proper solution to current environmental challenges? *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16*, 2375-2385.

Charrois, J. W. A.; Arend, M. W.; Froese, K. L.; Hrudey, S. E. Detecting *n*-nitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 4835-4841.

Charrois, J.; Boyd, J.; Froese, K.; Hrudey, S. Occurrence of *N*-nitrosamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2007**, *6*, 103-114.

Chempath, S.; Einsla, B. R.; Pratt, L. R.; Macomber, C. S.; Boncella, J. M.; Rau, J. A.; Pivovar, B. S. Mechanism of tetraalkylammonium headgroup degradation in alkaline fuel cell membranes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2008**, *112*, 3179-3182.

Chen, B.; Qian, Y.; Wu, M.; Zhu, L.; Hu, B.; Li, X. F. Identification of precursors and mechanisms of tobacco-specific nitrosamine formation in water during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 459-456.

Chen, Q.; Xu, W.; Ge, Q. Novel multicharge hydroacid complexes that effectively remove heavy metal ions from water in forward osmosis processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *52*, 4464-4471.

Chiappe, C.; Pieraccini, D. Ionic liquids: solvent properties and organic reactivity. *J. Phys. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *18*, 275-297.

Choi, J.; Valentine, R. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from reaction of monochloramine: a new disinfection by-product. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 817-824.

Costa, S. P. F.; Pinto, P. C. A. G.; Lapa, R. A. S.; Saraiva, M. L. M. F. S. Toxicity assessment of ionic liquids with Vibrio fischeri: An alternative fully automated methodology. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2015**, *284*, 136-142.

Crews, C. Processing Contaminants: *N*-Nitrosamines. In *Encyclopedia of Food Safety*; Motarjemi, Y., Ed.; Academic Press: Waltham, 2014; pp 409-415.

Cvjetko Bubalo, M.; Radošević, K.; Radojčić Redovniković, I.; Halambek, J.; Gaurina Srček, V. Review: A brief overview of the potential environmental hazards of ionic liquids. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2014**, *99*, 1-12.

Dai, N.; Mitch, W. A. Relative importance of *n*-nitrosodimethylamine compared to total *n*-nitrosamines in drinking waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 3648-3656.

Docherty, K. M.; Aiello, S. W.; Buehler, B. K.; Jones, S. E.; Szymczyna, B. R.; Walker, K. A. Ionic liquid biodegradability depends on specific wastewater microbial consortia. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *136*, 160-166.

Dodd, D. E.; Pluta, L. J.; Sochaski, M. A.; Funk, K. A.; Thomas, R. S. Subchronic urinary bladder toxicity evaluation of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine in Fischer 344 rats. *J. Appl. Toxicol.* **2013**, *33*, 383-389.

Dong, H.; Gu, F.; Li, M.; Lin, B.; Si, Z.; Hou, T.; Yan, F.; Lee, S.; Li, Y. Improving the alkaline stability of imidazolium cations by substitution. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* **2014**, *15*, 3006-3014.

Earle, M. J.; Esperança, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Widegren, J. A. The distillation and volatility of ionic liquids. *Nature* **2006**, *439*, 831-834.

Egorova, K. S.; Ananikov, V. P. Toxicity of ionic liquids: eco(cyto)activity as complicated, but unavoidable parameter for task-specific optimization. *ChemSusChem* **2014**, *7*, 336-360.

Fan, X.; Liu, H.; Gao, Y.; Zou, Z.; Craig, V. S.; Zhang, G.; Liu, G. Forward-osmosis desalination with poly(ionic liquid) hydrogels as smart draw agents. *Adv. Mat.* **2016**, *28*, 4156-4161.

Fegade, S. L.; Trembly, J. P. Dispute over designating an ionic liquid as a green solvent. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2015**, *273*, 668.

Food and Drug Administration Code of Federal Regulations - Title 21 - Food and Drugs: CHAPTER I--FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION: SUBCHAPTER B--FOOD FOR HUMAN CONSUMPTION: Sec. 170.60 Nitrites and/or nitrates in curing premixes. **2017**.

Fortuny, A.; Coll, M. T.; Sastre, A. M. Ionic liquids as a carrier for chloride reduction from brackish water using hollow fiber renewal liquid membrane. *Desal.* **2014**, *343*, 54-59.

Frade, R. F. M.; Afonso, C. A. M. Impact of ionic liquids in environment and humans: An overview. *Hum. Exp. Toxicol.* **2010**, *29*, 1038-1054.

Gao, X.; Fan, J.; Zhu, G. F.; Wang, X. L.; Wang, J. J. Molecularly imprinted SPE coupled with HPLC for the selective separation and enrichment of alkyl imidazolium ionic liquids in environmental water samples. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2013**, *36*, 3277-3284.

García-Alvarez-Coque, M. C.; Ruiz-Angel, M. J.; Berthod, A.; Carda-Broch, S. On the use of ionic liquids as mobile phase additives in high-performance liquid chromatography. A review. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2015**, *883*, 1-21.

Ge, D.; Lee, H. K. Ionic liquid based hollow fiber supported liquid phase microextraction of ultraviolet filters. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2012**, *1229*, 1-5.

Government of Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/healthy-living-vie-saine/water-</u> <u>nitrosodimethylamine-eau/index-eng.php?page=2#a1</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).

Government of Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document – chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-quality-</u> <u>guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html</u> (accessed February 15, 2018).

Government of Massachussets drinking water standards and guidelines. <u>https://www.mass.gov/guides/drinking-water-standards-and-guidelines</u> (accessed June 8, 2018).

Government of Ontario technical support document for Ontario drinking water standards objectives and guidelines. <u>https://www.ontario.ca/document/technical-support-document-ontario-drinking-water-standards-objectives-and-guidelines</u> (accessed April 5, 2016).

Grellier, J.; Rushton, L.; Briggs, D. J.; Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. Assessing the human health impacts of exposure to disinfection by-products — A critical review of concepts and methods. *Environ. Int.* **2015**, *78*, 61-81.

Guo, Y. C.; Krasner, S. W. Occurrence of primidone, carbamazepine, caffeine, and precursors for *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water sources impacted by wastewater. *J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc.* **2009**, *45*, 58-67.

Gutowski, K. E.; Broker, G. A.; Willauer, H. D.; Huddleston, J. G.; Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Controlling the aqueous miscibility of ionic liquids: aqueous biphasic systems of water-miscible ionic liquids and water-structuring salts for recycle, metathesis, and separations. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 6632-6633.

Haerens, K.; Van Deuren, S.; Matthijs, E.; Van der Bruggen, B. Challenges for recycling ionic liquids by using pressure driven membrane processes. *Green Chem.* **2010**, *12*, 2182-2188.

Hanigan, D.; Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Zhao, Y.; Andrews, S.; Zhang, J.; Herckes, P.; Westerhoff, P. Methadone contributes to *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine formation in surface waters and wastewaters during chloramination. *Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett.* **2015**, *2*, 151-157.

Hardacre, C.; Holbrey, J. D.; Mullan, C. L.; Youngs, T. G. A.; Bowron, D. T. Small angle neutron scattering from 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate ionic liquids ([C(n)mim][PF(6)], n=4, 6, and 8). *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *133*, 074510.

Harris, R.; Page, T. *The implications of cancer-causing substances in the Mississippi River waters;* Environmental Defense Fund: Washington, D.C., 1974; .

Havelaar, A.; De Hollander, A.; Teunis, P.; Evers, E.; Van Kranen, H.; Versteegh, J.; Van Koten, J.; Slob, W. Balancing the risks and benefits of drinking water disinfection: disability adjusted life-years on the scale. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2000**, *108*, 315-321.

Health Canada guidelines for Canadian drinking water quality: guideline technical document – chloramines. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/services/publications/healthy-living/guidelines-canadian-drinking-water-quality-</u> <u>guideline-technical-document-chloramines.html#s1</u> (accessed July 6, 2018).

Hebert, A.; Forestier, D.; Lenes, D.; Benanou, D.; Jacob, S.; Arfi, C.; Lambolez, L.; Levi, Y. Innovative method for prioritizing emerging disinfection by-products (DBPs) in drinking water on the basis of their potential impact on public health. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, 3147-3165.

Hecht, S. S.; Lijinsky, W.; Kovatch, R. M.; Chung, F. -.; Saavedra, J. E. Comparative tumorigenicity of *N*-nitroso-2-hydroxymorpholine, *N*-nitrosodiethanolamine and *N*-nitrosomorpholine in A/J mice and F344 rats. *Carcinogenesis* **1989**, *10*, 1475-1477.

Heckenbach, M. E.; Romero, F. N.; Green, M. D.; Halden, R. U. Meta-analysis of ionic liquid literature and toxicology. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *150*, 266-274.

Hellman, B.; Tjälve, H. Effects of *N*-Nitrosopyrrolidine and *N*-Nitrosoproline on the Incorporation of "3H-Thymidine into the DNA of Various Organs of the Mouse: Tissue Specificity and Effects of Ethanol Consumption. *Acta Pharmacol. et Toxicol.* **1986**, *59*, 279-284.

Herrmann, S. S.; Granby, K.; Duedahl-Olesen, L. Formation and mitigation of *N*-nitrosamines in nitrite preserved cooked sausages. *Food Chem.* **2015**, *174*, 516-526.

Hoff, J.; Geldreich, E. Comparison of the biocidal efficiency of alternative disinfectants. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **1981**, *73*, 40-44.

Hollóczki, O.; Terleczky, P.; Szieberth, D.; Mourgas, G.; Gudat, D.; Nyulászi, L. Hydrolysis of imidazole-2-ylidenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 780-789.

Horikoshi, S.; Hamamura, T.; Kajitani, M.; Yoshizawa-Fujita, M.; Serpone, N. Green chemistry with a novel 5.8-ghz microwave apparatus. prompt one-pot solvent-free synthesis of a major ionic liquid: the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate system. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* **2008**, *12*, 1089-1093.

Hrudey, S. E. Chlorination disinfection by-products, public health risk tradeoffs and me. *Water Res.* **2009**, *43*, 2057-2092.

Hrudey, S. E.; Backer, L. C.; Humpage, A. R.; Krasner, S. W.; Michaud, D. S.; Moore, L. E.; Singer, P. C.; Stanford, B. D. Evaluating evidence for association of human bladder cancer with drinking-water chlorination disinfection by-products. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health B Crit. Rev.* **2015**, 1-29.

Hrudey, S. E.; Bull, R. J.; Cotruvo, J. A.; Paoli, G.; Wilson, M. Drinking water as a proportion of total human exposure to volatile *N*-nitrosamines. *Risk Anal.* **2013**, *33*, 2179-2208.

Hrudey, S. E.; Fawell, J. 40 years on: what do we know about drinking water disinfection by-products (DBPs) and human health? *Water Sci. Technol. Water Supply* **2015**, *15*, 667-674.

Hrudey, S. E.; Huck, P. M.; Payment, P.; Gillham, R. W.; Hrudey, E. J. Walkerton: Lessons learned in comparison with waterborne outbreaks in the developed world. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2002**, *1*, 397-407.

Hussin, N. H.; Yusoff, I.; Alias, Y.; Mohamad, S.; Rahim, N. Y.; Ashraf, M. A. Ionic liquid as a medium to remove iron and other metal ions: a case study of the North Kelantan Aquifer, Malaysia. *Environmental Earth Sciences* **2014**, *71*, 2105-2113.

Ishiguro, M.; Tan, W.; Koopal, L. K. Binding of cationic surfactants to humic substances. *Colloids Surf. Physicochem. Eng. Aspects* **2007**, *306*, 29-39.

Islam, M. M.; Okajima, T.; Kojima, S.; Ohsaka, T. Water electrolysis: an excellent approach for the removal of water from ionic liquids. *Chem Commun (Camb)* **2008**, 5330-5332.

Janiczek, P.; Kalb, R. S.; Thonhauser, G.; Gamse, T. Carbon dioxide absorption in a technicalscale-plant utilizing an imidazolium based ionic liquid. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *97*, 20-25.

Jaworska, M. M.; Gorak, A. Modification of chitin particles with chloride ionic liquids. *Mater. Lett.* **2016**, *164*, 341-343.

Jessop, P. G. Fundamental properties and practical applications of ionic liquids: concluding remarks. *Faraday Discuss.* **2018**, *206*, 587-601.

Jessop, P. G. Searching for green solvents. *Green Chem.* 2011, 13, 1391-1398.

Jobb, B.; Hunsinger, R.; Mersez, O.; Taguchi, V. Removal of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine from the Ohsweken (Six Nations) Water Supply Final Report. **1994**.

Johnson, D. J.; Suwaileh, W. A.; Mohammed, A. W.; Hilal, N. Osmotic's potential: An overview of draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2018**, *434*, 100-120.

Kemper, J. M.; Walse, S. S.; Mitch, W. A. Quaternary amines as nitrosamine precursors: a role for consumer products? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 1224-1231.

Ketkar, M. B.; Fuhst, R.; Preussmann, R.; Mohr, U. The carcinogenic effect of nitrosopiperidine administered in the drinking water of Syrian golden hamsters. *Cancer Lett.* **1983**, *21*, 219-224.

King, C. A.; Shamshina, J. L.; Zavgorodnya, O.; Cutfield, T.; Block, L. E.; Rogers, R. D. Porous chitin microbeads for more sustainable cosmetics. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 11660-11667.

Koch, T. John Snow, hero of cholera: RIP. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* **2008**, *178*, 1736-1736.

Kohno, Y.; Ohno, H. Ionic liquid/water mixtures: from hostility to conciliation. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 7119-7130.

Koopal, L. K.; Goloub, T. P.; Davis, T. A. Binding of ionic surfactants to purified humic acid. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2004**, *275*, 360-367.

Kosaka, K.; Asami, M.; Konno, Y.; Oya, M.; Kunikane, S. Identification of antiyellowing agents as precursors of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine production on ozonation from sewage treatment plant influent. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 5236-5241.

Krasner, S. W.; Mitch, W. A.; McCurry, D. L.; Hanigan, D.; Westerhoff, P. Formation, precursors, control, and occurrence of nitrosamines in drinking water: A review. *Water Res.* **2013**, *47*, 4433-4450.

Krul, C. A. M.; Zeilmaker, M. J.; Schothorst, R. C.; Havenaar, R. Intragastric formation and modulation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine in a dynamic in vitro gastrointestinal model under human physiological conditions. *Food and Chem. Toxicol.* **2004**, *42*, 51-63.

Kulacki, K. J.; Lambert, G. A. Toxicity of imidazolium ionic liquids to freshwater algae. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 104-110.

Kumar, S.; Cho, J. H.; Moon, I. Ionic liquid-amine blends and CO2BOLs: Prospective solvents for natural gas sweetening and CO2 capture technology—A review. *Int. J. Greenh. Gas Con.* **2014**, *20*, 87-116.

Larson, J. H.; Frost, P. C.; Lamberti, G. A. Variable toxicity of ionic liquid--forming chemicals to *Lemna minor* and the influence of dissolved organic matter. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2008**, *27*, 676-681.

Latała, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Nędzi, M.; Mrozik, W. Marine toxicity assessment of imidazolium ionic liquids: Acute effects on the baltic algae *Oocystis submarina* and *Cyclotella meneghiniana*. *Aquat. Toxicol.* **2005**, *73*, 91-98.

Le Roux, J.; Gallard, H.; Croué, J.; Papot, S.; Deborde, M. NDMA formation by chloramination of ranitidine: kinetics and mechanism. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 11095-11103.

Leavey-Roback, S. L.; Sugar, C. A.; Krasner, S. W.; Suffet, I. H. NDMA formation during drinking water treatment: A multivariate analysis of factors influencing formation. *Water Res.* **2016**, *95*, 300-309.

Lee, C.; Schmidt, C.; Yoon, J.; von Gunten, U. Oxidation of *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) Precursors with ozone and chlorine dioxide: kinetics and effect on NDMA formation potential. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 2056-2063.

Lévêque, J.–M.; Cravotto, G. Microwaves, Power Ultrasound, and Ionic Liquids. A New Synergy in Green Organic Synthesis. *Chimia* **2006**, *60*, 313-320.

Lewis, R. J. S., Ed.; In *Sax's Dangerous Properties of Industrial Materials. 11th Edition;* Wiley-Interscience, Wiley & Sons Inc.: Hoboken, NJ., 2004; , pp 3238.

Li, X.; Zhou, J.; Yu, M.; Wang, J.; Pei, Y. C. Toxic effects of 1-methyl-3-octylimidazolium bromide on the early embryonic development of the frog Rana nigromaculata. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2009**, *72*, 552-556.

Lijinsky, W.; Kovatch, R. M.; Riggs, C. W. Carcinogenesis by nitrosodialkylamines and Azoxyalkanes Given by Gavage to Rats and Hamsters. *Cancer Res.* **1987**, *47*, 3968-3972.

Lijinsky, W.; Reuber, M. D. Comparative carcinogenesis by some aliphatic nitrosamines in Fischer rats. *Cancer Lett.* **1981**, *14*, 297-302.

Liu, Q. X.; El Abedin, S. Z.; Endres, F. Electroplating of mild steel by aluminium in a first generation ionic liquid: A green alternative to commercial Al-plating in organic solvents. *Surface and Coatings Technology* **2006**, *201*, 1352-1356.

Liwarska-Bizukojc, E.; Maton, C.; Stevens, C. V. Biodegradation of imidazolium ionic liquids by activated sludge microorganisms. *Biodegradation* **2015**, *26*, 453-463.

Lv, G.; Li, Z.; Jiang, W.; Chang, P.; Liao, L. Interlayer configuration of ionic liquids in a Camontmorillonite as evidenced by FTIR, TG-DTG, and XRD analyses. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *162*, 417-424.

Lynam, J. G.; Chow, G. I.; Coronella, C. J.; Hiibel, S. R. Ionic liquid and water separation by membrane distillation. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *288*, 557-561.

Ma, B.; Hou, X.; He, C. Preparation of chitosan fibers using aqueous ionic liquid as the solvent. *Fiber Polym.* **2015**, *16*, 2704-2708.

Maase, M.; Massonne, K. Biphasic acid scavenging utilizing ionic liquids: the first commercial process with ionic liquids. In American Chemical Society: 2005; Vol. 902, pp 126-132.

Maase, M.; Massonne, K.; Vagt, U. BASIL[™]—BASF's processes based on ionic liquids. <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/technical-documents/articles/chemfiles/basil-basf-s-processes.html</u> (accessed February 9, 2016).

Mahto, A.; Mondal, D.; Polisetti, V.; Bhatt, J.; R, N. M.; Prasad, K.; Nataraj, S. K. Sustainable water reclamation from different feed streams by forward osmosis process using deep eutectic solvents as reusable draw solution. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *56*, 14623-14632.

Mai, N. L.; Ahn, K.; Koo, Y. Methods for recovery of ionic liquids—A review. *Process Biochem.* **2014**, *49*, 872-881.

Malefetse, T. J.; Mamba, B. B.; Krause, R. W.; Mahlambi, M. M. Cyclodextrin-ionic liquid polyurethanes for application in drinking water treatment. *Water SA* **2009**, *35*, 729-734.

Markiewicz, M.; Jungnickel, C.; Arp, H. P. H. Ionic liquid assisted dissolution of dissolved organic matter and PAHs from soil below the critical micelle concentration. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 6951-6958.

Markiewicz, M.; Jungnickel, C.; Cho, C.; Stolte, S. Mobility and biodegradability of an imidazolium based ionic liquid in soil and soil amended with waste sewage sludge. *Environ. Sci. Process Impacts* **2015**, *17*, 1462-1469.

Matzke, M.; Stolte, S.; Arning, J.; Uebers, U.; Filser, J. Imidazolium based ionic liquids in soils: effects of the side chain length on wheat (Triticum aestivum) and cress (Lepidium sativum) as affected by different clays and organic matter. *Green Chem.* **2008**, *10*, 584-591.

Matzke, M.; Thiele, K.; Müller, A.; Filser, J. Sorption and desorption of imidazolium based ionic liquids in different soil types. *Chemosphere* **2009**, *74*, 568-574.

McGregor, D. The genetic toxicology of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine. *Mutat. Res. -Rev. Genet.* **1994**, *317*, 195-211.

Mehrkesh, A.; Karunanithi, A. Life cycle perspectives on aquatic ecotoxicity of common ionic liquids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 6814-6821.

Michud, A.; Tanttu, M.; Asaadi, S.; Ma, Y.; Netti, E.; Kääriainen, P.; Persson, A.; Berntsson, A.; Hummel, M.; Sixta, H. Ioncell-F: ionic liquid-based cellulosic textile fibers as an alternative to viscose and Lyocell. *Text. Res. J.* **2016**, *86*, 543-552.

Mitch, W. A.; Oelker, G. L.; Hawley, E. L.; Deeb, R. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Minimization of NDMA formation during chlorine disinfection of municipal wastewater by application of preformed chloramines. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2005**, *22*, 882-890.

Mitch, W. A.; Sedlak, D. L. Formation of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from dimethylamine during chlorination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36*, 588-595.

Mitch, W. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Trussell, R. R.; Valentine, R. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Sedlak, D. L. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: a review. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2003**, *20*, 389-404.

Mohammed, M.; Babadagli, T. Bitumen recovery from carbonates by a modified sos-fr (steam-over-solvent injection in fractured reservoir) method using wettability alteration chemicals. *Energy Fuels* **2016**, *30*, 3849-3859.

Montalbo-Lomboy, M.; Grewell, D. Rapid dissolution of switchgrass in 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride by ultrasonication. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* **2015**, *22*, 588-599.

Mrozik, W.; Kotłowska, A.; Kamysz, W.; Stepnowski, P. Sorption of ionic liquids onto soils: Experimental and chemometric studies. *Chemosphere* **2012**, *88*, 1202-1207.

Munoz, M.; Domínguez, Zhara M. de Pedro; Quintanilla, A.; Casas, J. A. C.; Rodriguez, J. J. Ionic liquids breakdown by Fenton oxidation. *Catalysis today* **2015**, *240*, 16-21.

Nakari, O.; Pihlajamäki, A.; Mänttäri, M. Permeability of dilute ionic liquid solutions through a nanofiltration membrane – Effect of ionic liquid concentration, filtration pressure and temperature. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2016**, *163*, 267-274.

National Health and Medical Research Council, National Resource Management Ministerial Council: Australian drinking water guidelines. Canberra, Australia. *2009*.

Nawrocki, J.; Andrzejewski, P. Nitrosamines and water. J. Hazard. Mater. 2011, 189, 1-18.

Neves, C. M. S. S.; Freire, M. G.; Coutinho, J. A. P. Improved recovery of ionic liquids from contaminated aqueous streams using aluminium-based salts. *RSC Adv.* **2012**, *2*, 10882-10890.

NTP (National Toxicology Program) *report on carcinogens, 14th edition;* United States department of health and human services: Research Triangle Park, NC, USA, 2016.

O'Connor, D. R. *Report of the Walkerton Inquiry - Part 1;* Queen's Printer for Ontario: Toronto, Ontario, 2002; pp 506.

Oberemm, A.; Ahr, H. -.; Bannasch, P.; Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H.; Glückmann, M.; Hellmann, J.; Ittrich, C.; Kopp-Schneider, A.; Kramer, P. -.; Krause, E.; Kröger, M.; Kiss, E.; Richter-Reichhelm, H.; Scholz, G.; Seemann, K.; Weimer, M.; Gundert-Remy, U. Toxicogenomic analysis of *N*-nitrosomorpholine induced changes in rat liver: Comparison of genomic and proteomic responses and anchoring to histopathological parameters. *Toxicol. & Appl. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *241*, 230-245.

Padró, J. M.; Pellegrino Vidal, R. B.; Echevarria, R. N.; Califano, A. N.; Reta, M. R. Development of an ionic-liquid-based dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction method for the determination of antichagasic drugs in human breast milk: Optimization by central composite design. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2015**, *38*, 1591-1600.

Park, J.; Joo, H.; Noh, M.; Namkoong, Y.; Lee, S.; Jung, K. H.; Ahn, H. R.; Kim, S.; Lee, J.; Yoon, J. H.; Lee, Y. Systematic structure control of ammonium iodide salts as feasible UCST-type forward osmosis draw solutes for the treatment of wastewater. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2018**, *6*, 1255-1265.

Park, S. H.; Padhye, L. P.; Wang, P.; Cho, M.; Kim, J.; Huang, C. *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation potential of amine-based water treatment polymers: Effects of in situ chloramination, breakpoint chlorination, and pre-oxidation. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2015**, *282*, 133-140.

Park, S.; Wei, S.; Mizaikoff, B.; Taylor, A. E.; Favero, C.; Huang, C. Degradation of Amine-Based Water Treatment Polymers during Chloramination as *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) Precursors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1360-1366.

Park, S.; Wei, S.; Mizaikoff, B.; Taylor, A. E.; Favero, C.; Huang, C. Degradation of aminebased water treatment polymers during chloramination as *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1360-1366.

Pati, S. G.; Arnold, W. A. Photochemical transformation of four ionic liquid cation structures in aqueous solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 11780-11787.

Pérez, D. M.; Alatorre, G. G.; Álvarez, E. B.; Silva, E. E.; Alvarado, J. Solid-phase microextraction of *N*-nitrosodimethylamine in beer. *Food Chem.* **2008**, *107*, 1348-1352.

Peto, R.; Gray, R.; Brantom, P.; Grasso, P. Effects on 4080 rats of chronic ingestion of Nnitrosodiethylamine or *N*-nitrosodimethylamine - a detailed dose-response study. *Cancer Res.* **1991**, *51*, 6415-6451.

Pilli, S. R.; Banerjee, T.; Mohanty, K. 1-Butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate as a green solvent for the extraction of endosulfan from aqueous solution using supported liquid membrane. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *257*, 56-65.

Pino, V.; Yao, C.; Anderson, J. L. Micellization and interfacial behavior of imidazolium-based ionic liquids in organic solvent–water mixtures. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2009**, *333*, 548-556.

Pinto, L. F. R. Differences between isoamyl alcohol and ethanol on the metabolism and DNA ethylation of *N*-nitrosodiethylamine in the rat. *Toxicol.* **2000**, *151*, 73-79.

Plewa, M. J.; Simmons, J. E.; Richardson, S. D.; Wagner, E. D. Mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of the haloacetic acids, a major class of drinking water disinfection by-products. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **2010**, *51*, 871-878.

Qian, Y.; Wu, M.; Wang, W.; Chen, B.; Zheng, H.; Krasner, S. W.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Determination of 14 nitrosamines at nanogram per liter levels in drinking water. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 1330-1336.

Rabiee, H.; Jin, B.; Yun, S.; Dai, S. Gas-responsive cationic microgels for forward osmosis desalination. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *347*, 424-431.

Rezaee, M.; Assadi, Y.; Milani Hosseini, M.; Aghaee, E.; Ahmadi, F.; Berijani, S. Determination of organic compounds in water using dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2006**, *1116*, 1-9.

Richardson, S. D.; Kimura, S. Y. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *88(1)*, 546-582.

Richardson, S. D.; Ternes, T. A. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 398-428.

Righi, S.; Morfino, A.; Galletti, P.; Samorì, C.; Tugnoli, A.; Stramigioli, C. Comparative cradleto-gate life cycle assessments of cellulose dissolution with 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride and N-methyl-morpholine-N-oxide. *Green Chem.* **2011**, *13*, 367-375.

Rivenson, A.; Hoffmann, D.; Prokopczyk, B.; Amin, S.; Hecht, S. Induction of lung and exocrine pancreas tumors in F344 rats by tobacco-specific and *areca*-derived *N*-nitrosamines. *Cancer Res.* **1988**, *48*, 6912-6917.

Rogers, R. D.; Seddon, K. R., Eds.; In *Ionic Liquids: Industrial Applications for Green Chemistry;* American Chemical Society: USA, 2002; pp 488.

Rook, J. J. Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters. *Water Treat. and Examinat.* **1974**, *23*, 234-243.

Ropel, L.; Belvèze, L. S.; Aki, S. N. V. K.; Stadtherr, M. A.; Brennecke, J. F. Octanol–water partition coefficients of imidazolium-based ionic liquids. *Green Chem.* **2005**, *7*, 83-90.

Schreiber, I. M.; Mitch, W. A. Occurrence and Fate of Nitrosamines and Nitrosamine Precursors in Wastewater-Impacted Surface Waters Using Boron As a Conservative Tracer. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 3203-3210.

Sedlak, D. L. *Water 4.0;* Yale University Press: New Haven, Connecticut, United States of America, 2014; pp 332.

Shamshina, J. L.; Gurau, G.; Block, L. E.; Hansen, L. K.; Dingee, C.; Walters, A.; Rogers, R. D. Chitin-calcium alginate composite fibers for wound care dressings spun from ionic liquid solution. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2014**, *2*, 3924-3936.

Shen, R.; Andrews, S. A. NDMA formation kinetics from three pharmaceuticals in four water matrices. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 5687-5694.

Siedlecka, E. M.; Stolte, S.; Gołębiowski, M.; Nienstedt, A.; Stepnowski, P.; Thöming, J. Advanced oxidation process for the removal of ionic liquids from water: The influence of functionalized side chains on the electrochemical degradability of imidazolium cations. *Sep. and Purif. Technol.* **2012**, *101*, 26-33.

Sim, H.; Mun, J. *Handbook of ionic liquids : properties, applications, and hazards;* Nova Science Publishers, Inc: New York, 2012; .

Souliotis, V. L.; Chhabra, S.; Anderson, L. M.; Kyrtopoulos, S. A. Dosimetry of O6methylguanine in rat DNA after low-dose, chronic exposure to *N*-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). Implications for the mechanism of NDMA hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* **1995**, *16*, 2381-2387.

Stepnowski, P.; Mrozik, W.; Nichthauser, J. Adsorption of Alkylimidazolium and Alkylpyridinium Ionic Liquids onto Natural Soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 511-516.

Sui, H.; Zhang, J.; Yuan, Y.; He, L.; Bai, Y.; Li, X. Role of binary solvent and ionic liquid in bitumen recovery from oil sands. *Can. J. of Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *94*, 1191-1196.

Sun, X.; Fang, Y.; Jiang, X.; Yoshii, K.; Tsuda, T.; Dai, S. Polymer gel electrolytes for application in aluminum deposition and rechargeable aluminum ion batteries. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 292-295.

Swatloski, R. P.; Spear, S. K.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 4974-4975.

Thuy Pham, T. P.; Cho, C.; Yun, Y. Environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: A review. *Water Res.* **2010**, *44*, 352-372.

Trogolo, D.; Arey, J. S. Equilibria and speciation of chloramines, bromamines, and bromochloramines in water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 128-140.

Tsarpali, V.; Dailianis, S. Toxicity of two imidazolium ionic liquids, [BMIM][BF4] and [OMIM][BF4], to standard aquatic test organisms: role of acetone in the induced toxicity. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2015**, *117*, 62-71.

Tsuda, H.; Mera, Y.; Seki, K.; Toyohiko, A.; Fukushima, S.; Ito, N. Induction of tumors in the liver, urinary bladder, esophagus and forestomach by short-term treatment with different doses of *N*,*N*'-dibutylnitrosamine in rats. *Jap. J. Cancer Res.* **1987**, *78*, 227-234.

United Nations - General Assembly resolution 64/292. The human right to water and sanitation. <u>http://www.un.org/es/comun/docs/?symbol=A/RES/64/292&lang=E</u> (accessed January 17, 2017).

United States Environmental Protection Agency carbon dioxide capture and sequestration. <u>https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/ccs/</u> (accessed April 23, 2016).

United States Environmental Protection Agency integrated risk information system. *https://www.epa.gov/iris* (accessed April 17, 2016).

United States Environmental Protection Agency monitoring unregulated drinking water contaminants: second unregulated contaminant monitoring rule. <u>https://www.epa.gov/dwucmr/second-unregulated-contaminant-monitoring-rule</u> (accessed June 8, 2018).

United States Environmental Protection Agency technical fact sheet - *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA). <u>https://www.epa.gov/fedfac/technical-fact-sheet-n-nitroso-</u> <u>dimethylamine-ndma</u> (accessed April 5, 2016).

United States National Library of Medicine: Toxicology Data Network Integrated Risk Information System: *N*-nitrosodimethylamine. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search2/r?dbs+iris:@term+@D0CN0+0045</u> (accessed August 10, 2018).

United States National Library of medicine: toxicology data network hazardous substances databank (HSDB): *N*-nitrosodimethylamine. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search2/r?dbs+hsdb:@term+@DOCN0+1667</u> (accessed August 10, 2018).

University of California Berkeley *N*-Nitrosodimethylamine: The Carcinogenic Potency Project. <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cpdb/chempages/N-NITROSODIMETHYLAMINE.html</u> (accessed April 4, 2016).

USEPA (Lower Mississippi River Facility, Slidell, Louisiana) *New Orleans area water supply study;* United States Environmental Protection Agency: 1975; , pp 97.

USEPA Summary of the Safe Drinking Water Act. <u>https://www.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-safe-drinking-water-act</u> (accessed January 18, 2017).

Ventura, S.; Gonçalves, A.; Sintra, T.; Pereira, J.; Gonçalves, F.; Coutinho, J. Designing ionic liquids: the chemical structure role in the toxicity. *Ecotoxicology* **2013**, *22*, 1-12.

Verna, L.; Whysner, J.; Williams, G. M. *N*-nitrosodiethylamine mechanistic data and risk assessment: bioactivation, dna-adduct formation, mutagenicity, and tumor initiation. *Pharmacol. and Therapeut.* **1996**, *71*, 57-81.

Villanueva, C. M.; Cordier, S.; Font-Ribera, L.; Salas, L. A.; Levallois, P. Overview of disinfection by-products and associated health effects. *Current Environmental Health Reports* **2015**, *2*, 107-115.

Wagner, E. D.; Hsu, K.; Lagunas, A.; Mitch, W. A.; Plewa, M. J. Comparative genotoxicity of nitrosamine drinking water disinfection byproducts in Salmonella and mammalian cells. *Mutat. Res./Gen. Tox. En.* **2012**, *741*, 109-115.

Walden, P. Ueber die Molekulargrösse und elektrische Leitfähigkeit einiger geschmolzenensalze. *Bull. Acad. Imper. Sci.* **1914**, *8*, 405-422.

Wang, C.; Luo, H.; Li, H.; Dai, S. Direct UV-spectroscopic measurement of selected ionicliquid vapors. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 7246-7250.

Wang, W.; Ren, S.; Zhang, H.; Yu, J.; An, W.; Hu, J.; Yang, M. Occurrence of nine nitrosamines and secondary amines in source water and drinking water: Potential of secondary amines as nitrosamine precursors. *Water Res.* **2011**, *45*, 4930-4938.

Weng, J.; Wang, C.; Li, H.; Wang, Y. Novel quaternary ammonium ionic liquids and their use as dual solvent-catalysts in the hydrolytic reaction. *Green Chem.* **2006**, *8*, 96-99.

Wilkes, J. S.; Zaworotko, M. J. Air and water stable 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium based ionic liquids. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1992**, 965-967.

Williams, D. L. H. Chapter 2 - Nitrosation at nitrogen centres. In *Nitrosation Reactions and the Chemistry of Nitric Oxide*; Williams, D. L. H., Ed.; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, 2004; pp 35-56.

Woods, G. C.; Dickenson, E. R. V. Evaluation of the final UCMR2 database: nationwide trends in NDMA. *J. Am. Water Works Ass.* **2015**, *107*, E58-E68.

World Health Organization Water Sanitation Health: Burden of disease and costeffectiveness estimates. <u>http://www.who.int/water sanitation health/diseases/burden/en/</u> (accessed June 22, 2016).

Wu, B.; Zhang, Y. M.; Wang, H. P. Non-equilibrium thermodynamic analysis of transport properties in the nanofiltration of ionic liquid-water solutions. *Molecules* **2009**, *14*, 1781-1788.

Wu, D.; Lu, Y.; Lin, H.; Zhou, W.; Gu, W. Selective determination of tobacco-specific nitrosamines in mainstream cigarette smoke by GC coupled to positive chemical ionization triple quadrupole MS. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2013**, *36*, 2615-2620.

Wu, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Irie, S.; Sakurai, K. A novel biomass-ionic liquid platform for the utilization of native chitin. *Polymer* **2008**, *49*, 2321-2327.

Yang, K.; Le Jeune, J.; Alsdorf, D.; Lu, B.; Shum, C. K.; Liang, S. Global distribution of outbreaks of water-associated infectious diseases. *PLOS Neglect. Trop. D.* **2012**, *6*, 1-9.

Yang, X.; Qiao, C.; Li, Y.; Li, T. Dissolution and resourcfulization of biopolymers in ionic liquids. *React. Funct. Polym.* **2016**, *100*, 181-190.

Ye, Y.; Elabd, Y. A. Relative chemical stability of imidazolium-based alkaline anion exchange polymerized ionic liquids. *Macromolecules* **2011**, *44*, 8494-8503.

Young, J. A.; Zhang, C.; Devasurendra, A. M.; Tillekeratne, L. M. V.; Anderson, J. L.; Kirchhoff, J. R. Conductive polymeric ionic liquids for electroanalysis and solid-phase microextraction. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2016**, *910*, 45-52.

Zeng, T.; Li, R. J.; Mitch, W. A. Structural modifications to quaternary ammonium polymer coagulants to inhibit *N*-nitrosamine formation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 4778-4787.

Zeng, T.; Mitch, W. A. Impact of nitrification on the formation of *N*-nitrosamines and halogenated disinfection byproducts within distribution system storage facilities. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 2964-2973.

Zeng, T.; Plewa, M. J.; Mitch, W. A. *N*-nitrosamines and halogenated disinfection byproducts in U.S. full advanced treatment trains for potable reuse. *Water Res.* **2016**, *101*, 176-186.

Zeweldi, H. G.; Limjuco, L. A.; Bendoy, A. P.; Kim, H.; Park, M. J.; Shon, H. K.; Johnson, E. M.; Lee, H.; Chung, W.; Nisola, G. M. The potential of monocationic imidazolium-, phosphonium-, and ammonium-based hydrophilic ionic liquids as draw solutes for forward osmosis. *Desal.* **2018**, *444*, 94-106.

Zhang, Y.; Bakshi, B. R.; Demessie, E. S. Life cycle assessment of an ionic liquid versus molecular solvents and their applications. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 1724-2730.

Zhang, Z.; Liu, J.; Cai, X.; Jiang, W.; Luo, W.; Jiang, G. Sorption to dissolved humic acid and its impacts on the toxicity of imidazolium based ionic liquids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 1688-1694.

Zhao, H.; Baker, G.; Song, Z.; Olubajo, O.; Zanders, L.; Campbell, S. M. Effect of ionic liquid properties on lipase stabilization under microwave irradiation. *J. Mol. Catal. B-Enzym.* **2009**, *57*, 149-157.

Zhao, Y.; Boyd, J. M.; Woodbeck, M.; Andrews, R. C.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Formation of *N*-nitrosamines from eleven disinfection treatments of seven different surface waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 4857-4862.

Zhao, Y.; Boyd, J.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 7636-7641.

Zhong, Y.; Feng, X.; Wang, X.; Huang, K.; Gnanou, Y.; Lai, Z. Using UCST ionic liquid as a draw solute in forward osmosis to treat high-salinity water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 1039-1045.

Zhou, W.; Boyd, J. M.; Qin, F.; Hrudey, S. E.; Li, X. Formation of *N*-nitrosodiphenylamine and two new n-containing disinfection byproducts from chloramination of water containing diphenylamine. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 8443-8448.

Zhu, S.; Wu, Y.; Chen, Q.; Yu, Z.; Wang, C.; Jin, S.; Ding, Y.; Wu, G. Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids and its application: a mini-review. *Green Chem.* **2006**, *8*, 325-327.